
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 4 July 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 
 

Tuesday, 12 July 2022 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's 

Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 
Cabinet 
Members: 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for Waste Services and Climate Change 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 

 
 

Agenda 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the  

SKDC YouTube Channel 

 
1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  

   
2.   Minutes of the previous meeting 

Minutes of the meeting held on 21 June 2022. 
(Pages 3 - 6) 

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests  

   
 Items for recommendation to Council 

 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

 

4.   UK Shared Prosperity Fund (Pages 7 - 28) 
   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 

 
5.   Housing Allocations Policy (Pages 29 - 112) 

   
6.   Turnpike Close Site Remediation works (Pages 113 - 119) 

   
7.   Policy for the Provision of Litter Bins (Pages 121 - 136) 

   
8.   Grantham High Street Heritage Action Zone Scheme (Pages 137 - 148) 

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Non-Key 

 
9.   Outturn Position Report 2021/22 (Pages 149 - 191) 

   
 Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 
10.   The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (vehicle age at 

first licence) 
(Pages 193 - 204) 

   
11.   Grounds Maintenance Options Appraisal (Pages 205 - 216) 

   
 Items for information 

 
12.   Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers (Pages 217 - 236) 

   
13.   Cabinet's Forward Plan (Pages 237 - 242) 

   



 

 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 21 June 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member, Waste Services and Climate Change 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 
 
Officers 
  

 

Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer) 
Richard Wyles (Chief Finance Officer) 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Anne-Marie Coulthard (Assistant Director of Operations and Public Protection) 
Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer) 
Jordan Brooks (IT Helpdesk Engineer) 
Chris Prime (Interim Communications Manager) 
 
10. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Annie Mason and Rosemary 
Trollope-Bellew. 
 
11. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 31 May 2022 were confirmed as a 
correct record, subject to the amendment of a typographical error in the list of officers 
in attendance. 
 
12. Disclosure of Interests 
 
No interests were declared. 
 
 
 

3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

13. Review of the Street Trading Policy 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To provide Cabinet with an opportunity to consider the final version of the Street 
Trading Policy following a six-week public consultation. 
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

(1)  Notes the results of the public consultation. 
 

(2)  Approves the South Kesteven District Council Street Trading Policy with 
effect from 1 September 2022, as set out in Appendix 3 to the report. 

 
(3)  Authorises delegation to the Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with 

the Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing, to make 
minor amendments to the Policy, such as legislative updates, which may 
become necessary from time to time to ensure its continued accuracy, but 
do not affect its direction or intent. 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Alternative options considered were noted as follows: 
 

• To proceed with the Council’s existing Street Trading Policy that was approved 
in 2012 without amendment 

• To proceed with the draft Street Trading Policy as issued for consultation, with 
the Policy taking effect from 1 September 2022 

 
Reason for decision 
 
The current Street Trading Policy outlined how the Council would undertake its 
decision-making functions when dealing with applications for Street Trading 
Consents. This had been reviewed and a revised draft Policy was proposed which 
sought to ensure a more robust application process, incorporating changes to 
legislation.   
 
Significant proposed changes were summarised in paragraph 1.6 of the report and 
were presented to meetings of the Licensing Committee and Environmental 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 12 November 2021 and 30 November 2021, 
respectively, where it was agreed that the draft Policy was suitable for public 
consultation. 
 
The public consultation included direct contact with the existing street traders in the 
district and other relevant stakeholders such as Parish and Town Councils, 
Lincolnshire Police and Lincolnshire County Council. A report outlining the results of 
the consultation had been produced, which outlined overall support for the proposed 
changes although it was noted that the response rate was low. 

4



 

 

Taking into account the results of the consultation, it was proposed to proceed with 
an updated Street Trading Policy to include clarification on the definition of a street 
food and food hygiene minimum requirement of a 3 rating for all relevant traders, to 
take effect from 1 September 2022. 
 
14. Street Collection and House to House Collection Policy 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To provide Cabinet with an opportunity to consider the final version of the Street 
Collection and House to House Collection Policy following a six-week public 
consultation. 
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

(1)  Notes the results of the public consultation. 
 

(2)  Approves the South Kesteven District Council Street Collection and House 
to House Collection Policy, with effect from 1 August 2022. 

 
(3)  Authorises delegation to the Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with 

the Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing, to make 
minor amendments to the Policy, such as legislative updates, which may 
become necessary from time to time to ensure its continued accuracy, but 
do not affect its direction or intent. 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
An alternative option was to continue with the current process of applying the 
legislation when issuing necessary permits, but not to introduce a Street Collection 
and House to House Collection Policy. 
 
Reason for decision 
 
Street Collection Permits and House to House Permits were currently issued in line 
with legislation but the Council did not have a policy in place to provide a framework 
to support this. It was considered that adopting a policy would enable consistent 
decision-making and transparency. 
 
The proposed Policy, set out at Appendix 1 of the report, was considered at meetings 
of the Licensing Committee and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
12 November 2021 and 30 November 2021, respectively.  
 
A six-week consultation was undertaken which focussed on both elements of the 
proposed policy in respect of street collections and house to house collections. Direct 
contact was made with street and house to house collectors or promoters, together 
with other stakeholders such as Parish and Town Councils, Lincolnshire Police and 

5



 

 

Lincolnshire County Council. A report outlining the results of the consultation was set 
out at Appendix 2 of the report. 
 
15. Cabinet's Forward Plan 
 
Cabinet considered its Forward Plan, further to which it was noted that items on the 
Corporate Asset Management Strategy and Financial Outturn 2021/22 would be 
included on the agenda for the next meeting of Cabinet scheduled to be held on 12 
July 2022. 
 
The Forward Plan was noted. 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 14:13. 
 
Decision implementation date, subject to no call-in being received: 6 July 2022 

6



 

 

 

Cabinet 
12 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund  

The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is a significant opportunity to secure substantial 
investment for the District. The purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet the proposed 
interventions for inclusion in the Investment Plan (for submission to Government) which details 
projects that meet the requirements of the funding programme and support the growth and 
prosperity of the district.  

 

Report Author 

Jon Hinde, Head of Economic Development 

 
 01476 506080 

   jon.hinde@investsk.co.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 28 June 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive 29 June 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council 4 July 2022 

 

Recommendation to the decision makers 

That Cabinet:  

1. Recommends to Council the proposed interventions (found at Appendix A – UKSPF 
Selection Sheet) form the basis of the South Kesteven UKSPF Investment Plan, with 
the intention this is submitted to Government by 1 August 2022 for consideration.   

2. Give delegated authority to the Chief Executive, Section 151 Officer in consultation 
with the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council and the appropriate Director, to 
allocate funding between the approved interventions within the Investment Plan. 

7

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Corporate Plan (2020-2023) sets out the vision to be the best district in which to live, 

work and visit. A £3,898,582 allocation from the Government’s United Kingdom Shared 

Prosperity Fund (UKSPF), provides the opportunity to accelerate plans and build on existing 

priorities to support: growth and our economy, health and strong communities and a clean 

and sustainable environment. 

1.2 The UKSPF has been designed to succeed and improve upon funding which South 
Kesteven District Council and its partners originally received from the European Union (EU) 
structural funds. The UKSPF improves on these funds by focusing on UK priorities rather 
than policies dictated by the EU and providing local areas a greater say in investments by 
giving more direct accountability to elected local leaders.   

1.3 The primary goal of the UKSPF is to build pride in place and increase life chances across 
the UK. Underneath this overarching aim are three investment priorities: communities and 
place; supporting local business; and people and skills. The prospectus highlights how these 
investment themes are expected to help to realise seven of the twelve missions set out in 
the Levelling Up White Paper. These range from improving life expectancy to increasing 
pay, employment and productivity. 

1.4 The funding is allocated annually and must be invested by March 2025. Most of the funding 

will be available in the final year of the programme, as EU structural funds in the community 

come to an end. It is mainly a revenue-based fund, with a limited allocation for capital 

projects. Some of this allocation may be used for programmes which deliver across more 

than one local authority area, or by the Council for direct delivery of programmes.  

1.5 To secure the 30-month funding allocation, an Investment Plan must be submitted by the 

Council to Government by 1 August 2022.   

1.6 The UKSPF Prospectus and supporting documents (including the Investment Plan drafting 

template) are available online (see background papers).  

1.7 In developing the Investment Plan, the Council is working in partnership with councillors, 

Members of Parliament (MPs) and local stakeholders including businesses and residents.  

Resources 

1.8 £20,000 is being made available to undertake initial preparatory work for the Fund, including 

developing the local Investment Plan for submission in the summer. This funding is in 

addition to the allocation and will be paid on sign-off by Government of the Investment Plan. 

Equally, we may use a smaller amount, with the balance being used to support Fund 

interventions. All interventions should end by March 2025.  

1.9 The Council is able to use up to 4% (i.e. £155,943.28) of the allocation by default to 

undertake necessary fund administration, such as project assessment, contracting, 

monitoring and evaluation and ongoing stakeholder engagement. 

1.10 Therefore, an approved exemption request form has been used to secure the support in 

preparing the Investment Plan, utilising the £20,000 Government has set aside. The 

individual selected is writing UKSPF proposals for two Leicestershire authorities.  

1.11 It is expected the Investment Plan writer will transition to be the Council’s UKSPF 

Programme Manager with responsibility for the overall integrity and coherence of the 

8



 

 
 

programme. This fixed-term post will be funded from the 4% Fund administration pot and 

report to the Council’s Economic Development Manager. An element of job shadowing is 

proposed for the Council’s less-experienced project colleagues, to ensure there is corporate 

learning from this process.  

What interventions can be funded 

1.12 To access the allocation, the Council has been asked to develop a UKSPF Investment Plan 

that addresses three questions (see background papers – Interventions, Objectives, 

Outcomes and Outputs):  

• Local context: an opportunity to set out local evidence of opportunities and challenges 

through the lens of the three investment priorities for UKSPF.  

• Selection of outcomes and interventions: to identify the outcomes to target based on 

local context, and the interventions to prioritise, under each investment priority, from the 

menu of options. These should be clearly linked to local opportunities and challenges.  

• Delivery: this will represent the most detailed stage of the investment plan. 

1.13 Guidance on the interventions list can be accessed online (see background papers - 

UKSPF Interventions List)   

1.14 Illustrated in the table below, are the three investment priorities, summary of objectives and 

example interventions:  

Investment 
Priority  

Summary of objectives  Example interventions  

Community and 
Place  

• Strengthening social fabric 
and fostering a sense of 
local pride and belonging 

• To build resilient and safe 
neighbourhoods  

 

• Visual improvement to town 
centres and high streets  

• Cultural and visitor economy 
interventions 

• Litter, waste and graffiti reduction  

• Projects to fight antisocial 
behaviour  

• Projects to fight antisocial 
behaviour  

• Community projects  

Supporting local 
business  

• Creating jobs and boosting 
community cohesion by 
supporting local 
businesses 

• Promoting networking and 
collaboration and 
stimulating innovation and 
growth  

• Targeted support to help 
businesses grow e.g. 
innovation, productivity, 
energy efficiency, low 
carbon and exporting  

• Support to increase town centre 
footfall (e.g. outdoor markets)  

• Development of cultural, visitor 
and heritage assets  

• Targeted business growth and 
innovation support  

 

9



 

 
 

 

1.15 To allow flexibility, it is permissible to select ‘bespoke’ interventions that do not feature in 

the menu of options. This will require the Council to provide evidence to support the bespoke 

intervention, including a logic chain or theory of change and demonstrate alignment with 

UKSPF investment priorities.  

1.16 The fund can be used flexibly to support interventions via:  

• grant to public or private organisations  

• commissioning third party organisations  

• procurement of service provision  

• in-house provision  

 

1.17 Match funding is not required to unlock our allocation. This provides flexibility, reduces 

bureaucracy and empowers the Council to tailor the approach to local circumstances. The 

sourcing of matching funding or leverage will therefore not be a factor in the assessment of 

the Council’s Investment Plan. Although there is strong encouragement to consider match 

funding from the private, public and third sectors, along with leverage options, when 

selecting communities and place and supporting local business interventions to fund. This 

will maximise the value for money and impact of the fund.  

Payment 

1.18 The Council will be paid annually in advance. In 2022-23, funding will be paid once the 

Investment Plan has been signed off. In 2023-24 and 2024-25, payment will be made at the 

start of the financial year. The Council will receive a grant determination letter and 

Memorandum of Understanding setting out fund requirements and obligations. The Council 

will be asked to return any underspends at the end of each financial year.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 In formulating the Investment Plan, Government have mandated that consultation takes 

place. As the hard stop Investment Plan submission deadline is set for 1 August 2022, 

having consulted with Democratic Services, it has been agreed there is insufficient time to 

undertake separate or joint scrutiny committees. Taking learnings from the recent Welcome 

Back Fund process (see background papers – Lesson learned from the Welcome Back 

Fund), all Members are being afforded the opportunity to explore ideas for inclusion in the 

Investment Plan to optimise the allocation, based on local needs.  

People and skills  • Boosting core skills and 
support adults to progress 
in work 

• Supporting disadvantaged 
people to access the skills 
they need  

• Funding local skills needs 
and supplementing local 
adult skills provision  

• Reducing levels of 
economic inactivity and 
supporting those furthest 
from the labour market  

• Technical and vocational 
qualifications in areas of local 
skills shortage  

• Intensive, wraparound one-to-one 
support to address barriers to 
employment 

• Life skills, basic skills and 
specialist support including 
achieving basic qualifications in 
alternative settings  

• Work experience, supported 
employment, enrichment activities, 
counselling and advice, and 
community referrals  

10



 

 
 

2.2 To kick start this process, an internal officer group met to come up with a series of suggested 

local interventions and activities. On 18 May 2022, Cabinet took the work of the internal 

officer group and mapped out the UKSPF interventions against the Council’s Corporate Plan 

to decide which meaningful local activities, based on need, should be considered for 

inclusion in the Investment Plan. 

2.3 This resulted in over 40 suggested interventions and activities relating to both the 

communities and place, and support local businesses priorities (see Appendix A – UKSPF 

Selection Sheet).  

2.4 On 8 June 2022, several of the districts business support practitioners and representatives 

were consulted on the proposed local businesses priority. Unanimous support for the 

suggested proposals was received. Whilst no additional requests were made at the session, 

the group were encouraged to submit any further ideas. To date, Business Lincolnshire 

Growth Hub have requested £201,941.81 (i.e. 5.2% of the Council’s UKSPF allocation) to 

achieve economy of scale and buy-in to an existing business support provision to provide a 

solution for business support post EU funding for two years, commencing 1 April 2023 (see 

Appendix B – UKSPF Growth Hub Business Support Framework Model 2).  

2.5 Further Member engagement has taken place throughout June 2022, including four locality-

based virtual sessions (Bourne, Grantham, Stamford and The Deepings) on 4 and 7 July 

with local ward councillors and representatives from the respective town council and Charter 

Trustees.  

2.6 Engagement has taken place with the voluntary and community sector umbrella groups who 

have been provided with an overview of the UKSPF, an overview of the proposed local 

intervention headers and an ask if they would like to partner or put forward suggestions to 

add to the Investment Plan. Further consultation with community groups is planned by the 

Councils’ Community Engagement Manager on the UKSPF Selection Sheet in the coming 

weeks.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 An alternative option would be to commission an eternal provider to develop the bids on 

behalf of the Council with no local knowledge or partnership links. This option was 

discounted because Government have placed importance on leveraging options from the 

locality when selecting communities and place and supporting local business interventions 

to fund.   

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The Council, with support from stakeholders, businesses and the community, has 

developed its preferred approach to the development of local investment priorities in the 

form of the UKSPF Selection Sheet and therefore no alternative approach is available.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation  

5.1 To ensure that the Council is properly prepared for the introduction of the UK Shared 

Prosperity Fund and can access the associated funds. 

5.2 The proposed interventions and activities for inclusion in the Investment Plan aligns with 

priorities outlined in other Council strategies, for example the Sports and Physical Activity 

Strategy and Carbon Reduction Action Plan. It is also informed by, and aligned with, 

11



 

 
 

emerging UK Government policy and associated funding opportunities, particularly 

associated with the Levelling Up White Paper. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Subject to Cabinet approval, the next steps are for the Chief Executive, Section 151 Officer 

in consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council and the appropriate 

Director, to allocate funding between the approved interventions within the Investment Plan.  

6.2 For Council, at its 25 July 2022 meeting, to receive the proposed interventions for the South 

Kesteven UKSPF Investment Plan, with the intention this is submitted for consideration to 

Government by 1 August 2022.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The provisional allocation made to South Kesteven District Council is comprised of 

£3,305,997.54 revenue and £592,584.46 totalling £3,898,582.00. The spend profile is 

limited to the financial years 2022/23 – 2024/25 but is there is discretion of how the funding 

is allocated over each financial year. The spend for each of the financial years is limited to 

2022/23: 90% revenue and 10% capital, 2023/24: 87% revenue and 13% capital and for 

2024/25: 80% revenue and 20% capital. The Council can decide how to spread the 

allocation over the three financial years but must maintain the prescribed revenue and 

capital split to ensure the criteria is met.  Failure to do so will result in funding being put at 

risk. Appendix A has not yet been costed and so it is not possible to confirm that the 

proposed ‘suggested responses’ match the funding. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 It is a requirement of the UKSPF that the council agrees and submits an Investment Plan in 

order to draw down the funding. In accordance with the Constitution approval to receive the 

funds and to submit the plan agreement from full council is required following 

recommendation from Cabinet. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 The Government has highlighted boosting productivity and ‘tackling inequalities’ as two key 

objectives of the UKSPF. The UKSPF provides the Council the opportunity to embed 

equality and tackle discrimination. Once the Investment Plan has been endorsed by 

Government, where local activities meeting the interventions result in an identified need to 

tackle equalities, an Equality Impact Assessment will be produced prior to the delivery 

phase. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 There are several key risks relating to the Investment Plan preparation process, particularly 

around the timing that has been set by the UK Government. The timescales given are very 

short and whilst there is an expectation of future rounds of funding, there is still an 

expectation that the initial funds must be spent by the same deadlines.  

 

 

12



 

 
 

10.2 Key risks include: 

Risk Mitigation 

Strategic – The UKSPF Investment Plan 
misaligned or contradictory to the Council’s 
economic and investment ambitions 

The UKSPF Investment Plan is 
purposefully based upon the Council’s 
Corporate Plan.  This structure has been 
shared and discussed with elected 
members who are supportive of the 
approach.  Continued engagement is 
taking place with communities and 
stakeholders.  

Financial - not able to fund all the 
Council’s investment aspirations through 
the UKSPF 

The Investment Plan proposes a flexible 
approach to bringing forward priority 
investment projects that will allow the 
programme to be rationalised or adapted 
as necessary. The Plan will also be used 
as the investment rationale for future bids 
to other funds outside of the UKSPF 
process.  

 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Strategically, the anticipated indirect benefits of the investment ask to Government will be 

to support the Council and its partners to deliver investment in the district to lead to positive 

outcomes for South Kesteven residents and businesses. 

11.2 One of the key benefits of the UKSPF is to support the whole of the district, and particularly 

the most rural and deprived areas. Through the consultation period, every effort will be made 

to capture issues and ensure a fair proportion of funding. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 All projects and interventions bids will be fully assessed for their contribution to the 

Council’s stated targets in respect of the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

The national ‘Multiply’ programme 

13.1 Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) has been allocated £4,021,671 for the Multiply Adult 

Numeracy Programme to spend between 2022/2023 and 2024/2025. This will create free 

numeracy courses that complement existing activities funded by Adult Education, course 

provision and delivery will be innovative and will target unreached groups through enhanced 

forms of community engagement and responsive to business needs. In effect, meaningful 

participation to achieve formal qualifications and to allow more people to enter the workplace 

or to progress within it.  

13.2 Officers from the Council’s Economic Development Team are inputting into LCC’s Multiply 

Investment Plans, sharing what has worked and addressing any gaps in our area. This will 

further strengthen other provisions within our UKSPF Investment Plan.  

 

13



 

 
 

Additional guidance 

13.3 UKSPF frequently asked questions are provided in the background section on this report.  

DLUHC (Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities) will set out the reporting 

requirements and related asks as part of the additional guidance which will be published in 

July 2022.  At the time of writing, this information was not available to append to this report. 

The additional guidance will not contain information that should in anyway delay the 

development of investment plans and will be there to provide clarification only. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 UK Shared Prosperity Fund: Prospectus, published 13 April 2022, available online at:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-

shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus 

 

14.2 UKSPF Interventions, Objectives, Outcome and Outputs – England, Version 1, published 

April 2022, available online at:  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_

data/file/1068875/UKSPF_England_Outputs_and_Outcomes.pdf 

 

14.3 UKSPF Interventions List (England), published 13 April 2022, available online at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-interventions-

outputs-and-indicators/interventions-list-for-england 

  

14.4 UKSPF allocations, updated 15 June 2022, available online at:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/ukspf-

allocations 

 

14.5 Delivery geographies, updated 15 June 2022, available online at:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-

prospectus/delivery-geographies 

 

14.6 UK Shared Prosperity Fund: frequently asked questions, updated 15 June 2022, available 

online at:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-

shared-prosperity-fund-frequently-asked-questions 

 

14.7 UK Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan Drafting template, Version 2, published May 

2022, available online at:  

UKSPF_Investment_Plan_drafting_template.docx (live.com) 

 

14.8 Lessons learned from the Welcome Back Fund, report to Culture and Visitor Economy 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, report published 14 June 2022, available online at:  

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34708/Welcome%20Back%20Fund%

20Report.pdf 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A – UKSPF Selection Sheet 

15.2 Appendix B – UKSPF Growth Hub Business Support Framework Model 2 

14

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1068875/UKSPF_England_Outputs_and_Outcomes.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1068875/UKSPF_England_Outputs_and_Outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-interventions-outputs-and-indicators/interventions-list-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-interventions-outputs-and-indicators/interventions-list-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/ukspf-allocations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/ukspf-allocations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/delivery-geographies
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/delivery-geographies
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-frequently-asked-questions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-frequently-asked-questions
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F1075080%2FUKSPF_Investment_Plan_drafting_template.docx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34708/Welcome%20Back%20Fund%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34708/Welcome%20Back%20Fund%20Report.pdf


UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) – Draft 
selection sheet – for illustrative purposes 
only 

 

 

 

  

 

1. Communities and place 
 

Objectives: 
• Strengthening our social fabric and fostering a sense of local pride and 

belonging, through investment in activities that enhance physical, cultural 
and social ties and amenities, such as community infrastructure and local green space, and 
community-led projects. 

Building resilient, safe and healthy neighbourhoods, through investment in quality places 
that people want to live, work, play and learn in, through targeted improvements to the built 
environment and innovative approaches to crime prevention. 

Government interventions Suggested local response  or  

E1 Funding for improvements to 
town centres and high streets, 
including better accessibility for 
disabled people, including capital 
spend and running costs.  

1. Raising general awareness – information, 
adverts, workshops and exhibitions in public 
spaces to change perceptions and make towns 
more disability-friendly and inclusive 

 

2. Work with relevant groups to identify areas of 
improvement and highlight accessible areas 
already within our towns 

 

3. Fitting ramps to places that have step access  

4. Well-placed seating areas or benches  

E2 Funding for new, or 
improvements to existing, 
community and neighbourhood 
infrastructure projects including 
those that increase communities’ 
resilience to natural hazards, 
such as flooding. This could 
cover capital spend and running 
costs. 

 

5. Install mobile cameras which can be easily 
moved to hotspot areas of anti-social behaviour 
and crime 

 

6. Have all council alarm and monitoring systems 
integrated and controlled from a central location 
to help keep people safe and reduce costs. Use 
could include supporting traffic management by 
providing real-time updates on traffic congestion 
via social media; increase public safety at major 
public events, from festivals to football matches; 
support tourism by beaming the images of 
famous landmarks 

 

7. Implement a capacity-building project in 
collaboration with County Emergency Planning 
colleagues to up-skill the third sector in the 
development and implementation of parish-level 
emergency plans 

 

15

Appendix A



Version 5.0 30/06/2022 

 

Page 2 of 8 
 

E3 Creation of and improvements to 
local green spaces, community 
gardens, watercourses and 
embankments, along with 
incorporating natural features 
into wider public spaces. 

 

 

8. Linked to the imminent Tree Strategy, increase 
tree canopy and green cover (work in partnership 
with the Woodland Trust) 

 

9. Greening of streets, buildings and other public 
spaces.  Roofs and walls covered in plants, street 
trees and small pocket parks in between buildings  

 

10. Allocate space for informal cultural activities, 
making links with the provision of recreation 
space and green infrastructure to identify 
opportunities to provide multi-functional spaces. 

 

11. Develop, in collaboration with community 
partners, a network of Men’s Sheds 
(https://menssheds.org.uk/) as social spaces to 
up-skill residents, provide support to local 
communities at a practical level, social 
prescribing and engender social interaction to 
improve mental health and wellbeing. 

 

12. Partner with local civic societies on long-term 
actions to improve waterways by using soft-
engineering techniques to create in-channel 
improvements that will maintain flows, keeping 
channels clear and less likely to flood. 

 

13. Work with local mental health charities, 
community woodland, waterways, gardens, and 
orchard groups to develop projects to promote 
good mental health and wellbeing through 
environmental and nature-based activity.   

 

E4 Enhanced support for existing 
cultural, historic and heritage 
institutions that make up the 
local cultural heritage offer 

14. Small Creative Grants Programme (Capital) to 
provide support and investment to small and 
emergent events and festivals throughout district 
to include commemorative events with specific 
links and relevance to the community. 

 

15. Improvements to, and refurbishments of, ancient 
market crosses, war memorials and other historic 
monuments across the network of 86 villages and 
61 parishes of the district to ensure sustainability 
of the district’s history.   

 

E5 Design and management of the 
built and landscaped 
environment to ‘design out 
crime’. 

16. Engage women, girls, and other marginalised 
groups in a ‘safety audit’ to learn which areas of 
the community need improving in terms of 
lighting, sightlines, accessibility and other safety 
issues. Link to the Lincolnshire Concordat 
Lincolnshire concordat (lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk). 

 

17. Delivery of interventions/improvements to public 
venues, parks and opens spaces to ensure the 

 

16

https://menssheds.org.uk/
https://lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/lincolnshire-womens-strategy/lincolnshire-concordat/


Version 5.0 30/06/2022 

 

Page 3 of 8 
 

safety of residents, audiences, and visitors 
against all forms of crime. 

E6 Support for local arts, cultural, 
heritage and creative activities. 

18. A programme (through all the senses) of 
temporary and permanent public art commissions 
that invite residents and artists to smile, explore, 
unite, and create. Public art around communities 
and town centres – such as a competition to 
enables villages (mosaic in the park). 

 

19. Development of a series of ‘word walk’ public art 
installations across the district working with local 
schools and groups to create in-laid tiles to 
walkways featuring the words of local people to 
tell the local story. 

 

20. Creation, in collaboration with a number of visual 
artists, of a series of practical art installations 
depicting the history of the District. 

 

E8 Funding for the development and 
promotion of wider campaigns 
which encourage people to visit 
and explore the local area. 

21. Enhance the HelloSK town app (developed as 
part of the Welcome Back Fund) and increase 
functionality, such as additional plug-in services.      

 

E10 Funding for local sports facilities, 
tournaments, teams and 
leagues; to bring people 
together. 

 

 

22. Programme of interventions to contribute towards 
improved access and inclusion at sports facilities 
with a particular focus on women and girls and 
people with a disability – Community support 
grant scheme. 

 

23. Modernisation of facilities across the district, 
including urban sports. 

 

24. Contribute to improved environmental 
sustainability of sports facilities across the district. 

 

25. Partner with Inspire+ on a programme of taster 
sessions for young people to get active in sport. 
Link with local clubs to promote the activities 
provided to enable to progression from taster to 
regular participation in sport and physical activity 
leading to better physical and mental wellbeing 
amongst young people. 

 

E11 Investment in capacity building 
and infrastructure support for 
local civil society and community 
groups. 

26. Devise capacity building grant schemes, such as:  

• a ‘get started’ fund to support the creation of 
community and voluntary organisations which 
facilitates community self-help, create resilient 
communities and reduce demand on council 
services.  

• To support the development of groups and 
projects which offer preventive, community-based 
services (such as avoiding food waste). This fund 
would aim to help communities to build capacity, 

 

17



Version 5.0 30/06/2022 

 

Page 4 of 8 
 

to enable and encourage self-help resulting in a 
reduction in reliance on the council and other 
public services. 

 

Note – West Lindsey Council offering to co-create a 
capacity fund initiative with us 

27. Develop, in areas of higher deprivation, a network 
of Peer Connectors.  Residents employed to work 
in their own neighbourhoods to deliver community 
projects and to be the conduit between 
community, the Council and other public sector 
organisations working to improve the local area. 

 

E13 Community measures to reduce 
the cost of living, including 
through measures to improve 
energy efficiency, and combat 
fuel poverty and climate change. 

28. Establish a climate action challenge fund 
(covering land use and green infrastructure; 
energy; built environment; transport; waste and 
community engagement. 

 

29. Employ an advisor to work in the community to 
advise on energy efficiency in resident’s homes, 
community and faith venues to help tackle the 
increasing impacts on cost of living relating to fuel 
and energy bills. 

 

E14 Funding to support relevant 
feasibility studies. 

 

30. Linked to proposal E2 - Feasibility study on 
installing mobile cameras which can be easily 
moved to hotspot areas of anti-social behaviour 
and crime. 

31. Linked to Proposal E3 – Commission report on 
living roofs and walls. 

 

32. Linked to Proposal E5 – Commission an 
assessment of public venues, parks and open 
spaces where large-scale events take place to 
determine requirements for security 
interventions/improvements to ensure the safety 
of residents, audiences and visitors. 

 

33. Linked to Proposal E8 – Tourism Trail for SK; 
Feasibility assessment on opportunities to 
develop destination appeal and enhance the 
development of businesses in SK – Link to the 
Explorer’s Road touring route along the great 
North Road The Explorer's Road - Discover 
South Kesteven. 

 

34. Linked to Proposal E10 - Fund the Mere’s Leisure 
Centre refurb and community hub proposal 
offering a wide range of new and exciting 
opportunities that will benefit residents and 
support children and young people to reach their 
full potential – in preparation for a UK 

 

18

https://www.discoversouthkesteven.com/explorers-road/
https://www.discoversouthkesteven.com/explorers-road/


Version 5.0 30/06/2022 

 

Page 5 of 8 
 

 
  

Government Levelling Up Round 3 (LUFR3) 
application. 

 

Please turn over (to page 6) for Section 2 regarding supporting local business 

 

19



Version 5.0 30/06/2022 

 

Page 6 of 8 
 

 

2. Supporting local business  
Consideration should be made to segmenting our business 
population, focusing on specific interventions that will best meet 
local business need. This can be informed by early engagement 
with local business representatives. 
 

Objectives: 
• Creating jobs and boosting community cohesion, through 

investments that build on existing industries and institutions, and range from support 
for starting businesses to visible improvements to local retail, hospitality and leisure 
sector facilities. 

• Promoting networking and collaboration, through interventions that bring together 
businesses and partners within and across sectors to share knowledge, expertise 
and resources, and stimulate innovation and growth. 

• Increasing private sector investment in growth-enhancing activities, through 
targeted support for small and medium-sized businesses to undertake new-to-firm 
innovation, adopt productivity-enhancing, energy efficient and low carbon 
technologies and techniques, and start or grow their exports 

Government interventions Suggested local response  

E16 Investment in open markets and 
improvements to town centre 
retail and service sector 
infrastructure, with wrap around 
support for small businesses. 

35. Produce a study to assess whether reconfiguring 
and investment in new stalls and marketing (such 
as makers and artisan specialists focusing on 
local provenance) would provide improved 
potential for the districts markets - include electric 
infrastructure. 

 

36. Produce feasibly and proof of concept around 
establishing and marketing, a street food festival 
– to include starter guides for opening a pop-up 
food stall and a local food and drink business 
toolkit with handy tips and advice, social media 
and marketing support, menu inspiration and 
case studies of local businesses. 

 

37. Champion the idea of start-up and early-stage 
businesses (akin to a mini business trade fair and 
exhibition) through utilising all SKDC markets. 
Identify a routeway to full retail space occupancy. 

 

E17 Funding for the development and 
promotion (both trade and 
consumer) of the visitor 
economy, such as local 
attractions, trails, tours and 
tourism products more generally. 

38. Rebuild the DiscoverSK website - build an 
integrated brand and digital experience that’s as 
good as the real thing. Ensuring compatibility 
between all social media channels and website. 
Focus on areas strengths, such as food and drink 

 

39. In recognition of post pandemic/Brexit labour 
shortages – support delivery of training and 

 

20



Version 5.0 30/06/2022 

 

Page 7 of 8 
 

employment initiatives that promote the visitor 
economy as a viable, long-term career choice. 

E18 Supporting Made Smarter 
Adoption: Providing tailored 
expert advice, matched grants 
and leadership training to enable 
manufacturing SMEs to adopt 
industrial digital technology 
solutions including artificial 
intelligence; robotics and 
autonomous systems; additive 
manufacturing; industrial internet 
of things; virtual reality; data 
analytics. The support is proven 
to leverage high levels of private 
investment into technologies that 
drive growth, productivity, 
efficiency and resilience in 
manufacturing. 

40. Through working with local manufacturing 
employers, develop and tender a support 
programme specifically targeting the identified 
needs of local businesses i.e. plug-into existing 
programmes and create something specific to 
South Kesteven which has the potential to partner 
with universities. 

 

E20 Research and development 
grants supporting the 
development of innovative 
products and services. 

41. Design and administer a grant programme to 
support this intervention. 

 

E23 Strengthening local 
entrepreneurial ecosystems and 
supporting businesses at all 
stages of their development to 
start, sustain, grow and innovate, 
including through local networks. 

42. Provide capacity building funding to our local 
business clubs in order to enhance their existing 
support to their members and ensure closer 
alignment with the wider aspirations of the 
District. Focus on early-stage businesses, peer 
group and master planning. Contribute towards 
supporting the costs associated with local 
membership to access crucial business services.  

 

E24 Funding for new and 
improvements to existing training 
hubs, business support offers, 
‘incubators’ and ‘accelerators’ for 
local enterprise (including social 
enterprise) which can support 
entrepreneurs and start-ups 
through the early stages of 
development and growth by 
offering a combination of 
services including account 
management, advice, resources, 
training, coaching, mentorship 
and access to workspace. 

43. Identify and develop a network of accredited 
business hubs that can specialise in specific 
elements of the startup journey. 

 

44. Bring forward centres of entrepreneurial 
excellence to support wider promotion of South 
Kesteven as a great place to start and grow ‘a 
business without boundaries’. This includes 
utilising council assets (such as arts centres) and 
includes rural areas. 

 

45. Utilise existing SKDC facilities that can provide 
‘drop in’ support, advice and guidance to people 
looking to start their own business. 

 

21



Version 5.0 30/06/2022 

 

Page 8 of 8 
 

E26 Support for growing the local 
social economy, including 
community businesses, 
cooperatives and social 
enterprises. 

46. A key component of the offer available through 
our identified centres of entrepreneurial 
excellence. 

 

E30 Business support measures to 
drive employment growth, 
particularly in areas of higher 
unemployment. 

47. Correlated to the business clubs, work with local 
employers to deliver ‘careers fairs’ and target 
locations linked to higher levels of unemployment 
in the District. 

 

 

22



Document is Restricted

23

Appendix B
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet Report 

12th July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid  

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

           

 

Housing Allocations Policy  

The Council is the strategic housing authority for the district; the Allocations Policy provides the 
Council with the framework to manage the allocation of social housing within the District and 
allows it to meet its legal duties in relation to its housing function. This report seeks Cabinet 
consideration to formally adopt the Allocations Policy.    
 

Report Author 

Jodie Archer, Head of Housing Services   

 
 01476 406080 

  Jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents  

Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Craig Spence (Assistant Director of Housing) 23 June 2022 

Approved by: Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 27 June 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property) 

30 June 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the content of the report, the proposed Allocations Policy, consultation responses 
and Equality Impact Assessment. 

2. Approves the Housing Allocation Policy. 

3. Cabinet delegates to the Director of Housing and Property authority to make minor 
amendments to the Allocations Policy as needed by changes to regulation or legislation. 

 

29

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council has a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide “Housing 

that meets the needs of all residents”.  As a stock-retained local authority, the Council has 

around 6000 properties.   

1.2 The Council currently has a waiting list of around 1500 live applications.  In 2021/22, 327 

properties in the Councill’s own housing stock were re-let, and a further 189 allocations 

were made in respect of other social housing providers within South Kesteven.  

Legal background  

1.3 Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 governs the allocation of local authority housing stock in 

England.  It was amended by the Homelessness Act 2002 and the Localism Act 2011.  

The Council must also consider the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.     

1.4 Although there is no duty to maintain a housing register (a housing waiting list) the Council 

must have an allocation scheme for determining priorities between applicants for housing.  

The Council must ensure “reasonable preference” is given to:  

• people who are homeless (within the meaning of the 1996 Act).  

• people who are owed a duty by any local housing authority due to their 

homelessness.  

• people occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 

unsatisfactory housing conditions.  

• people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including disability).  

• people who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the authority, where 

failure to meet that need would cause hardship 

The Council can take account of additional factors when determining priority in reasonable 

preference categories such as financial resources, behaviour and local connection. 

1.5 The Localism Act 2011 restored the power local authorities had between 1997 and 2003 

to exclude certain applicants they designate as “non qualifying persons.”  This allows 

scope to adopt some restrictive policies around the definition of qualifying persons and 

exclude or suspend people for unacceptable behaviour (ASB for example) or lack of local 

connection.   

Current Policy  

1.6 The current policy was adopted in March 2019.  Issues around ease of understanding in 

relation to the banding of applications and eligibility size have been recognised.  As the 

Policy does not take into account the Armed Forces Covenant, recent Domestic Abuse 

guidance, or the Homelessness Act 2017, it was felt a thorough review would be 

appropriate.   

1.7 Cabinet will note that the current approach to lettings is that the Council makes offers of 

properties to individuals by matching their needs to a property.  This is in contrast to the 

usual approach in the sector of a Choice Based Lettings scheme (CBL).   The current 

approach limits choice for the customer with little visibility of the properties that are 

available for re-let.   Accordingly, the amendments to the Allocations Policy also are 

consistent with the introduction of a CBL approach.   

 

30



 

 
 

Proposed Policy  

1.8 In addition to addressing the issues identified above, the revisions are intended to provide 

customers in the greatest need with as much choice as possible and to create an 

Allocations Policy that can easily be understood by customers.  As such the main 

principles behind this policy are to:  

• be transparent and easily understood by customers, staff, elected Members and 

partner organisations  

• help prevent homelessness and support the Council’s homelessness strategy  

• widen choice and be more accessible  

• reflect local needs and encompass rural sensitivities  

• make the most effective use of the housing stock  

• ensure equality of opportunity in accessing the Housing Register  

• be easy to administer  

• to ensure customers are treated fairly, individually and in accordance with the 

commitment to equality and diversity.  

• promote mobility 

• be open and accountable  

• help tackle low demand  

• promote sustainable tenancies by ensuring adequate support is available for 

vulnerable people  

• to provide feedback to Customers about homes let through the choice-based lettings 

scheme 

1.9 The proposed policy can be found at Appendix 1 – Draft SKDC Allocations Policy June 

2022. 

1.10 Key changes to the policy are:  

• Lawful and up to date  

• Simplified and transparent  

• Advertise our properties and give residents choice 

• Bandings (currently 6) - move to 4, focusing on those housing need  

Choice Based Lettings  

1.11 The current approach can result in a higher number of refusals as the customer may not 

agree that the property offered is in line with their need, resulting in refusals and a 

potential higher level of void rent loss whilst a tenant can be sourced. 

1.12 Choice based lettings systems enable the applicant(s) to bid for a property to be re-

housed.  Vacant properties are advertised on a weekly cycle giving complete 

transparency.   Typically, the advert says what size of family could apply, for example a 1-

person household, or a family with 5 people, and whether there are any restrictions such 

31



 

 
 

as being over 40 or needing accommodation with adaptations for a disability. The Council 

can support with bidding or set applicants to "auto-bid".  

1.13 A typical process for a CBL approach from the customer perspective can be summarised 

as follows: 

 

 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Consultation has been undertaken through our website, key stakeholders, to the 

community and via informal Councillor workshops.    Comments received are appended to 

this report with comment and responses.  Cabinet will note that a number of amendments 

have been made to the Policy based on the feedback.   

2.2 The draft Policy was considered by the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 23 June 2022.   The Committee recommended the Housing Allocation 

Policy to Cabinet for consideration and approval, and requested a report to the 

Committee’s December 2022 meeting, for a progress update and consideration of the 

efficacy of the new Policy and its impacts.   

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Support the proposed Allocations Policy for adoption. 

3.2 Amend the Policy.   

3.3 Do nothing and continue with the existing Policy. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Approval of the revised Allocation Policy. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The new policy provides a robust, lawful and clear policy to manage the allocation of 

social housing within the district, with the move to a CBL system providing choice to our 

customers. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 As part of the timeline post adoption of this policy please see Appendix 3 – Timeline for 

implementation of the Allocations Policy.  

32



 

 
 

6.2 There shall be a robust communications plan developed to inform all current applicants on 

our waiting list of the changes to the policy. 

There shall be a transition period proposed for quarter three of 2022 to implement and 

launch the choice-based lettings approach. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The budget rental income for the HRA is approximately £24m and so it is important that 

tenants are well aware of the financial responsibility they undertake when offered a 

Council dwelling in order to ensure income is received in a timely manner that then funds 

the many HRA services and investment plans.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no legal and governance implications arising from this item that are not already 

included in the body of the report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 By providing choice to our customers, we shall be empowering them to take enhanced 

ownership of their future with all customers eligible able to actively bid on a property that 

interests them and matches their needs. A full equality impact assessment has been 

undertaken to assess all implications for consideration and is appended to this report.   

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 We currently have a policy that does not fully meet legislative requirements and is difficult 

to interpret, creating a slight risk of legal challenge.    

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None identified. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 No direct implications, although improving the management of the Council’s allocation 

processes and refusals of accommodation will reduce travel time and mileage to sign up 

appointments across the district.   

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None.  

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None.  

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Draft SKDC Housing Allocations Policy June 2022. 

15.2 Appendix 2 – Consultation responses.  

15.3 Appendix 3 – Implementation timeline.  

33



 

 
 

15.4 Appendix 4 – Equality Impact Assessment.  

 

 

 

 

34



 
 
 

1 
 

   Housing 

Allocations Policy 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Related policy  Housing Management  

Date for review February 2025 

Policy author Head of Housing Services  

  

35

Appendix 1



 
 
 

2 
 

Table of Contents 

1. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................. 5 

2. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES .................................................................................... 6 

3. THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK ................................................................................ 6 

3.1 Summary ..................................................................................................... 6 

3.2 Legislation  .................................................................................................. 7 

3.3 Housing Act Framework .............................................................................. 7 

3.4 Strategic codes of guidence  ....................................................................... 7 

3.5 Relevant legalisation, regulations and Guidance..……………………………7 

3.6 Requesting a copy ....................................................................................... 8 

3.7 Scope of the Scheme ................................................................................ 8 

4. ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION .................................................................... 8 

4.1 Inclusivity ……………….………………………………………………………. 8 

4.2 Exemption ................................................................................................... 8 

4.3 Applicants who are not eligible ................................................................ 8 

4.4      Applicants who are eligible .......................................................................... 9 

4.5  APPLICANTS WHO DO NOT QUALIFY ................................................... 10 

4.6  Homeowners ............................................................................................. 10 

    4.7      Financial means…………………………………………………………………10 
   

4.8  Persons with no local connection .............................................................. 11 

4.9 Persons who have behaved in an unacceptable way ................................ 14 

4.10 Persons who are incapable in law of holding a legal tenancy .................... 19 

4.11 Persons with no assessed housing need .................................................. 19 

4.12 Refusals of offers of social housing ........................................................... 19 

4.13 Exceptional Circumstances ....................................................................... 19 

4.14  Community Safety ..................................................................................... 20 

5. REGISTRATION ................................................................................................ 20 

5.1  How to apply .............................................................................................. 20 

5.2  How South Kesteven housing works ......................................................... 20 

5.4 Types of tenancies .................................................................................... 21 

5.5 Verification ................................................................................................. 22 

5.6 Disability, mobility and medical needs ....................................................... 22 

5.7 Application processing standards .............................................................. 23 

5.8 Contacting applicants ................................................................................ 23 

5.9      Change of circumstances .......................................................................... 23 

5.10    Reviews of the South Kesteven District housing register ........................... 24 

36



 
 
 

3 
 

5.11 Cancelling a housing application ............................................................... 24 

5.13   Dependent children ..................................................................................... 25 

5.14   Adult children , and other non-dependents ............................................... 26 

5.15   Family members not resident in the UK .................................................... 27 

5.16   Children in care ........................................................................................ 27 

5.17  Provision / receipt of care ......................................................................... 27 

5.18   Split and non-traditional households......................................................... 27 

6. ASSESSMENT OF NEED ................................................................................. 28 

6.2   Reasonable preference ............................................................................ 28 

6.3  Additional preference ................................................................................ 28 

6.4  Other specified groups ............................................................................. 28 

6.5.2  Band 1 ...................................................................................................... 29 

6.5.3  Band 2 ...................................................................................................... 32 

6.5.4    Band 3 ...................................................................................................... 35 

6.5.5    Band 4 ...................................................................................................... 37 

6.6       Disqualification of Housing Register Application ....................................... 38 

6.7       Effective date ............................................................................................ 39 

7. ALLOCATING PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY ELIGIBILITY .......................... 40 

7.1  Statement of Choice .................................................................................. 40 

7.2      Household composition ............................................................................. 40 

7.3      Pregnancy.................................................................................................. 41 

7.4      Family accommodation .............................................................................. 41 

7.5      Adapted Properties .................................................................................... 42 

7.6      Bungalows ................................................................................................. 42 

7.7      Sheltered accommodation ......................................................................... 43 

7.8      Not offering a tenancy to the highest bidder .............................................. 43 

7.9      Direct offers ............................................................................................... 44 

7.10    Local Lettings Policies ............................................................................... 45 

7.11    Property advert details ............................................................................... 45 

8. MANAGEMENT OF SCHEME ........................................................................... 46 

8.1  Bidding and Auto bidding ........................................................................... 46 

8.3 Households owed a Homeless Duty .......................................................... 47 

8.4 Offers ......................................................................................................... 48 

8.5 Refusals .................................................................................................... 49 

8.6 Landlord Rejection..................................................................................... 49 

9. THE APPLICANTS RIGHT TO A REVIEW ........................................................ 49 

37



 
 
 

4 
 

9.3  To request a review of the outcome of a South Kesteven housing 
application ................................................................................................. 50 

9.4 The decision about a review ...................................................................... 50 

9.5 To request a review of a South Kesteven private landlord rejection of a 
nomination ................................................................................................. 50 

9.6  Compliments, Comments and Complaints ................................................ 50 

10. GENERAL PROVISIONS ............................................................................... 51 

10.1  Data Protection and Information Sharing ................................................... 51 

10.2    Fraudulent Activity and withholding Information ......................................... 52 

10.3    Councillors, board members, employees and their close relatives ............ 52 

10.4    Equality and Diversity ................................................................................ 53 

10.5    Monitoring of the scheme .......................................................................... 53 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

38



 
 
 

5 
 

 
 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 All local housing authorities are required by law to have a scheme for determining 

priorities and procedures when allocating social housing. This document sets out 
the housing allocation scheme for South Kesteven District Council (the Council). 
The scheme sets out who is eligible and qualifies for social housing, and how the 
Council decides who should have priority for those properties that are available.  

1.2 The scheme supersedes the previous schemes covered. South Kesteven, like 
many areas nationally, is facing increasing demand for social housing that far 
outstrips supply. In that context, the housing allocation scheme offers 
households with a housing need (as defined by the scheme) some choice in 
bidding for a home while giving reasonable preference to those in the greatest 
housing need and with a local connection to South Kesteven.  

1.3 This housing allocation scheme applies to:  

a) New applicants  
b) Existing social rented housing tenants who have a need to transfer from 

one tenancy to another with their current landlord  
c) Existing social rented housing tenants who need to transfer from one 

tenancy to another with a different social landlord.  
 
1.4 The accommodation allocated through this scheme includes housing for social 

and affordable rent which is owned and managed both by the Council and by 
housing associations operating in the area. The Council’s choice-based lettings 
scheme provides a single access point to good quality, affordable housing for 
people in housing need and aims to make the task of applying for social housing 
as simple as possible. On a day-to-day basis, landlords advertise their vacant 
properties on the website and applicants, who would like to live in those 
properties, register their bids on the website. Properties are then allocated in 
accordance with the procedures and priorities set out in the allocations scheme.  

1.5 Properties are then allocated in accordance with the procedures and 6 priorities 
set out in the housing allocations scheme. As well as operating a housing 
allocation scheme, the Council also provides a housing options service which 
works to prevent homelessness and provides housing applicants with advice on 
a range of alternative housing options including:  

a) Mutual exchange   
b) Renting in the private rented sector  
c) Options to remain in the current home  

 
  

39



 
 
 

6 
 

2. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES  

2.1 In addition to meeting the Council’s statutory duties, the aim of this housing 
allocation scheme is to provide good quality, affordable housing to those in the 
most need whilst promoting sustainable tenancies and communities.  

2.2 The objectives are:  

a) To provide clear, and transparent information to people who need to find a 
home about the social housing that is available so that they can make 
realistic, informed and affordable housing choices  

b) To support all landlords in making the best use of their housing stock in 
South Kesteven, ensuring that larger homes, specialist housing, and homes 
adapted for disabilities, are made available to those who need them most  

c) To support other landlords in managing their homes effectively, by ensuring 
properties can be let quickly and that tenants are given the best chances of 
maintaining their tenancies in the long term  

d) To help prevent homelessness and enable the discharge of the Council’s 
statutory homelessness duties, minimising the use of temporary 
accommodation  

e) To ensure and promote equality of opportunity in accessing safe, secure 
and affordable housing, both to local people in housing need and to other 
categories of people that do not satisfy a local connection to South 
Kesteven including those that have served in the armed forces, care 
leavers, those fleeing domestic abuse and people who are looking to 
continue or take up employment. 

2.3 This housing allocation scheme will be monitored and reviewed, when necessary 
(at least annually), to ensure that it continues to meet local needs, responds to 
changes in the local housing market, meets to council’s strategic objectives and 
remains legally compliant.  

2.4 As part of the development of this the Council has consulted with existing social 
housing tenants in the South Kesteven area, applicants on the Housing Register, 
landlords, and other interested client groups and partner agencies.  

 
3. THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK  
 
3.1 The Council’s housing allocations scheme sits within a tight legal framework 

which is summarised in this section. The legislative framework applies to the 
Council directly and requires Registered Providers to ‘cooperate to such an 
extent as is reasonable in the circumstances in offering accommodation to 
people with priority under the authority’s scheme’.  

 

40



 
 
 

7 
 

3.2 The primary legislation governing the allocation of social housing is Part 6 
Housing Act 1996 (as amended). Any reference to legislative sections contained 
within this scheme are sections contained within the Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended). This legislation requires councils to make all allocations and 
nominations in accordance with a published housing allocation scheme which 
determines priorities between applicants for housing and sets out the procedure 
to be followed when allocating housing.  

3.3 Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) requires local authorities to frame 
their housing allocation schemes to give “reasonable preference” to certain 
categories of people namely:  

a) People who are homeless as defined in Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended)   

b) People who are owed a particular statutory duty by any local housing 
authority under certain provisions of homelessness legislation  

c) People occupying insanitary, overcrowded or otherwise unsatisfactory 
housing  

d) People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including 
grounds relating to a disability  

e) People who need to move to a particular locality within the district to avoid 
hardship to themselves or others  

3.4 In addition to the primary legislation, South Kesteven’s housing allocation 
scheme takes full account of the associated statutory codes of guidance and 
statutory instruments. In developing the scheme, the Council has also had regard 
to its Homelessness Strategy, Tenancy Strategy and the Lincolnshire Rough 
Sleeping Strategy.  

3.5 The housing allocation scheme has been developed to be compatible with other 
relevant legislation, regulations and guidance including, but not restricted to:  

a) The Equality Act 2010  
b) The Human Rights Act 1998  
c) The Data Protection Act 2018  
d) The Freedom of Information Act 2000  
e) Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000  
f) The Localism Act 2011  
g) Armed Forces Covenant  
h) Armed Forces Act 2021  
i) Domestic Abuse Act, 2021 
j) Welfare Reform Act 2012  
k) Public Sector Accessibility Regulations 2018  
l) Homelessness Reduction Act 2017  
m) Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local authorities (as amended 

January 2022) 
 

41



 
 
 

8 
 

3.6 A summary of this housing allocation scheme is available free of charge to any 
person who asks for a copy. It can be downloaded free of charge from the South 
Kesteven website. If requested a hard copy can be provided on payment of a 
reasonable fee (to be confirmed at time of request).  

3.7 Scope of the Scheme  

3.7.1 The following are defined as allocations within this scheme:  

a) The selection of a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of council 
accommodation or  

b) The nomination of a person to be a starter or assured tenant of 
Registered Provider accommodation  

 
3.7.2 The housing allocation scheme does not apply to the following lettings:  

a) Succession of tenancy  
b) Assignment of a tenancy through mutual exchange  
c) Assignment of a tenancy to a person who would be qualified to succeed to 

the tenancy  
d) Assignment of a tenancy in pursuance of a relevant court order  
e) Progression from an introductory to secure tenancy  
f) Sole to joint tenancy changes and vice versa  
g) Temporary decants in order to complete repairs  
h) Lettings made by Registered Providers outside of the South Kesteven 

nomination agreement  
i) Properties leased to a partner agency (e.g. support provider)  

 
4. ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION  
 
4.1 Any person can approach the Council for advice and assistance regarding 

housing however, due to the high demand for social and affordable rented 
housing in South Kesteven, the Council does not maintain an ‘open’ housing 
register. In considering an application, the Council will firstly assess if an 
applicant is eligible for accommodation, and secondly, whether an application 
qualifies for an allocation of accommodation.  

4.2 Any applicant assessed as either not eligible or who does not qualify will not be 
considered for an allocation and will therefore not have access to the housing 
register.  

4.3 Applicants who are not eligible  

4.3.1 The legislation and accompanying regulations regarding eligibility for housing 
are complex and subject to regular change. This section provides an overview 
of the main rules. The main law on eligibility in England is contained in the 
Housing Act 1996 (as amended) which allows the government to introduce 
regulations about eligibility for allocations. South Kesteven will determine 
whether applicants are eligible for housing assistance ensuring compliance with 
UK immigration and nationality regulations.  

 

42



 
 
 

9 
 

4.3.2 Some classes of people are not eligible to join the housing register, specifically 
those who are:  

a) Subject to immigration control (unless in a class re-included by regulations 
made by the Secretary of State – see reference to Regulation 3 in section 
4.2 below)  

b) Not habitually resident in the UK, Channel Islands, the Isle of Man, or the 
Republic of Ireland  

c) Other persons from abroad excluded by regulations made by the Secretary 
of State including: 

i. EEA nationals whose only right to reside is derived from their 
status as an EEA jobseeker or as the family member of an EEA 
jobseeker  

ii. EEA nationals whose only right to reside is the initial three-
month period under Regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations  

iii. Non-EEA nationals whose only right to reside is as the parent of 
a UK citizen child who has no other rights to reside in the UK 
(known as a ‘Zambrano carer’)  

d) Persons granted limited leave (‘pre settled status’) under the EU 
settlement scheme where their only other right to reside is a non-qualifying 
right (i.e., as a jobseeker, is within his/her first three months or as a 
Zambrano carer)  

e) Required to leave the UK by the Secretary of State. 
f) Ineligible due to changes contained in the Immigration and Social Security 

Co-ordination (EU Withdrawal) Act 2020: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/20/contents/enacted/data.htm 

 
4.4   Applicants who are eligible  
 
4.4.1  The following groups are eligible for an allocation of housing:  

a) British Citizens  
b) Certain Commonwealth citizens with a right of abode in the UK  
c) Irish citizens, who are not subject to immigration control in the UK  
d) EEA nationals with an EEA ‘right to reside’ that qualifies for housing 

(including but not limited to those that are working or self-employed)  
e) Classes of persons subject to immigration control who are eligible for an 

allocation of accommodation as set out in Regulation 3 of the Allocation of 
Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 2006, as 
amended. These groups include but are not limited to:  

i. people granted refugee status  
ii. people granted exceptional leave to enter or remain without a 'no 

public funds' condition  
iii. people granted humanitarian protection  
iv. EEA nationals who have been granted settled status under the EU 

Settlement Scheme and who are ‘habitually resident’ in the British 
Isles or Ireland  

f) European Economic Area (EEA) nationals, and their family members, who 
have citizen’s rights under the European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) 
Act 2020. 

 

43



 
 
 

10 
 

4.5   APPLICANTS WHO DO NOT QUALIFY 
 
4.5.1  The Localism Act 2011 enabled local housing authorities to decide which 

classes of persons are, or are not, qualifying persons for the purposes of 
allocating housing. This section sets out the classes of persons which are not 
considered to be qualifying persons and will therefore not be accepted to join 
the South Kesteven register for an allocation of housing.  

 
4.6  Homeowners  
 
4.6.1  All applicants must declare whether they own a home or have a legal interest 

in any land or property in the UK or abroad.  
 
4.6.2  The definition of a home is a freehold or leasehold property, a static caravan 

situated on a site open all year round or a boat which has a mooring. 
Applicants who have a beneficial interest or home rights in a property will be 
classed as a homeowner and will therefore not qualify for the housing register.  

 

4.6.3 Homeowners (including joint homeowners) will not qualify for the housing 
register unless they have an urgent housing need to move (Bands 1 and 2) 
and have insufficient equity, capital, or assets to resolve their housing 
difficulties. (See income section). This will include the possibility of adapting 
their current home. A financial assessment will be required to assess the level 
of equity. An Occupational Therapists report will be needed to establish if 
adaptations are required.  

   
 

4.6.4 Elderly homeowners who are accepted as eligible for sheltered housing will 
qualify to join the South Kesteven register but are exempt from bidding for 
bungalows and are eligible for sheltered complex properties only.  

 
 
 
4.7  Applicants with financial means 
 
4.7.1 Applicants who are homeowners or have the financial means to purchase a 

property within South Kesteven that meets their housing needs (and who do 
not meet any of the exemptions) will not qualify for the Housing Register. 

 
4.7.2 Criteria:  
 

• Applicants who have total household savings, investments and/or assets of 
£21,450 or more (single persons / lone parents) or joint savings, investments 
and/or assets of £21,450 or more (couples / couples with children / other 
household types)  
 

•  Applicants who have a total annual household income of £45,000 (single 
persons / lone parents) or joint household income of £60,000 or more 
(couples / couples with children / other household types). Passported benefits 

44



 
 
 

11 
 

and non-contributory disability benefits are not included for the purposes of 
income in this definition. Certain compensation payments may be disregarded 
as savings when assessing an applicant’s financial resources. 

 
4.7.3 Exemptions:  
 

• Applicants who qualify for older person’s sheltered accommodation schemes 
 

•  Applicants who have a need for specialist accommodation that is not 
available or affordable in the private sector within South Kesteven, for 
example wheelchair standard accommodation  
 

• Applicants who are unable to safely access their property or finances, for 
example because they are fleeing domestic abuse, and who are taking legal 
action in order to recover their funds/share of the funds 
 

• Other exceptional circumstances (such cases will be referred to a Senior 
Officer for consideration and if approved will require final authorisation from 
the Head of Housing Services). 

 
 
4.8  Persons with no local connection  
 
4.8.1 Applicants who do not establish a local connection to South Kesteven will not 

qualify to join the South Kesteven housing register. A local connection to 
South Kesteven will be established by virtue of any permanent member of the 
household (permanent meaning anyone who normally resides within the 
household and the accommodation is their only or main residence) meeting 
any of the criteria set out in the table below:  

 

45



 
 
 

12 
 

Criteria Additional Detail 

Current residency in South Kesteven 
and a past residency of at least two 
years out of the last five years prior to 
acceptance onto the Housing register. 

Applicants must live, or have lived, within the district, and have done for at least 6 out of 
the last 12 months or 3 out of the last 5 years. 
Residency may be verified by way of tenancy references, electoral roll, information held 
on any local authority or third-party database, such as Experian and will be verified at 
the point of application and at the point of allocation/nomination.  
 
This includes those people who currently live in an institution, hospital or are serving a 
custodial sentence outside of the area but were resident in the area for at least 6 out of 
the last 12 months or  three out of the last five years prior to entering that institution, 
hospital, or custody.  
 

Current employment in South Kesteven 
for a minimum of 16 hours per week 
consistently for 6 out of the last 12 
months. 

For the purposes of establishing this local connection, regularly means 16 hours per 
week or more, and either have a permanent contact (and passed any probationary 
period) or be able to demonstrate they have worked for at least six months and there is 
no reason to believe this arrangement is due to cease.  
 
Applicants who are self-employed, or their profession requires them from time to time to 
work outside the area, will need to demonstrate that their employment has mainly been 
based in South Kesteven for a minimum of six months prior to application and at the 
point of any allocation/nomination.  
 
Applicants on leave due to maternity or sickness who remain employed will qualify for 
this criterion if there is no reason to believe their employment is due to cease.  
 

Right to Move  
 

This applies to current social tenants in England who are employed, or who have been 
offered permanent employment in South Kesteven AND who need to move to avoid 
hardship. 

Armed Forces personnel Certain members of the Armed Forces community are exempt from any residency / 
local connection requirements, by virtue of regulations made under section 160ZA (8) 
which prevent local authorities from applying a local connection test to disqualify such 
applicants.  

46



 
 
 

13 
 

 
These are:  
a) Those who are currently serving in the Regular Armed Forces or who were serving in 
the Regular Forces at any time in the 5 years preceding their application for an 
allocation of social housing  
b) Bereaved spouses or civil partners of those serving in the Regular Forces where (i) 
the bereaved spouse or civil partner has recently ceased, or will cease, to be entitled to 
reside in Ministry of Defence accommodation following the death of their Service 
spouse or civil partner, and (ii) the death was wholly or partly attributable to their 
service 
c) Serving or former members of the Reserve Armed Forces who are suffering from a 
serious injury, illness or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their service  
d) Divorced or separated spouses or civil partners of Service personnel who need to 
move out of accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence.  
 
The above definition of Armed Forces personnel also applies to the Banding criteria 
called ‘Armed Forces’ detailed in section 6.4. Verification will be required from the 
Armed Forces.  
 

Immediate family members currently 
resident in South Kesteven i.e., parent, 
sibling, or adult son or daughter who 
has lived in the area for a minimum of 
five years continuously prior to 
acceptance onto the South Kesteven 
housing register.   
 

Residency may be verified by way of tenancy references, electoral roll or information 
held on any local authority database. Relationship may be verified by Birth Certificates 
or information held on any local authority database. 
 

  

Applicants owed a homeless duty by 
South Kesteven District Council  
 

Applicants the following duties:  
S193(2) – Main Duty  
S195(2) – Threatened with homelessness, and eligible  
S192(3) – Power to secure for non-priority and not intentionally homeless  

47



 
 
 

14 
 

S189B – Relief Duty  

Other special circumstances as 
approved by a Service Manager 

In some special circumstances, the Council will accept people onto the South Kesteven 
housing register who cannot demonstrate a local connection as defined above. These 
circumstances include:  
 
• Those needing to move in order to provide or receive essential care and support in 
South Kesteven 
• Applicants who were resident in the area for three years or more before moving to 
supported housing / care placements out of area to prevent homelessness 
Applicants who are leaving care (confirmed by Lincolnshire County Council) 
• Applicants who do not have a clear local connection anywhere  
• Applicants who cannot live in the area in which they have a local connection because 
of harassment, violence or abuse or the need to move elsewhere for reasons of 
rehabilitation or personal safety. This includes applicants subject to MAPPA 
arrangements or the National Witness Mobility Scheme. 

Local Connection to a Section 106 / 
Village exception site 

Applicants who satisfy an established local connection to a Section 106 or village 
exception site (as defined in relevant legal agreements) and that do not meet any of the 
other local connection qualifying criteria detailed in section 4.4.  
Verification of an applicant satisfying this criterion will be required at point of application 
and at point of nomination. Applicants accepted as qualifying due to this criterion will 
only qualify to bid on properties within the village development to which they satisfy a 
local connection.  

 
4.9  Persons who have behaved in an unacceptable way  
4.9.1 Applicants who have previously behaved in a way which led to them losing a tenancy, or which could have led to such action 

being taken by a landlord, will only qualify for an allocation via South Kesteven if they can demonstrate that such behaviour 
is unlikely to occur again. Applicants may not qualify to join the register due to the behaviour of any member of the 
applicant’s household, including partner and children.  

 
4.9.2 Behaviour which may lead to someone failing to qualify to join South Kesteven housing register includes (but is not limited 

to):  
 

48



 
 
 

15 
 

Criteria Further Information 

Outstanding housing related debt Applicants with outstanding housing related debt within the last 5 years, totalling more 
than £500 in debt will fail to qualify for the housing register.  
 
Housing related debt is defined as:  
• Current and former rent arrears (owed to social or private landlords)  
• Recharge arrears  
• Court costs (against social or private tenancies)  
• Homeless prevention funds or other similar schemes  
 
Households owed a homeless duty will be exempt from this non-qualifying criterion, 
however, a suitable repayment plan (this depends on how much is owed, how much 
they have repaid and the consistency of payments) must be in place and strictly adhered 
to in order to satisfy housing register requirements applicants are proactively addressing 
past unacceptable behaviours.  
 
The £500 debt owed threshold will be defined utilising information obtained as part of the 
application to include the applicant’s current or most recent address. Cumulative debt 
within a 5-year period in excess of this threshold, will fail to qualify.  
 
Debt Relief Orders 
 
Housing related debts included in a Debt Relief Order will remain as outstanding until 12 
months from the date of issue, at which point the debts are formally written off by 
creditors and the debtor is discharged. Households owed a statutory homeless duty will 
be exempt from the 12-month criteria.  

Serious breaches of tenancy or 
unacceptable conduct within a tenancy 

Applicants will fail to qualify where there is evidence of a serious and deliberate breach 
of social or private tenancy within the last 5 years. Breaches of tenancy are considered 
serious when, had the applicant been a tenant of the local authority, the authority would 
have been entitled to a possession order under Section 84 of the Housing Act 1985 on 
any ground detailed in Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Act, with the exception of ground 8.  
 

49



 
 
 

16 
 

This includes:  
• Rent arrears  
• Breach of tenancy agreement  
• Nuisance or annoyance to neighbours including anti-social behaviour  
• Illegal or immoral use of the property  
• Damage or neglect  
• Conviction for an arrestable offence committed in the locality of the premises  
• Domestic abuse  
• Making a false statement to gain a tenancy  
 
Applicants evicted from a social tenancy for sub-letting or abandoning a property within 
the last 5 years will also fail to qualify. 

Other breaches of tenancy  
 

The applicant has a history of other unacceptable behaviour relating to tenancy conduct 
including:  
• Persistent / repeated breaches relating to property condition  
• Persistent / repeated breaches relating to garden condition  
• Not allowing reasonable access for statutory safety checks  
• Other non-engagement in essential activities e.g., preventing housing officer visits and 
repairs  
 
Existing tenants may be subject to an inspection of their property prior to being accepted 
onto the South Kesteven housing register. Applicants who fail the inspection, or do not 
engage with their landlord to complete the required actions will not be accepted onto the 
housing register.  

Guilty of criminal offences relevant to 
rehousing 

Any offence that is not spent under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (amended 
by the Legal Aid and Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012) must be 
declared. Cautions should also be declared.  
 
Relevant criminal offences include but are not limited to the following serious arrestable 
offences:  
• Violence including ABH, GBH, terrorism, explosions and riots  

50



 
 
 

17 
 

• Harassment, threats of violence or intimidation including racially motivated and 
domestic abuse offences  
• Offences relating to offensive weapons (firearms and certain offences involving knives) 
 • Offences against property including offences under the Theft Act 1968 such as 
robbery and burglary, and offences under Section 1 of the Criminal Damage Act 1971 of 
destroying or damaging a property  
• Drug-related offences under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 (restriction of production 
and supply of controlled drugs and possession of controlled drugs with intent to supply)  
• Sexual offences  
• Offences under Part 2 Serious Crime Act (encouraging or assisting one of the above 
offences to be committed)  

Antisocial behaviour Acts of antisocial behaviour are defined as acts where the applicant has been subject to 
some level of formal warning and/or enforcement action.  
 
This includes but is not limited to:  
• Closure Order granted as a result of antisocial behaviour in or near the applicant’s 
current or previous property  
• Civil Injunction such as injunctions preventing nuisance and annoyance  
• Criminal Behaviour Order  
• Notice or an Order to abate noise served under the Environmental Protection Act 1990  
• Community Protection Warnings and Notices  
• Convictions for breaching any of the above  
• Any other enforcement action / prosecution under the Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014.  
 
Antisocial behaviour also includes any act whereby an applicant has been proved to 
have interfered with security and safety equipment or landlord’s electricity supply to 
communal blocks. 

Demonstrated unacceptable behaviour 
towards any officer, official agent, or 
property of the Council or South 
Kesteven landlord forum.  

This includes having received any warning letters from the Council or any South 
Kesteven partner, and/or criminal or civil action.  
 

51



 
 
 

18 
 

 Unacceptable behaviour includes but is not limited to verbal and physical abuse, 
intimidation, violence and/or threats of violence by any form and harassment. Damage, 
defacing or graffiti upon any property is also included.  

 
 
4.9.3 The Council does not operate a blanket policy in relation to the above considerations but will consider each case on its own 

merit. Applicants are invited to provide evidence of a change of behaviour. This will be presented to the Service Manager for 
overall sign off. 

 
4.9.4 This could include, for example, evidence of regular payments towards a previous housing debt; evidence from a support 

agency of undertaking training to develop the skills necessary to manage a tenancy or being ready to move on from 
supported housing.  

 

52



 
 
 

19 
 

 
4.10 Persons who are incapable in law of holding a legal tenancy  
 
4.10.1 Applications will not normally be accepted from persons who are aged under 

18. However, the following may be considered:  
a) The applicant is in the care of the Council, or is a care leaver  
b) The applicant has been defined as a child in need as a result of a S17 

Children Act 1989 statutory assessment  
c) The applicant is owed a full statutory homeless duty following a S20 

Children Act 1989 statutory assessment  
d) The applicant has an adult or adults who will act as a trustee(s) and hold a 

legal tenancy until the legal incapacity to hold a tenancy ends, and the 
Council accepts the adult as a suitable trustee  

 
4.11 Persons with no assessed housing need  
 
4.11.1 Persons/households assessed as having no housing need as defined in the 

Bands will not qualify to join the housing register.  
 
 
4.12 Refusals of offers of social housing  
 
4.12.1 Applicants who have refused two offers of suitable accommodation in any 12-

month period will fail to qualify for the South Kesteven housing register. See 
section 8.4 for more information.  

 
Households owed a homeless duty who refuse a suitable offer are discussed 
separately in section 8.3. Those who do not qualify by virtue of this category 
will not have a reapplication considered for 12 months from the date of non-
qualifying decision.  

 
4.12.2 Applicants can request a review of this decision if there has been a significant 

change in their circumstances through no fault of their own which adversely 
affects the household or would otherwise result in the South Kesteven 
housing band increasing.  

 
4.13 Exceptional Circumstances  
 
4.13.1 In exceptional circumstances, an applicant who would not ordinarily qualify for 

the housing register but who has an urgent housing need (defined by being 
awarded Bands 1 or 2 under this housing allocationpolicy) may be allowed to 
join. The decision to allow a non-qualifying applicant to join the register, will 
be determined by a panel of senior housing officers. Other professionals, for 
example those with social care expertise, may be invited to contribute to the 
panel and decision making where relevant.  

 
4.13.2 The council retains a discretion to deal with individual cases where there are 

exceptional circumstances, for example where such circumstances arise in 
relation to the wider Armed Forces community.  

 

53



 
 
 

20 
 

4.14  Community Safety  
 
4.14.1 The Council works in partnership with the Police, Probation Service, 

Community Safety Partnerships and housing providers to manage risk to the 
community. If there are any details pertaining to an applicant or application 
which leads the Council to believe there may be implications for community 
safety, the Council may refuse an applicant housing in certain areas.  

 
 
5.       REGISTRATION  
 
5.1  How to apply  
 
5.1.1 Applicants can apply for an allocation by completing a housing application 

form online at www.southkesteven.gov.uk. Should applicants require 
assistance in completing the form or require the form to be made available in 
other formats this can be requested by telephone or by prior arrangement 
from the Council offices.  

 
5.1.2 Following receipt of an application, applicants will be required to provide 

supporting documentation. Once a fully completed application form has been 
received along with any required supporting documentation, the form will be 
assessed to determine if applicants are eligible and qualify for an allocation 
(see section 4), followed by an assessment of their housing need (see section 
6), and a determination of property eligibility (see section 7).  

 
5.2  How South Kesteven housing works  
 
5.2.1 South Kesteven housing advertises available social and affordable housing 

throughout South Kesteven District. All available properties are advertised 
online at www.southkesteven.gov.uk from 00:01hrs (one minute past 
midnight) on a Thursday through to 23:59hrs on a Tuesday.  

 
5.2.2 During the weekly advertising cycle, applicants can express their interest in up 

to three properties that are the right size and type for their household 
requirements. Expressing an interest in a property means that the applicant 
will be included on the shortlist for that property.  

 
5.2.3 Applicants should only bid on properties after reading all the attribute and 

locality details in the advert. Bids on suitable properties which are later 
refused may incur a penalty (see section 8.4) If applicants do not express an 
interest in a property, they will not be considered for the allocation of that 
property.  

 
5.2.4 Some South Kesteven housing applications may be set to Auto bid. This 

means that the housing system will automatically place their bids after 
midnight on a Wednesday when all other bids have been placed. Applicants 
who are owed a statutory homeless duty will be subject to an Auto bid 
process whereby up to five bids per cycle will be made automatically on their 
behalf.  

54

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 
 
 

21 
 

 
5.2.5 When a property is shortlisted, it is usually offered to the applicant with the 

highest band and who has been waiting in that band for the longest time 
(determined by an effective date). Applicants can view their bid queue position 
and bid outcome on their online account. Only successful applicants are 
contacted directly. 

 
5.2.6 South Kesteven will publish information on accepted offers of accommodation 

from previous bidding cycles at www.southkesteven.gov.uk. The following 
information will be published on advertised properties:  
a) Property address  
b) Property type  
c) Closing date for bids  
d) The band of the successful bidder  
e) The date they were placed in that band  
f) The number of bids received  

 
5.2.7 Please note, under no circumstances will any personal details of the 

successful bidder be published.  
 
5.3 ‘Any time’ adverts  
 
5.3.1 South Kesteven housing also has the functionality to create ‘any time adverts’ 

which will sit outside of the weekly advert cycle and bidding process described 
in this scheme. ‘Any time adverts’ can be added on any date and for any 
length of time. The Council will utilise this facility for properties that are 
regarded as difficult to let in order to avoid multiple and repeated duplicate 
adverts week on week. In South Kesteven this applies mainly to some 
sheltered properties. Bidding opportunities in respect of ‘any time adverts’ will 
be in addition to the core bidding opportunities described in this scheme. An 
applicant that has three bids per bidding cycle will therefore have three bids 
plus any additional bids that are eligible to be placed on ‘any time adverts’. In 
addition to difficult to let properties, the Council may utilise the ‘any time 
advert’ facility in other circumstances including but not limited to adverts and 
lettings that need to be fast-tracked. Decisions to utilise the ‘any time advert’ 
facility for any reason, other than for a difficult to let property, will be made by 
the Service Manager.  

 
5.4  Types of tenancies  
 
5.4.1 There are a variety of different types of tenancies that are advertised on South 

Kesteven housing register. These include introductory/starter tenancies, 
secure tenancies, affordable rent tenancies and fixed term tenancies. 
Applicants are responsible for deciding which properties and which types of 
tenancy they wish to express an interest in. However, in addition to the 
tenancy type advertised, the type of tenancy offered to applicants will often 
depend on a number of factors including:  
a) Their current tenure and landlord  
b) Their current circumstances  
c) The landlord of the property  

55

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 
 
 

22 
 

d) The type of property  
e) The location of the property  

 
5.5  Verification  
 
5.5.1 In order to assess and verify housing applications, the Council may make 

additional enquiries with current and former landlords and other relevant 
agencies. Council officers may also need to arrange a home visit or office 
interview. Where this is necessary, a council officer will contact the applicant 
to arrange a convenient appointment. If, after a 28-day period, applicants 
have not provided information that has been requested, the Council will 
cancel the application.  

 
5.5.2 Verification includes checks on an applicant’s full circumstances including 

their eligibility, qualifying criteria, housing need and property eligibility. 
Circumstances will be verified at the point of application and at the point of 
nomination prior to a formal offer. It is the applicant’s responsibility to notify 
South Kesteven District Council of any significant changes to their 
circumstances which may affect their application. An applicant’s 
circumstances can change at any point and accordingly can be reassessed by 
the Council at any time.  

 
5.5.3 Prior to any formal offer of accommodation, South Kesteven landlords will 

also conduct a tenancy assessment and other checks to verify an applicant’s 
circumstances. This will include an affordability assessment. Applicants that 
fail the verification checks and/or affordability assessments will not be offered 
the accommodation for which they have been nominated. The application may 
then be reassessed depending on the reasons for refusal.  

 
5.6  Disability, mobility and medical needs  
 
5.6.1 If an applicant or joint applicant, or other member of the household identified 

on the housing application have any of the following then it is the applicant’s 
responsibility to provide any medical evidence that they would like to be 
considered in assessing their application:  
a) A permanent physical disability  
b) A mobility problem  
c) A medical condition, or  
d) A mental health condition  

 
5.6.2 The Council may need to contact the applicant for further information 

regarding the condition to help the Council to assess and establish in which 
band to place the application and what type of property is suitable. In some 
circumstances the Council may need to seek independent medical advice to 
help inform this decision and specifically to explore:  
a) Whether the applicant’s current home is having a detrimental impact on 

the health or mobility of anyone in the household, and the extent of the 
detrimental impact  

b) What type of accommodation would suit the needs of the households or if 
a move is necessary  

56



 
 
 

23 
 

c) What adaptations the household may require  
 
5.6.3 If, after the Council’s enquiries, it is established that the applicant requires 

specific adaptations to a property, the application will be amended to reflect 
this. Households that require specific adaptations will only be nominated to 
accommodation that is suitable for their needs.  

 
5.6.4 It is recognised that applicant’s circumstances are individual and that the 

medical banding criteria cannot specify every circumstance that might apply. 
Exceptional banding decisions pertaining to medical issues that sit outside of 
the normal banding criteria will be made by the manager that oversees the 
South Kesteven housing team or an officer of equivalent level.  

 
5.7 Application processing standards  
 
5.7.1 When a South Kesteven housing application is received, the Council will:  

a) Contact the applicant within  15 working days of receiving the application 
to confirm if any additional supporting information is required  

b) Contact the applicant to confirm that the application is active within 15 
working days of receiving a fully completed application form including any 
relevant supporting information that is required  

c) Let the applicant know if it cannot register the application within 15 working 
days of receiving the fully completed application form due to delays which 
may be caused by the Council requiring additional information from 
another agency or other administrative reasons.  

 
These timescales may vary depending on staff resources and are to be used as a 
guide only. 
 
5.8 Contacting applicants  
 
5.8.1 Once all necessary enquiries have been made and the South Kesteven 

application has been processed, the Council will email / write to the applicant 
to inform them:  
a) If the applicant does not qualify to join the South Kesteven housing 

register, the reasons for this and their right to a review of the decision or;  
b) That we have accepted the application and the applicant can start to place 

bids for properties advertised on South Kesteven housing  
c) The applicant’s unique housing reference and log in details  
d) The South Kesteven housing band in which we have placed the 

application  
e) The date on which the application was placed into the band – the effective 

date  
 
 
5.9      Change of circumstances  
 
5.9.1 Applicants must inform the Council if the circumstances of any person 

included in the South Kesteven housing application changes as this may 

57



 
 
 

24 
 

affect their eligibility or qualification status, band, or property eligibility. 
Changes in circumstances include but are not limited to:  
a) A change in eligibility status  
b) A change in assets or savings including home ownership / beneficiary of a 

property  
c) The accrual of new housing related debt  
d) New criminal convictions  
e) A change of address  
f) A change of contact details  
g) People leaving the household or new household members  
h) A change in a household member’s health or wellbeing  

 
5.9.2 If the Council later discovers a change in circumstances that has not been 

disclosed to the Council, this may result in a housing application being 
cancelled, an offer of accommodation being withdrawn, or possession action 
being taken to recover a property allocated under this scheme.  

 
5.9.3 The Council will endeavour to process changes of circumstance within 15 

working days.  
 
5.10  Reviews of the South Kesteven District housing register  
 
5.10.1 Annually, all applicants are required to complete an online review. The review 

is to ensure:  
a) The number of applicants on the South Kesteven housing register reflects 

the immediate needs for social housing  
b) Applicants still want to stay on the South Kesteven housing register and  
c) Applicants’ details are accurate and up to date.  

 
5.10.2 Applicants will be notified when a review is due.  If an applicant fails to 

respond to the review within 28 days of notification, the application will be 
cancelled.  

 
5.10.3 Should applicants require assistance in completing the form or require the 

form to be made available in other formats this can be requested by telephone 
or by prior arrangement from the Council offices.  

 
 
5.10.4 If an applicant fails to place bids on suitable properties over a period of six 

months their application may be cancelled, or their banding reviewed.  
 
5.11 Cancelling a housing application  
 
5.11.1 South Kesteven housing applications may be cancelled if, for example, the 

applicant:  
a) Becomes ineligible for an allocation  
b) Requests their application is cancelled   
c) Fails to respond to a review  
d) Has been re-housed by a private landlord  
e) Moved and did not inform the council of their new address  

58



 
 
 

25 
 

f) Fails to respond to a request for information within 28 days  
g) Deliberately provides false or misleading information  
h) Refuses offers of suitable accommodation  
i) Fails to qualify for the housing register  
j) Fails to place bids on suitable properties  

 
 
5.12 WHO CAN BE INCLUDED ON AN APPLICATION?  
 
5.12.1 The applicant should include on their housing application other persons who 

normally reside with them or who would reasonably be expected to reside with 
them as a member of their household. All household members who will be 
living in the new tenancy must be included on the application in order that 
qualification checks can be conducted. Applicants and household members 
can only be on one South Kesteven housing application.  

 
5.12.2 The following can be included on an application if they normally live with the 

applicant(s) or could reasonably be expected to do so:  
a) Partner or spouse,  
b) Children dependent on the applicant / joint applicant  
c) Adult children  
d) Other adults who are dependent on the applicant / joint applicant  

 
5.12.3 Other people will only be considered if there are demonstrable extenuating 

circumstances that require them to live with applicants; for example, to 
provide or receive ongoing and substantial care which can be evidenced.  

 
5.12.4 In all circumstances, the Council may decide whether a person is normally 

resident as a member of the applicant’s family and whether they will be 
considered for rehousing as a member of the applicant’s household. The 
Council will consider each applicant’s individual circumstances when deciding 
whether to allow persons to be included on the application.  

 
5.13  Dependent children  
 
5.13.1 A dependent child is defined as being aged 0-15 years or 16-18 years and 

attending or enrolled in full-time approved non-advanced education or 
training. The Council will usually expect that an applicant receives Child 
Benefit in respect of dependent children.  

 
5.13.2 In determining whether a dependent child can be considered as part of the 

household where there is shared parental responsibility, the Council will 
consider whether there is a sufficient degree of permanence or regularity to 
constitute normal residence as a member of the family. The Council may also 
consider the demand for and supply of accommodation, as well as any under 
occupation which may result where a child spends part of a week with one 
parent and part of a week with another.  

 
5.13.3 Factors that the Council will consider include: 

a) Who has the main parental responsibility of the child / children?  

59



 
 
 

26 
 

b) What is the child’s main and principal home?  
c) What address is registered with GP/School/Nursery?  
d) Who predominantly cares for the child?  
e) What is the frequency and length of residence at the applicant’s property?  
f) Does the child have other accommodation available to them which it is 

reasonable for them to occupy?  
g) Is there an order of the court pertaining to the child’s residency?  

 
5.13.4 If a child has no suitable accommodation with either parent, then both parents 

can include the child on their South Kesteven housing application until such 
time as suitable housing for the child has been secured. At this time, the other 
parents’ South Kesteven housing application will be reassessed accordingly. 
For clarity, only one social / affordable rented property with a garden will be 
offered for the children.  

 
5.13.5 Single parents/couples with a housing need, with children who do not 

permanently reside with them can be considered for properties with up to two 
bedrooms (excluding family accommodation with its own garden), however 
they will only be offered a two-bedroom property if there is no demand from 
households who require that size of property. Household income may be 
assessed by the landlord of the property against their affordability criteria to 
ensure that the property is affordable before an offer of tenancy is made.  

 
5.14  Adult children , and other non-dependents  
 
5.14.1 Non-dependent children are defined as any children of the applicant or joint 

applicant who do not meet the definition of a dependent child. A non-
dependent child is usually aged 18 years or over or aged 16/17 and who is 
not attending or enrolled in any full-time approved non-advanced education or 
training.  

 
5.14.2 Where the household includes people aged 18 years or over that are capable 

of living independently, the Council will assess the needs of the whole 
household and may refuse to allow them to be included on an application, for 
example if it is unable to meet the need through existing social housing in the 
South Kesteven. The Council may require such non-dependent members of 
the household (including adult children, or extended family members) to apply 
for housing separately.  

 
5.14.3 The Council will allow adult children living with their parents who are serving 

in the armed forces or resident at university to be included on an application. 
In these circumstances their parental home will be considered as their 
principal home.  

 
5.14.4 Where it is determined that an adult child, or other non-dependent is not 

capable of living independently, for example because of a disability or severe 
learning difficulties, family accommodation may be awarded if it benefits the 
wellbeing of the household.  

 
 

60



 
 
 

27 
 

 
 
 
5.15  Family members not resident in the UK  
 
5.15.1 If applicants are applying to include family members who are not living in the 

UK, the application may be registered but the family members will not  be 
considered to be part of the household until the family has been reunited in 
the UK.  

 
5.16  Children in care  
 
5.16.1 Children in compulsory or voluntary care can be included on an application 

subject to written confirmation from social services that the children are to live 
on a permanent basis with the applicant(s).  

 
5.16.2 Households currently undertaking fostering may be able to include foster 

children as part of their application. Written confirmation from social services 
of the fostering arrangement will be required and considered to inform the 
decision.  

 
5.17  Provision / receipt of care  
 
5.17.1 Applicants or applicant household members, who require a full-time 

residential carer which is evidenced by social services or a primary health 
care professional, may include the carer on their application.  

 
5.17.2 People who provide substantial long-term care to another person which 

requires that person to live with an applicant in order to receive the care, may 
include that person on their application. Care needs which cannot be provided 
by visiting carers must be verified by social services. The care needs must be 
substantial, i.e. a need for personal care with basic daily activities (dressing, 
feeding, bathing, toileting), or an inability to live independently certified by a 
medical professional.  

 
5.18  Split and non-traditional households  
 
5.18.1 The Council will consider applications from households where the main and 

joint applicants do not currently reside at the same address, or applications 
from non-traditional households, e.g. friends sharing. In reaching a decision 
whether to accept applications from non-traditional households, the Council 
will consider, amongst other factors, the relationship between applicants and 
the demand for and availability of the property type and size required.  

 
5.18.2 If accepted, both applicants will need to meet the eligibility and qualifying 

criteria and the priority awarded to the application will be based on the 
housing circumstances of the applicant in the highest band.   

 
 
 

61



 
 
 

28 
 

6.      ASSESSMENT OF NEED  
 
6.1 Only applicants who have been assessed as eligible and who qualify will have 

their housing need assessed.  
 
6.2  Reasonable preference  
 
6.2.1 The Council is required by law to determine the relative priority that housing 

applicants are awarded. This is particularly important as the demand for social 
housing is greater than the availability of homes.  

 
6.2.2 The law, as it applies to local housing authorities, requires that reasonable 

preference for housing must be given to those in the categories set out in the 
Housing Act 1996 (as amended). Applicants with reasonable preference must 
be given a reasonable head-start in terms of accessing housing over those 
who do not have reasonable preference. Reasonable preference does not 
mean that applicants will have an absolute priority over all other applicants.  

 
6.2.3 The statutory reasonable preference categories in section 166A (3) (a) to I of 

the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) are: 
a) People who are homeless (within the meaning of Part VII of the 1996 

Act)  
b) People who are owed a duty by any housing authority under section 

190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) of the 1996 Act (or under section 65(2) or 68(2) 
of the Housing Act 1985) or who are occupying accommodation secured 
by any housing authority under section 192(3)  

c) People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living 
in unsatisfactory housing conditions  

d) People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including 
grounds relating to a disability  

e) People who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the 
housing authority, where failure to meet that need would cause hardship 
(to themselves or others).  

 
6.3  Additional preference  
 
6.3.1 The Council can grant ‘additional preference’ to applicants where the Council 

is satisfied that applicants who have been assessed as having a reasonable 
preference also have other exceptional or urgent housing needs. There are 
special provisions for such additional preference in relation to armed forces 
personnel who have urgent housing needs (see section 6.4).  

 
6.4  Other specified groups  
 
6.4.1 The Council includes other local priorities alongside the statutory reasonable 

preference categories. Local priorities can be included providing:  
a) That they do not dominate the housing allocation scheme, and  
b) Overall, the scheme operates to give reasonable preference to those in 

the statutory reasonable preference categories over those who are not  
 

62



 
 
 

29 
 

6.5 THE BANDING SYSTEM  
 
6.5.1 The Council awards each housing application a level of priority for housing using Bands: 1, 2, 3 and 4 (No housing need 
exceptions). Applications in Band 1 have the highest of priority for rehousing.  
 
6.5.2  Band 1  
 
6.5.2.1 The Council will place an application in this band if the applicant’s circumstances fall into one or more of the following 
criteria:  
 

Homelessness  

• S193(2) Main Homeless Duty  
The applicant is homeless and owed a S193(2) Main Homeless Duty because they are assessed as being in a priority need, 
unintentionally homeless and establish a local connection as outlined in Part VII of the Housing Act 1996. There are additional 
rules associated with this band (see section 8.2).  

 

Medical needs  
Examples include:  

• Hospital Discharge  
The applicant or a member of the household cannot be discharged from hospital or a rehabilitation centre because they have no 
accommodation, or their current accommodation has been deemed hazardous to their health and the situation cannot be rectified 
to enable them to continue to live there, and they are accepted by South Kesteven District Council as being able to sustain their 
own independent accommodation (with or without tenancy support).  
 

• Severe Medical Need  
The applicant or a member of the household must have a permanent medical condition or disability AND remaining in the current 
property is a major and direct contributory factor to pose a severe and life-threatening risk to the member of the household. It will 
only apply where the current property cannot be made suitable or adapted within 3 months. It is expected that this criterion 
applies to those few exceptional cases only specifically where:  
 

• A household member is receiving palliative care  

63



 
 
 

30 
 

• A household member is unable to escape their current property in an emergency due to being permanently 
housebound Households will only be considered for properties which meet all their housing needs and improve their 
condition / qualify of life. See section 5.5 for more details regarding medical needs. 

 

Housing conditions/needs 
Examples include:  

• Category 1 Hazard  
The applicant is a private sector, housing association tenant or owner occupier and South Kesteven District Council has 
determined that their current accommodation poses a Category 1 Hazard (excluding overcrowding) under the Housing Health and 
Safety Rating Scheme, the problem cannot be rectified within a reasonable period of time i.e., six months and by continuing to 
live there poses a significant risk to health. 
 

• Major Repairs 
The applicant is a tenant of a social or affordable rented property living in South Kesteven who needs to move because their 
accommodation needs major renovation or extensive repairs. This only applies when all decant options have been exhausted and 
it is deemed that a permanent move is the most cost effective and practical option. 
 

• Demolition  
The applicant needs to move because their home is about to be demolished or redeveloped. This only applies when the 
demolition or redevelopment is beyond the applicant’s control. 
 

• Natural Disaster 
The applicant’s home is uninhabitable due to flood, fire, or natural disaster through no fault of the applicant and there is no 
prospect of the problems being remedied within a reasonable period of time i.e. six months. 
 

• Releasing Adapted Property  
The applicant is occupying a social or affordable rented property in South Kesteven that is either fully wheelchair accessible or 
offers a level access shower/wet room and is willing to transfer to suitable non-adapted accommodation. This band will not apply 
where the adaptation does not offer a realistic solution to others i.e. a level access shower in a first floor flat. 
 
 

64



 
 
 

31 
 

• Releasing Large Family Property  
The applicant is under occupying family sized social or affordable rented accommodation in South Kesteven. Family sized is 
defined as either 3 or 4 bed properties. and is willing to transfer to suitable smaller accommodation. Households awarded this 
band will only be considered for properties that offer fewer bedrooms than their current accommodation. 
 

• Supported Move On (with local authority nomination rights)  
The applicant is ready to move on from an approved supported accommodation provider or care in South Kesteven, where there 
is a formal arrangement in place that enables South Kesteven District Council nomination rights to vacancies. The applicant must 
have been accepted as ready for independent living by a relevant support provider.  
 
This band will not apply to those applicants who do not have sufficient awareness and/or mental capacity to be able to accept and 
manage a tenancy and live in a reasonably independent way. Where the supported accommodation or care is out of South 
Kesteven, this band will not apply, unless the placement in that accommodation was due to it being the only suitable specialist 
placement (e.g., residential care or refuge) available to meet the needs of the applicant at the time, and the applicant has a local 
connection to the South Kesteven housing partnership area. 
 

• Armed Forces 
The applicant or a member of the household has a reasonable preference as a member of the armed forces and an urgent 
housing need. The definition for armed forces is set out in section 4.4. The definition of an urgent housing need for the purpose of 
this criteria is:  
 

• Serving and Former members of the Regular Armed or Reserve Forces, who are suffering from a serious injury, illness 
or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their service.  

• Bereaved spouses or civil partners of those serving in the Regular Forces where (i) the bereaved spouse or civil 
partner has recently ceased, or will cease, to be entitled to reside in Ministry of Defence accommodation following the 
death of their Service spouse or civil partner, and (ii) the death was wholly or partly attributable to their service.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

65



 
 
 

32 
 

Welfare need 
Examples include:  

• Risk of Harm 
The applicant or a member of the household is at serious risk of harm (physical or emotional trauma) resulting from violence or 
threats of violence, or other abuse or serious trauma and needs to relocate to ensure their safety. This will be verified by the 
Police and/or other agencies as necessary. This may include a move to protect a witness of criminal acts under the National 
Witness Mobility Scheme. Any offer of accommodation from this criterion will have restrictions attached in terms of eligible areas 
to minimise any risk as far as is reasonably practical. 
 
  

 
6.5.2.2 Band 1 is only awarded with the documented approval of the Service Manager.  
 
6.5.2.3 In addition to the Band 1 criteria above, the Council may also award Band 1 status to households in emergency 
circumstances not covered by the groups above. In such exceptional circumstances, the Head of Housing Services or their 
delegated representative has discretion to determine whether an applicant has a need to move which is sufficient to warrant placing 
an application in Band 1.  
 
6.5.3  Band 2 
 
6.5.3.1 The Council will place an application in this band if the applicant’s circumstances fall into one or more of the following 
criteria:  
 

Homelessness  

• S189B Relief Duty  
The applicant is homeless and owed a S189B Relief Duty with a local connection to the district. 
 
 
 
 
 

66



 
 
 

33 
 

Medical Needs 
Examples include:  

 

• Current accommodation is unsuitable on medical grounds 
The applicant or a member of the household has a permanent medical condition or disability which is seriously adversely 
affected by their current accommodation. This band will apply in the following circumstances for example:  

• A household member requires ground floor accommodation (or a stairlift) AND requires alternative bathing facilities 
to that in their current accommodation  

• A household member is a permanent wheelchair user and their current property is ground floor with suitable bathing 
facilities, however, it does not have suitable floor space, widened door frames or ramp access and the property 
cannot be made suitable or adapted  

• A household member requires medical equipment supplied by a health authority/hospital and the current 
property/living conditions cannot be altered to make sufficient space (this does not include mobility scooter storage)  

Households will only be considered for properties which meet all their housing needs and improve their 
conditions/quality of life. See section 5.5 for more details regarding medical needs. 

  

Housing Conditions/needs 
Examples include: 

 

• Overcrowding  
The applicant’s household has been assessed as being overcrowded by 2 or more bedrooms  based on the Council’s minimum 
bedroom standard. The minimum bedroom standard (see section 7.2) states that a separate bedroom shall be required for the 
following persons:  

• A single person (sole applicant)  
• A married or co-habiting couple  
• Two children both aged under 10 years regardless of gender  
• Two children of the same gender regardless of age (unless there is a 10-year age gap AND one child is at least 16 
years old) 
 
 
 

67



 
 
 

34 
 

• Under Occupying  
The applicant is under occupying a two or three bedroom social or affordable rented property in South Kesteven and is willing 
to transfer to suitable smaller accommodation. Households awarded this band will only be considered for properties that offer 
fewer bedrooms than their current accommodation. 

 

• Supported Move On  
The applicant is ready to move on from an approved supported accommodation provider or care in South Kesteven, but the 
local authority cannot make use of the supported accommodation that will result from the applicant moving on. The applicant 
must have been accepted as ready for independent living by a relevant support provider. This band will not apply to those 
applicants who do not have sufficient awareness and/or mental capacity to be able to accept and manage a tenancy and live in 
a reasonably independent way.  
 
As well as applying to those in supported accommodation schemes and to young people leaving care who are in local authority 
accommodation, this band criteria also applies to vulnerable applicants who live in a supportive home environment which is not 
sustainable in the medium to long term, for example, a vulnerable applicant who lives with elderly parents who are their carer’s.  
 
Where the supported accommodation or care is outside South Kesteven, this band will not apply, unless the placement in that 
accommodation was due to it being the only suitable specialist placement (e.g. residential care or refuge) available to meet the 
needs of the applicant at the time, and the applicant has a local connection to South Kesteven. 
 

• Successor 
The applicant is a successor or non-statutory successor of social rented accommodation, approved for an offer of alternative 
suitable accommodation. If after six months from the date of qualification as a successor, the applicant has not secured 
alternative accommodation, the Council reserves the right to bid on the applicant’s behalf, or to make a direct offer, to ensure 
that the applicant receives one reasonable offer of accommodation within the twelve-month statutory time limit. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

68



 
 
 

35 
 

Welfare need 
Examples include:  

• Essential Care and Support  
The applicant or a member of their household needs to give or receive essential care and support that is substantial and 
ongoing and that cannot be provided from or in their current accommodation. Applicants must either be in receipt of Carers 
Allowance or have a carer who is in receipt of Carers Allowance or have had an assessment by social services or similar 
support agency, so it can be established that care and/or support is substantial / essential. 
 
  

 
6.5.4    Band 3  

 
6.5.4.1 The Council will place an application in this band if the applicant’s circumstances fall into one of the following criteria:  

 

Homelessness 

• S195 Homeless Prevention Duty  
The applicant is threatened with homelessness and owed a S195 Homeless Prevention Duty with a local connection to the 
district.  
 

• Non-Statutorily Homeless  
The applicant has received a S184 decision finding them to be homeless but have no priority need as outlines in Part VII of the 
Housing Act 1996. 

Medical need 
Examples include: 

• Non-Urgent Medical Need  
The applicant or a member of the household must have a permanent medical condition or disability which is adversely affected 
by their current accommodation. The band may apply in the following circumstances:  

• A household member requires either ground floor accommodation (or a stairlift) OR requires alternative bathing 
facilities to that available in their current accommodation  

69



 
 
 

36 
 

• A household member is currently receiving ongoing treatment from primary and secondary mental health services for a 
diagnosed mental health condition which is made worse by their current accommodation, and would be resolved by 
moving to alternative accommodation  

Households will only be considered for properties which meet all their housing needs and improve their conditions/quality 
of life. See section 5.5 for more details regarding medical needs. 

Housing condition/needs 

• Low Level Overcrowding  
The applicant’s household has been assessed as having a low level of overcrowding defined as:  

• Requiring an additional bedspace within a bedroom  
• Having two children of the same gender sharing a bedroom and - there is at least a 10-year age gap between the 

children; or - one child is at least 16 years old for the purposes of assessing overcrowding, single parents are 
regarded as requiring 1 bedspace and can utilise a single bedroom.  

 

• Sharing with Others (with Dependents)  
The applicant’s household has at least one dependent child or a pregnant woman with a confirmed due date, sharing 

accommodation with their family or another household and is otherwise adequately housed. 

Welfare need 
Examples include 

• Ongoing Care and Support  
The applicant or a member of their household needs to give or receive care and support that is ongoing and that cannot be 
provided from or in their current accommodation. Ongoing care and/or support does not have to be substantial in that applicants 
may not be in receipt of qualifying care benefits or have social services involvement. It may include practical and/or emotional 
support that is essential to the physical or mental wellbeing of the person receiving the care/support.  
 

• Employment Hardship / Right to Move 
The applicant or a member of the household needs to move in order to take up or continue permanent employment in South 
Kesteven for 16 hours a week or more, and to avoid hardship. Hardship as a result of employment includes commuting 
distance, the availability and affordability of transport and other factors such as medical conditions or childcare. A commute 
between home and work of 60 minutes each way is considered reasonable. The applicant’s circumstances must be able to be 
improved to qualify under this criterion. 

 

70



 
 
 

37 
 

 
6.5.5  Band 4  

 
6.5.5.1 The Council will place an application in band 4 if the applicant’s circumstances fall into one of the following criteria:  

 

Homelessness 

• Intentionally homeless 
The applicant has received a S184 decision finding them to be homeless but intentionally so within the definition of the Housing 
Act 1996, Part 7 as amended 2002.  
 

• S195 Homeless Prevention Duty  
The applicant is threatened with homelessness and owed a S195 Homeless Prevention Duty but deemed to have worsened 
their housing circumstances and/or do not establish a local connection to South Kesteven as outlined in Part VII of the Housing 
Act 1996. 
 

• S189B Relief Duty  
The applicant is homelessness and owed a S195 Homeless Relief Duty but deemed to have worsened their housing 
circumstances and/or do not establish a local connection to South Kesteven as outlined in Part VII of the Housing Act 1996. 

Housing need 
Examples include:  

• Sharing with Others (without Dependents)  
The applicant (or a couple) has no dependents and is sharing accommodation with their family or another household and is 
otherwise adequately housed. This will also apply when applicants have experienced a relationship breakdown where a move 
would prevent the homelessness of any dependent children. 

• Local Connection to a S106/Village Exception Site  
The applicant has no housing need but establishes a local connection to a S106 or village exception site whether the 
connection is to the specific village where the development is located, or a neighbouring  village. Local connection to such sites 
will be verified at the point of application and at the point of nomination. 
 
 
 

71



 
 
 

38 
 

Welfare need  
Examples include: 

• Seeking Sheltered 
The applicant and any other members of their household have no housing need but are eligible to be considered for, and are 
seeking, sheltered, supported, or assisted living accommodation. The applicant’s current housing tenure will determine which 
property type they are eligible for. Homeowners are exempt from bidding for sheltered bungalows and are eligible for properties 
in sheltered housing complexes only. See section 4.3 for further details on homeowners. 

 
6.6 Disqualification of Housing Register Application  

 
6.6.1 Once we have assessed an applicant’s priority for rehousing, the Council may suspend the application if the applicant or a 

member of their household has done something that has deliberately made their housing circumstances worse. The 
applicant’s application may be suspended if they have:  
a) Abandoned or terminated previous accommodation without securing suitable alternative accommodation first  
b) Sold a property or given notice on a tenancy without securing alternative accommodation first  
c) Accepted a property owned by a South Kesteven housing landlord which the applicant now claims is unsuitable 

despite there being no change to their circumstances  
d) Moved into accommodation which is unaffordable when being aware of the associated financial implications  
e) Previously had their application cancelled for failing to bid  
f) Been found to have deliberately disposed of assets or capital that would have enabled them to secure suitable 

accommodation  
g) Ending of any homeless duty due to a deliberate and unreasonable refusal to cooperate  

 
6.6.2 There may be other circumstances where an applicant has moved to new accommodation that is ‘worse’ than their 

previous accommodation and where this appears to be without good reason. South Kesteven District Council will consider 
the facts of such cases on an individual basis to determine whether an applicant’s decision to move accommodation was 
made solely or largely in order to acquire a housing need for the purposes of securing accommodation via the housing 
allocation scheme. Decisions to move from suitable accommodation into accommodation that is overcrowded, insecure or 
lacks basic amenities for example, will be scrutinised.  

 
6.6.3 When a decision is made to suspend the application, the Council will suspend for a period of twelve months from the date 

of the decision. Applicants may ask for a review of this decision.  

72



 
 
 

39 
 

 
6.7 Effective date  
 
6.7.1 The ‘effective date’ is used to prioritise between applicants within the same band. The ‘effective date’ of an application is 

normally the date that a complete application is accepted onto the housing register. If there is a change in circumstances 
after initial registration, then the application will be reassessed, and the applicant may:  

 

Change in circumstances Effective date 

Gain greater priority and be placed in 
a higher priority band.  

The date at which the higher band applies will be used 

Be assessed as being in the same 
band. 

The original effective date will be used 

Lose priority due to their 
circumstances and be placed in a 
lower priority band  

The original effective date will be used  
 

Become ineligible or may no longer 
qualify for an allocation. 

The application will be removed from the housing register. Applicants may reapply at 
a later date if circumstances change and a new effective date will then apply.  

73



 
 
 

40 
 

 
7. ALLOCATING PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY ELIGIBILITY  
 
7.1  Statement of Choice  
 
7.1.1 The Council operates a Choice Based Lettings system. To support choice, 

available social and affordable rented housing vacancies within the South 
Kesteven local authority area will be advertised on South Kesteven housing 
website. Applicants can register a bid for properties that are deemed suitable 
for their needs. There are some circumstances in which this will not apply, 
and the Council will restrict access to bidding, make bids on behalf of an 
applicant, or make direct offers.  

 
7.1.2 Private landlords are committed to offering the greatest choice possible in the 

allocation of social and affordable rented housing within South Kesteven. The 
amount of choice that the Council can offer is limited by the fact that the 
demand for social housing in South Kesteven, far outstrips supply, and the 
legal responsibilities owed to some groups of applicants in housing need.  

 
7.1.3 The amount of choice available to applicants will also be affected by the 

priority given to applicants under the scheme, the type of property the 
applicant is eligible for, and the availability of suitable properties. The Council 
will aid applicants with identified support needs in using the Choice Based 
Lettings system.  

 
7.1.4 Where an applicant is on multiple shortlists, the Council reserves the right to 

determine which property is offered to an applicant.  
 
7.2  Household composition  
 
7.2.1 The size and type of property for which applicants are eligible will depend on 

the individual household composition and needs.  
 

7.2.2 If an applicant’s household composition or circumstances fall outside the rules 
detailed in this section, a senior housing officer will determine what size and 
type of property the household is eligible for. Circumstances where this might 
apply include where there is an evidenced need for an additional bedroom on 
urgent medical grounds, to discharge homelessness duties and make best 
use of stock.  

 
7.2.3 As a minimum, the applicant’s household is entitled to one bedroom each for: 

a) A single person (sole applicant)  
b) A married or co-habiting couple  
c) Two children both aged under 10 years regardless of gender  
d) Two children of the same gender regardless of age (unless there is a 10-

year age gap AND one child is at least 16 years old)  
 
7.2.4 This is referred to as the Council’s minimum bedroom standard. Some 

applicants will also be eligible to bid for properties that offer an additional 

74



 
 
 

41 
 

bedroom to the minimum entitlement detailed above, although they will 
receive a lower preference for this larger accommodation.  

 
7.2.5 The table below explains what size properties applicants can bid for:  

 

 Minimum bedroom entitlement Maximum bedroom entitlement 

Single person 0 (bedsit) 2 

Couple 1 2 

1 child 2 2 

2 children  2 or 3 3 

3 children  3 or 4* 3 or 4* 

4 children  3 or 4 or 5* 4 or 5* 

*depending on the age and gender of the children – see rules above  
 
7.2.6 For the purposes of property eligibility, the term ‘children’ refers to both 

dependent and nondependent children. Extended family members that are 
considered as members of the applicant household (e.g., stepsiblings, 
cousins) are expected to share bedrooms.  

 
7.3  Pregnancy  
 
7.3.1 Households assessed as having a housing need who are expecting their first 

child will only be considered for family accommodation once the pregnancy 
has 20 weeks, however a common sense approach will be adopted. Similarly, 
households assessed as having a housing need who are expecting a child will 
have their property eligibility reassessed once the pregnancy has reached its 
third trimester (27 weeks).  

 
7.3.2 Households who are otherwise adequately housed will not incur a housing 

need because of pregnancy. An assessment of housing need will be carried 
out once the baby is born.  

 
7.4  Family accommodation  

 
7.4.1 Family accommodation is defined as a house, or a flat offering 2 or more 

bedrooms with its own garden.  
 

7.4.2 Households only containing adult children, and/or other non-dependents are 
not eligible to be considered for family accommodation except in exceptional 
circumstances, for example, they require disabled adapted accommodation 
and their need can only be met with an offer of adapted family 
accommodation, or where it is determined that the adult children are not 
capable of living independently because of a severe learning disability and 
would benefit from a garden.  

 
7.4.3 Where a three-bedroom property offers two reception rooms, this is referred 

to as a parlour type property. Households with a minimum need for 3 or 4 
bedrooms are eligible to bid for parlour-type properties. Households with a 

75



 
 
 

42 
 

minimum 4-bedroom need can utilise the second reception room as a fourth 
bedroom.  

 
7.4.4  Where applicants are occupying and wish to downsize from a property in high 

demand and/or short supply such as 3-bed parlour, 4 bed or 5 bed social / 
affordable rented property, they may be able to bid for properties larger than 
that defined in section 7.2. Such decisions will be made by the Service 
Manager.  

 
7.5  Adapted Properties  
 
7.5.1 Properties advertised on South Kesteven housing may have the following 

adaptations:  
a) Full Mobility Adaptations  
b) Wet room  
c) Level Access Shower  
d) Stairlift  
e) External Ramp  
f) Shower Over Bath  
g) Minor Adaptations  
h) Lift  

 
7.5.2 Where a property has been adapted, the Council reserves the right to let the 

property directly rather than advertising on South Kesteven housing in the first 
instances. This is in order to make best use of specialist social housing stock.  

 
7.5.3 Where an adapted property is advertised on South Kesteven housing, 

households with a need for all the adaptations and who will utilise all other 
property attributes will be identified via a filtering process first. If no household 
meets this criterion, the Council will filter the shortlist according to which 
household will make best use of the adaptations and/or other attributes (such 
as utilising all the bedrooms) taking into consideration band and effective 
date.  

 
7.5.4 This may mean a household requiring a three-bedroom family home is offered 

a three-bedroom house with a wet room over a household requiring a two-
bedroom property with a wet room.  

 
7.5.5 Properties situated on the ground floor with an adaptation will first and 

foremost be offered to households requiring ground floor accommodation due 
to a disability.  

 
7.6  Bungalows  
 
7.6.1 General need bungalows (not sheltered accommodation) offering no 

adaptations have a minimum age preference of 60 years of age applied in the 
first instance. Such properties will be allocated in the following order:  
a) Households over 60 years of age with a ground floor need  
b) Households of any age with a ground floor need  
c) Households over 60 without a ground floor need  

76



 
 
 

43 
 

 
7.6.2 General need bungalows (not sheltered accommodation) offering disabled 

adaptations will be allocated in the following order:  
a) Households of any age with a ground floor need requiring adaptations  
b) Households over 60 years of age with a ground floor need  
c) Households of any age with a ground floor need  
d) Households over 60 without a ground floor need  

 
7.6.3 Where there are joint applicants, the minimum age preference of 60 years 

referred to in this section need only apply to one applicant. For example, if an 
application is received from a couple with one individual aged under 60 years 
and one individual over 60 years, these joint applicants will be eligible to 
receive a preference for general need bungalows as described in this section.  

 
7.7  Sheltered accommodation  
 
7.7.1 Sheltered accommodation is usually only available to older people with a 

support need. Dependent on the sheltered scheme the advert may stipulate 
an age criterion. While sheltered housing provides some support, it is not 
suitable for people with high care and support needs. Sheltered housing is a 
form of independent living, so residents must be able to leave the building 
unaided in the event of an emergency.  

 
7.7.2 Depending on an applicant’s circumstances, some applicants such as 

homeowners and those with no housing need are restricted to bidding for 
properties in sheltered housing complexes only. See sections 4.3 and 6.8 for 
more information.  

 
7.7.3 Applicants who bid for sheltered accommodation will be subject to further 

eligibility assessments conducted by the specific landlord / provider if they are 
nominated for sheltered accommodation. This is to check factors such as 
support needs, suitability and risk issues in line with the individual provider’s 
policies. Landlords of sheltered accommodation reserve the right to refuse 
nominations if their criteria are not met – see section 8.3 for more information.  

 
7.8  Not offering a tenancy to the highest bidder  
 
7.8.1 The Council has discretion not to offer a tenancy to the highest bidder for 

advertised properties when taking all circumstances into account. This 
discretion may be exercised when the Council decides that it would not be in 
the interest of the applicant, another party, or the good management of the 
housing stock to do so.  

 
7.8.2 Examples where this may happen include:  

a) Where there is a history of domestic abuse and the property is deemed by 
the Council to be too close to the perpetrator so as not to resolve the 
applicant’s housing need  

b) Where the Council deems there to be implications for community safety as 
defined in section 4.10  

77



 
 
 

44 
 

c) Where the applicant cannot access or adequately use the property 
because of mobility problems, in particular where their health and safety 
would be endangered  

d) Where on completion of a financial assessment, the South Kesteven 
private landlord and Council has determined that the property would be 
unaffordable to the applicant  

e) Where an offer of accommodation would be counter to an applicant’s 
stated housing need. For example, where an applicant is awarded priority 
due to a need to move to a particular area to provide / receive care and 
support, they will not be considered for areas that do not resolve this 
housing need  

f) Where an applicant’s individual support needs are such that they are likely 
to severely impact upon other residents in a housing scheme and affect a 
landlord’s ability to manage the applicant’s needs / risk within that scheme.  

 
7.9  Direct offers  
 
7.9.1 In some circumstances, the Council will not advertise available properties on 

South Kesteven housing register. Instead, a direct offer of accommodation 
may be made to an applicant. Any direct offer will constitute a formal and 
suitable offer, and if refused will be subject to the same sanctions for refusal 
as set out in section 8.4.  

 
7.9.2 Decisions regarding direct offers will be made by two senior housing officers. 

A senior housing officer is defined in the glossary. The circumstances in which 
direct offers may be made include:  
a) Where the Council considers that it is inappropriate for the applicant to 

participate in choice-based lettings. For example, applicants who are 
placed in South Kesteven through the National Witness Mobility Scheme 
or are subject to Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA). 
In these cases, applicants are considered on a case-by-case basis, and 
the full range of housing options will be considered.  

b) Where the Council makes a direct offer by way of discharging a housing 
duty.  

c) This may include but is not limited to statutory homeless households.  
d) Where it is necessary for the Council or a private landlord to move 

(decant) one of its tenants on a permanent basis in order to carry out 
major modernisation or rehabilitation works to the property.  

e) Where it is necessary for the Council to provide an alternative property to 
a successor tenant within the 12-month statutory time limit.  

f) Where a joint social tenant has given notice to quit, and the property is 
suitable for the remaining tenant to continue to occupy and this allocation 
is supported by the landlord.  

g) Where the property offers a specialist housing solution and/or is in 
particularly short supply e.g., large properties / disabled adapted 
properties  

h) In cases where South Kesteven District Council or a private landlord 
requests an urgent move due to serious antisocial behaviour issues that 
cannot be resolved via any other housing management intervention  

78



 
 
 

45 
 

i) Where the Council considers it necessary to suspend choice-based 
lettings for a period of time, for example due to a public health emergency 
or another similarly significant event. Such decisions will be taken by the 
Head of Housing Services, or an officer of equivalent or higher seniority 
within the Senior Housing Management Team.  

j) Any other circumstance that enables the Council to make best use of 
housing stock and/or to respond to emerging local housing needs  

 
7.10  Local Lettings Policies  
 
7.10.1 South Kesteven District Council may from time to time agree a local lettings 

policy for specific areas or developments to reflect local circumstances. Local 
lettings policies allow the Council to support communities to become or 
remain safe, cohesive communities where people want to live.  

 
7.10.2 Some local lettings policies giving a preference to residents with a local 

connection to a specific town or village may also be applied. This is usually 
because there is a legal requirement to do so as a result of the original 
planning consent for the property. Advertisements for these properties will 
highlight that preference will be given to applicants who fulfil the criteria set 
out in the legal agreement.  

 
7.10.3 For existing communities, any local lettings policy will be drawn up in 

consultation with existing tenants and residents and will have regard to 
housing management considerations such as the social mix of tenants, 
density, age range, vulnerability of tenants, for example, because of 
insufficient facilities for vulnerable people, as well as community stability.  

 
7.10.4 Once implemented, local lettings policies will remain in force for a fixed period 

specified within the policy. Upon expiry, the allocation of properties in the area 
will be made in accordance with the normal housing allocation scheme, 
unless there is an evidenced need for a further local lettings policy.  

 
7.10.5 Any local lettings policies in place will be advertised in the property advert on 

South Kesteven housing. Please see the South Kesteven housing website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk for current local lettings policies applicable in 
South Kesteven. 

 
7.11  Property advert details  
 
7.11.1 To help applicants choose the properties that would best suit their needs, 

South Kesteven District Council will advertise all properties with information 
on size, location and property features. The adverts will also include:  
a) At least one image of the front of the property  
b) Which South Kesteven private landlord owns the property  
c) Weekly rent and any other applicable charges  
d) If known, an estimated date that the property will be available to move in to  
e) The closing date for applicants to express an interest  

79



 
 
 

46 
 

f) Other available information such as the type of heating supply, 
adaptations, number of steps leading to the property, priority floor level 
and restrictions on pets  

g) Whether a local lettings policy is applicable  
 
7.11.2 At times, similar properties may be grouped together and advertised with one 

property identification number. In these cases, applicants only have to 
express an interest once to cover all the properties grouped within the 
adverts. This may happen when advertising a new build development which 
includes a number of the same size and type of property.  

 
8. MANAGEMENT OF SCHEME  
 
8.1  Bidding and Auto bidding  
 
8.1.1 Most applicants on the housing register are entitled to select which properties 

they will bid for. However, applicants are expected to place bids regularly. If 
bids have not been placed within a six-month period and suitable properties 
have been advertised during this time, their housing application may be 
closed.  

 
8.2 Band 1 applicants  
 
8.2.1 Applicants awarded Band 1 priority will receive additional support to ensure a 

timely resolution of their emergency housing needs. All applications accepted 
as Band 1 have their choice removed and are placed onto Auto bid (note 
additional duties owed to homeless households detailed in Section 8.2).  

 
8.2.2 Auto bid means that the South Kesteven housing system software will place 

bids on an applicant’s behalf. The system places bids on suitable properties 
which provide the best possible chance of a nomination i.e. the best queue 
position as at the end of the bidding cycle. Auto bids are placed at one-minute 
past midnight at the end of the bidding cycle once all other bids have been 
placed.  

 
8.2.3 To inform the auto bid process, Band 1 applicants may be required to provide 

additional evidence to ensure that the auto bid functionality is able to provide 
a suitable accommodation offer in terms of property attributes and 
geographical area.  

 
8.2.4 Any successful bid will be classed as a formal offer of accommodation and the 

refusal sanctions set out in section 8.4 will apply.  
 

8.2.5 The table below summarises the bidding mechanism and number of bids that 
different categories of applicants are entitled to:  

 

Band and criteria Bidding mechanism Number of bids 
per cycle 

Band 1, 2 and 3 where a 
Statutory homeless duty is owed 

Auto bid (no choice)  
 

Up to 5 

80



 
 
 

47 
 

(main duty, prevention and relief 
duties) 

Band 1 where a statutory 
homeless duty is not owed 

Auto bid (no choice) Up to 3 

Bands 2, 3 and 4 Manual bidding – Choice Up to 3 

 
8.3  Households owed a Homeless Duty  
 
8.3.1 The Housing Act 1996 as amended permits South Kesteven District Council 

to end any homeless duty by providing one offer of suitable accommodation of 
any tenure to homeless households. This includes a Private Rented Sector 
Offer (PRSO) that the Council deems to be suitable with a fixed term of at 
least 12 months.  

 
8.3.2 All applications accepted as being owed a homeless duty have their choice 

removed and are placed onto ‘auto bid’. This is to ensure the Council prevents 
and relieves homelessness where possible at the earliest opportunity.  

 
8.3.3 If an applicant believes any final offer to be unsuitable, they are entitled to ask 

for a review. The applicant may ask for a review whether or not they accept 
the final offer of accommodation, but the Council may require the household 
to vacate any temporary accommodation provided whilst the review is 
conducted. Any applicant considering refusing a final offer should first discuss 
this with a Homelessness Prevention Officer.  

 
8.3.4 When reviewing a final offer and before making a final decision, the Council 

will check that:  
a) The property is the right size and type for the applicant’s household  
b) The property is safe for the applicant’s household to live in  
c) The property is affordable for the applicant  
d) Consideration has been given to the location of the property  
e) Consideration has been given to any special needs the applicant and their 

household members may have  
f) Consideration is given to any other relevant circumstances that the 

applicant has told the Council about  
 
8.3.5 A failure to engage in the nomination, viewing, or verification process which 

results in a property offer being withdrawn, will be regarded as an implied 
refusal of a final offer.  

 
8.3.6 Applicants owed a statutory homeless duty (main duty, prevention duty or 

relief duty) will receive up to five auto bids per cycle whilst all other 
households will receive three bids.  

 
8.3.7 Where applicants may be successful on more than one property shortlist the 

Housing Options team will determine which property will constitute the 
applicant’s final offer. This is likely to be based on the individual 
circumstances of the applicant, which property is ready to let soonest and/or a 
decision that allows the council to maximise the number of allocations to 
homeless households in that cycle  

81



 
 
 

48 
 

 
8.4  Offers  
 
8.4.1 If applicants are successful with a bid, they will be contacted by the South 

Kesteven Housing team directly. If the Council is unable to contact an 
applicant within 24 hours they will no longer be considered for the property 
and will be bypassed on the shortlist.  

 
8.4.2 If an applicant verbally accepts the offer, the South Kesteven private landlord 

that owns the property will then contact the successful applicant with details of 
the potential offer. Each South Kesteven Housing landlord may have a 
different process that they follow.  

 
8.4.3 All South Kesteven private landlords reserve the right to:  

a) Request suitable identification for all household members  
b) Carry out checks on the information the applicants have provided as part 

of the South Kesteven housing application. Usual checks include whether 
the applicants have rent arrears or criminal convictions. If the applicant’s 
circumstances have changed and they did not inform the Council of the 
change(s), they may not receive an offer until the changes have been fully 
assessed  

c) Withdraw an offer if checks reveal issues that are not included in the South 
Kesteven housing application  

d) Withdraw an offer of sheltered accommodation if an applicant does not 
meet the landlord’s own eligibility criteria  

e) Withdraw an offer if a notice to vacate a property is withdrawn or the 
property becomes unavailable for letting  

f) Withdraw an offer if verification checks confirm that the applicant(s) would 
be a nonqualifying person  

g) Carry out a financial assessment of the household to establish if the rental 
payments will be affordable  

h) Withdraw an offer if, following a financial assessment, it is established that 
the household cannot afford the required rental payments  

i) Carry out a property inspection of the household’s current home  
j) Withdraw an offer if the applicant has failed a property inspection  
k) Withdraw a property from advertisement if advertised incorrectly  
l) Request up to 4 weeks rent in advance  
m) Request rent payments are paid by direct debit only  
n) Request the applicant(s) complete a tenancy workshop / pre-tenancy 

training or equivalent  
 
8.4.4 Applicants must tell the South Kesteven private landlords whether they wish 

to accept an offer of a tenancy. The time limit for responding to offers may 
differ between landlords. If the applicant does not contact the landlord or the 
Housing Options Team within the timescale given, the Council will assume 
that the applicant does not wish to accept the tenancy and the offer will be 
withdrawn.  

 
 
 

82



 
 
 

49 
 

8.5  Refusals  
 
8.5.1 There are special suitability/refusal rules that apply to applicants where the 

Council has accepted a homeless duty (see Section 8.2).  
 
8.5.2 All other applicants are entitled to: 

a) place up to three bids per bidding cycle  
b) refuse one suitable offer of accommodation without any sanctions  

 
8.5.3 Applicants who refuse two offers of suitable accommodation within any 12-

month period will fail to qualify for the South Kesteven housing register. For 
the purposes of this scheme, an offer of accommodation can include a formal 
written offer of accommodation from a South Kesteven private landlord or a 
verbal offer of a nomination from the South Kesteven Housing Options team. 
In the case of joint applications, the main or joint applicant can refuse the 
offer, and this will constitute as a refusal (i.e. agreement of both is not 
required).  

 
8.5.4 A failure to engage in the nomination, viewing, or verification process which 

results in a property offer being withdrawn, will be regarded as a refusal for 
the purposes of this section, albeit an implied refusal.  

 
8.5.5 All applicants that refuse their final offer of accommodation will not qualify for 

the South Kesteven housing register for a period of 12 months. The Council 
may consider a re-application within the 12-month non-qualifying period if 
there has been a significant change in their circumstances through no fault of 
their own which adversely affects the household or would otherwise result in 
the housing band increasing.  

 
8.6  Landlord Rejection  
 
8.6.1 In some circumstances landlords may refuse to offer a tenancy to a 

nominated applicant in accordance with their own policies. If a landlord rejects 
an applicant, they will inform the applicant in writing how they have reached 
decision and if the applicant wishes this to be reviewed, the applicant or their 
representative must make a written request directly to the landlord concerned 
within 21 days of receipt of the decision. Contact details can be found in 
Appendix C.  

 
9. THE APPLICANTS RIGHT TO A REVIEW  
 
9.1 The Housing Act 1996, as amended by the Homelessness Act  2002, gives 

applicants the right to ask for a review if the Council decides not to allow the 
applicant to join the South Kesteven housing register or makes any decision 
that affects their housing application.  

 
9.2 Any applicants who believe they meet an alternative band must submit a 

banding review request in writing explaining the reasons they believe they 
meet an alternative band. This will be reviewed by an officer senior to that of 
the original decision maker.  

83



 
 
 

50 
 

 
9.3  To request a review of the outcome of a South Kesteven housing 

application  
 
9.3.1 The applicant, or the applicant’s representative, must make a request to the 

Service Manager at South Kesteven District Council in writing within 21 days 
of receiving a written decision. The applicant, or the applicant’s 
representative, may give the reasons for requesting a review in person, if it is 
difficult to tell the Council these reasons in writing.  

 
9.4  The decision about a review  
 
9.4.1 The Service Manager will review the decision and consider the reasons for 

the review being requested. A decision on the review will be based on the 
known facts at the time of the review. In some cases, the Service Manager 
may need to request more information from the applicant to inform a decision 
which will be made in line with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  

 
9.4.2 The Service Manager will provide the applicant with written confirmation of the 

outcome of the review and reasons for the decision within eight weeks of the 
request for the review. A longer period may be agreed with the applicant. The 
Council’s decision on review is final and can only be challenged by way of a 
judicial review.  

 
9.5  To request a review of a South Kesteven private landlord rejection of a 

nomination  
 
9.5.1 In some circumstances, South Kesteven private landlords may refuse 

applicants the offer of a tenancy. Reasons for this may include if an applicant 
fails the verification checks or it is demonstrated that the applicant cannot 
afford the rental payments following a financial assessment conducted by the 
landlord. If an applicant wishes for this decision to be reviewed, the applicant 
or the applicant’s representative must make the request in writing direct to the 
given South Kesteven housing landlord within 21 days of receiving their 
written decision.  

 
9.6  Compliments, Comments and Complaints  
 
9.6.1 Applicants who wish to give a compliment, comment, or complain about South 

Kesteven District Council should use the contact 01476406080 or email 
customerservies@southkesteven.gov.uk 

9.6.2 South Kesteven District Council’s Customer Compliments, Comments and 
Complaints policy is available at www.southkesteven.gov.uk  

9.6.3 Applicants who remain unhappy can make a complaint to the Local 
Government Ombudsman or the Independent Housing Ombudsman.  

 
9.6.4 They are independent services run by central government to make sure that 

local authorities and housing providers provide a certain standard of service to 
their customers (see below for contact details). 
 

84

mailto:customerservies@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 
 
 

51 
 

9.6.5 The Local Government Ombudsman for complaints about councils  

• Local Government Ombudsman  
PO Box 4771  
Coventry  
CV4 0EH  

• Telephone: 0300 061 0614  

• Website: www.lgo.org.uk  
 

9.6.6 The Independent Housing Ombudsman for complaints about Registered 
Providers (RPs) 

• Housing Ombudsman Service  
Exchange Tower  
Harbour Exchange Square  
London  
E14 9GE  

• Telephone: 0300 111 3000  

• Email: info@housing-ombudsman.org.uk  

• Website: www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk  
 
 
10. GENERAL PROVISIONS  
 
10.1  Data Protection and Information Sharing  
 
10.1.1 The General Data Protection Regulations 2018 (GDPR) and the Data 

Protection Act 2018 (known as information legislation) provide a statutory 
framework which sets out the responsibilities of the Council as a data 
controller when it is collecting and processing applicants’ personal data. It 
also defines applicants’ rights in relation to their data and provides them with 
control over how their information is used in various circumstances.  

 
10.1.2 The Council will, through appropriate management, ensure compliance with 

information legislation, the Housing Act (1996), and the Council’s Privacy and 
Data Protection Policies. More information on the Council’s data protection 
and privacy policies can be found at www.southkesteven.gov.uk. The Council 
will process applicants’ data within the confines of the law and will only share 
applicants’ data where there is a lawful basis to do so.  

 
10.1.3 Below are the seven key data protection principles that will be followed when 

processing personal data. Applicants’ personal information will be:  
a) Processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner  
b) Collected for a specified, explicit and legitimate purpose and not further 

processed in a manner that is incompatible with that purpose  
c) Adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary  
d) Accurate and kept up to date  
e) Not kept for longer than is necessary  
f) Processed securely, using technical and organisation measures  
g) The Council will demonstrate accountability with principle  

 

85

http://www.lgo.org.uk/
mailto:info@housing-ombudsman.org.uk
http://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/


 
 
 

52 
 

10.1.4 The information that the Council collects from applicant’s, together with 
information that is gathered from third parties during an application will be 
used to assess and administer a request for housing. Applicants’ 
information may also be used for other purposes where the law permits 
such as those relating to child protection, public protection, and preventing 
and/or detecting fraud or other criminal activities. The privacy notice for the 
housing register can be found on the Council’s website at 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk.  

 
10.1.5 Applicants have the right to access their personal data processed by the 

Council including electronic and hard copy files. Applicant’s personal data 
is information that relates to an applicant as an identifiable individual.  

 
10.2     Fraudulent Activity and withholding Information  

 
10.2.1 Applicants must supply full information about their circumstances and must 

provide supporting evidence where required to do so. It is a criminal 
offence for applicants and/or anyone providing information in relation to this 
scheme to knowingly or recklessly make false statements or knowingly 
withhold reasonably requested information relevant to their application 
(section 171, Housing Act 1996). An offence is also committed if a third 
party provides false information whether or not on the instigation of the 
applicant. This would apply at any stage of the application process.  

 
10.2.2 Where there is suspicion or an allegation that a person has either provided 

false information or has withheld information, the application will be 
excluded from being considered for offers during the investigation and until 
an outcome is reached.  

 
10.2.3 In addition, the Council reserves the right to take legal action including 

prosecution under any relevant legislation including fraud where it 
possesses the evidence. If the outcome of any investigation is that an 
applicant did not provide false information or did not withhold information or 
was not found to be withheld knowingly, then the application will be 
reinstated from the date of registration, meaning the relevant applicant 
should not suffer prejudice.  

 
10.2.4 If the Council determines that an applicant directly, or through a person 

acting on his or her behalf, has given false information or withheld required 
information it may result in an applicant being disqualified from an 
allocation.  

 
10.2.5 Ground 5 in Schedule 2 of the Housing Act 1985 (as amended by the 1996 

Act, S146) enables the landlord to seek possession of a property where it 
has been granted as a result of a false statement by either the tenant or a 
person acting at the tenant’s instigation. Where this is the case, the Council 
will actively pursue recovery of possession.  

 
10.3  Councillors, board members, employees and their close relatives  

 

86



 
 
 

53 
 

10.3.1 Councillors, board members and employees of South Kesteven District 
Council, landlords and their close relatives, can apply to the Housing 
Register. However, applicants must make their position or relationship with 
the Council known at the point of application. If the applicant does not do 
this and it is discovered later that such a relationship exists, the 
application/tenancy may be adversely affected. Applicants who declare an 
interest will neither be advantaged nor disadvantaged.  

 
10.3.2 Any application assessment, banding decision or allocation of 

accommodation must be done with prior approval from the Head of 
Housing. 

 
10.4     Equality and Diversity  

 
10.4.1 South Kesteven District Council and partner landlords are committed to 

promoting equality of opportunity in housing services. We aim to 
implement, maintain and deliver quality services which ensure that no 
potential or current applicant is treated less favourably on the grounds of 
gender, marital status, race, nationality, ethnic or national origin, disability, 
age, or sexual orientation, nor is disadvantaged by the application of a rule, 
condition, or requirement, which has a discriminatory effect which cannot 
be justified by law. Allocations will only be made to those persons who are 
eligible.  

 
10.4.2 The policy fully complies with the Equality Act 2010 and an Equality Impact 

Assessment has been undertaken and is available to view on the Council’s 
website. For more information on South Kesteven District Council’s 
Equalities policy and scheme, please visit www.southkesteven.gov.uk.   

 
10.5    Monitoring of the scheme  

 
10.5.1 The Council recognises that it is important for applicants for housing and 

the wider community to understand how social housing is allocated and 
who is getting social housing. Therefore, information on the Housing 
Register and lettings outcomes will be published and made available on the 
South Kesteven District Council website.  

 
10.5.2 The Council will also regularly monitor to ensure that the scheme remains 

relevant and continues to prioritise the allocation of affordable rented 
housing to those people in the most need. Reviews of this policy will be 
undertaken by the Council annually in response to any policy issues 
identified and/or changes in legislation / national guidance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

87

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 
 
 

54 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

88



 
 
 

55 
 

APPENDIX A : PROPERTY ELIGIBILITY TABLE  
 

Please note:  

• If a households circumstances do not fit any of the 
criteria outlined in this matrix, the Service Manger will 
decide what size and type the household will be 
eligible for 

• Applicants bidding for a property with more bedrooms 
than their minimum need will receive a reduced 
preference 

• Applicants that will be under occupying any property 
defined in this matrix can be refused on the grounds 
of affordability. See section 5.4 for further information 

• Whilst households expecting their first child can bid for 
family accommodation, this will only apply from their 
third trimester of the pregnancy (27 weeks). See 
section 7.3 for further information 

• Bungalows may have additional age or disabled 
adaptation eligibility restrictions. See section 7.6 for 
further information.     

B
S

 

1
B

B
 

1
B

F
 

1
B

H
 

2
B

B
 

2
B

F
 

2
B

F
G

 

2
B

H
 

3
B

B
 

3
B

F
/M

 

2
B

P
H

 

4
B

H
 

4
B

F
/M

 

5
B

H
 

Single person  X X X X X X         

Couple without children  X X X X X X         

Household expecting their first child      X X X X       

Household with 1 child      X X X X       

Household with 2 children      X X X X X X X    

Household with 3 children          X X X    

Household with 4 children          X X X X   

Household with 5 children or more             X X X 

 
 
 

89



 
 
 

56 
 

APPENDIX B: GLOSSARY 
 

Adaptations Adjustments to a property to assist a disabled member of the 
household access the property or facilities such as a stair lift, 
wet room, level access shower or ramp.  

Affordable Rent  Rented housing let by Registered Providers of social housing to 
households who are eligible for social housing. Affordable Rent 
is not subject to the national rent regime but is subject to other 
rent controls that require a rent of no more than 80% of the 
local market rent.  

Applicant A person who applies to go on the South Kesteven Housing 
Register. 

Autobid Homeless households and Band 1 applicants are placed on 
Autobid. Autobid means that the South Kesteven system 
software will place bids on suitable properties which provide the 
best possible choice of a nomination i.e., the best queue 
position as at the end of the bidding cycle.  

Band The Council categorises South Kesteven’s housing applications 
into one of four bands which reflect the level of priority housing. 
These bands are 1, 2, 3 and 4. Applications in Band 1 have the 
highest level of priority.  

Bid The term used when an applicant expresses an interest in a 
property advertised on South Kesteven’s website.  

Choice Based Lettings A scheme that allows applicants to express a choice about 
where they want to live from within their eligible properties.  

Decant The term used to describe the process whereby a tenant has to 
temporarily move out of their home into another property to 
enable the Council to complete essential repairs / maintenance 
to the property.  

Declaration form The main and joint applicant (in applicable) must sign this in 
order to show their understanding and acceptance to adhere to 

90



 
 
 

57 
 

the Allocations Policy. It also allows the Council permission to 
make further checks in order to fully assess the application.   

Effective date The date at which an application is registered or escalated to a 
higher band.  

Eligibility Eligibility determines who is eligible to join the register under 
the provisions of the Housing Act 1996 and related legislation. 
A person who is not eligible will not be able to join the register 
or bid for properties.  

Feedback An applicant's personal bid history will be available for them to 
view when they log into their account on the website.  

Habitual residence check  The test looks at whether the applicant’s residence in the 
United Kingdom is of a settled nature. For example, it looks at 
the length and continuity of residence, work prospects or family 
ties.  

Housing allocation scheme This explains the rules as to how the Council determine the 
allocation of properties.  

Letting / Bidding cycle New properties will be advertised each week from 00:01am on 
a Thursday to 23:59pm on a Tuesday.  

MAPPA (Multi –Agency Public Protection Arrangements) The framework which joins up agencies, including Probation, 
the Prison Service, Housing Services and other local services 
such as Social Services, tasked with the management of 
offenders to manage the risks within the community.  

Mutual Exchange  A swap of housing between tenants. The two households swap 
homes and each move permanently into the other tenant's 
property.  

Non-statutorily homeless A term that refers to homeless people or households to whom 
the Council do not have a legal duty to make an offer of settled 
housing.  

Nomination The term used when a local housing authority provides from its 
housing register, the name and details of an applicant to a 
landlord for an offer of housing.  

91



 
 
 

58 
 

Prevention Duty A duty owed to households who are threatened with 
homelessness within 56 days.  

Rechargeable repairs  This is damage caused by a tenant or their family, visitors or 
arising as a result of negligence to a property during a tenancy. 

Registered Provider (RP) A housing association or a non-for-profit company registered to 
provide social or affordable housing.  

Relief Duty  A duty owed to households where they are within the first 56 
days of having become homeless.  

Right to Move Government statutory guidance from March 2015 enabling 
social tenants that are employed, or have an offer of 
employment, and need to move to avoid hardship to (a) 
establish a local connection, and (b) receive a level of priority 
for rehousing.  

Qualifying person  The Council can decide what classes of persons are, or are 
not, qualifying persons for joining the register. Only qualifying 
persons are permitted to join the housing register.  

Queue position  When placing a bid, the Council will calculate an applicant’s 
position in the shortlist as at the time of the bid. This can alter 
(go up or go down) throughout the letting cycle (Thursday – 
Tuesday). The higher up the shortlist for the property an 
applicant is, the more likelihood there is of that applicant being 
offered it.  

Self-Build  Development on housing revenue land from community 
approach. 

Service Manager  The Manager that is responsible for the Housing Options 
Team.  

Shared Ownership For those people who cannot afford to buy a home outright on 
the open market, shared ownership allows the applicant to 
purchase a share of a property and pay rent on the remainder. 

Sheltered Housing Usually housing for elderly persons with a support need.  

92



 
 
 

59 
 

Shortlist A list of those applicants that have expressed an interest in a 
particular property advertised.  

Skipped  Term used when an applicant has bid on a property and been 
bypassed. Reasons for being bypassed may include but are 
not limited to:  

• The property is unsuitable for the applicants needs  

• Enquiries reveal a change in circumstances including 
housing related debt owed  

• Local lettings policy 

• Adaptations suitable for disabled clients  

Social Housing  Housing owned by the Council or Housing Association 
(Registered Provider) and rented to tenants at rents restricted 
by national rent controls.  

Statutorily Homeless / Main Homeless duty  A term that refers to people or families to whom the Council 
has a duty to make an offer of settled housing.  

Succession of tenancy  When a secure tenant dies, the tenancy will automatically pass 
to their spouse, civil partner, or other partner living as though 
they were a spouse or civil partner, other family members being 
able to succeed the tenancy on the death of the tenant. Any 
permission to succeed will be authorised by the Council or 
another Landlord.  

 

93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Housing Allocations Consultation Table – Version 1 

1 
 

 Consultation comments  Response / Action 

1. Just been reading through picked out the paragraph below, has this always 
been the case or is this different from your previous policy?  
Also I cannot see any mention of 16/17 yr olds over 27 weeks pregnant or 
with a child. I might have missed this  
 
Applications will not normally be accepted from persons who are aged under 
18. However, the following may be considered: 

a) The applicant is in the care of the Council, or is a care leaver 
b) The applicant has been defined as a child in need as a result of a 
S17 
Children Act 1989 statutory assessment 
c) The applicant is owed a full statutory homeless duty following a 
S20 
Children Act 1989 statutory assessment 
d) The applicant has an adult or adults who will act as a trustee(s) and 
hold a 
legal tenancy until the legal incapacity to hold a tenancy ends, and 
the 
Council accepts the adult as a suitable trustee 

The criteria is similar to the old policy.  
 
 
Applications from 16/17 year olds who are 
pregnant would only be accepted if they 
meet one or more of the listed criteria 
 
No changes to policy  

2. Suggestion on the development of the Quarry that we may want to link in 
with Rutland around nominations to affordable housing, we need to include 
some working in the allocations policy.  

Nominations that have different or 
additional criteria to the allocations policy 
would be subject to S106 agreements 
 
No changes required  

3. Income cap can we limit – be specific – affordability assessment – stronger 
wording  
 

Need to add in financial means criteria. 
Also detail the affordability assessment, 
referring to partner debt advisors as 
required  
 
Change to draft policy  

95

A
ppendix 2



Housing Allocations Consultation Table – Version 1 

2 
 

4. Consider banding criteria for homeless at home  
 

This will be in line with the duties owed 
under the homeless legislation and the 
relevant band that then applies 
 
No change required  

5. Adult social care e.g. moving in with Mum  
 

This is not a standalone need  - we would 
need to assess if there is a medical need, 
overcrowding, welfare need etc. 
 
No change required  

6. Legally separated  
 

This is not considered a housing need, 
unless the person is unsafe for any reason. 
It is expected that if a couple separates, 
they try to meet their own housing needs 
where possible.  
 
No change required  

7. Traveller community  
 

No additional preference needs to be given. 
In terms of local connection, it could fall 
under the ‘no LC anywhere’ criteria 
 
No change required 

8. College relocation to SKDC  
 

This is not considered a housing need. It is 
expected that students sort their own 
accommodation. Social housing is not used 
for this purpose. 
 
No change required 

9. 4.6.7 look at the wording: 
 
Please note that passport benefits and non-contributory disability benefits 
are not included for the purposes of income in this definition. Any lump sum 

 
 
The section starts by talking about 
homeowners, then briefly mentions income 

96



Housing Allocations Consultation Table – Version 1 

3 
 

received by a member of the Armed Forces as a compensation for an injury 
or disability sustained on active service will be disregarded as savings 

 

– income needs to be separated out- as per 
the change above 
 
Change to draft policy 

10. online review and ability: 
 
5.10.1 Annually, all applicants are required to complete an online review. 
The review is to ensure:  
a) The number of applicants on the South Kesteven housing register 
reflects the immediate needs for social housing  
b) Applicants still want to stay on the South Kesteven housing register 
and  
c) Applicants’ details are accurate and up to date. 

Application process is primarily online. 
Elsewhere in the policy it states the 
following:  
 
Should applicants require assistance in 
completing the form or require the form to 
be made available in other formats this can 
be requested by telephone or by prior 
arrangement from the Council offices. 
 
No change required 

11. Wording around employment:  
 
7.10.2 The Council may also use a local lettings policy to support people 
who contribute to their communities such as people in employment, to 
encourage working people to move to particular areas, or to encourage 
people who contribute to their local community through volunteering. 

 
 
Remains for future development 
opportunities.  
 
No change required 

12. 7.9.1 direct offer 
 

No comment made -unsure of the query 
 
No change required 

13. Check delegations on the policy – senior housing officers  
 

This is in order 
 
No change required 

14 Caravan and accommodation  
 

No comment made -unsure of the query 
 
No change required 

15. Private landlord – HMOs – relationship 
 

No comment made -unsure of the query 
 

97



Housing Allocations Consultation Table – Version 1 

4 
 

No change required 

16. No mention of emergency banding There is no emergency band – just band 1 
to 4 
 
No change required 

17. Graduates who lived in SK before going to University who wish to move back 
into SK following graduation but whose parents moved out of SK whilst they 
were at University 

 
 

Would have to be assessed on own merit – 
very specific circumstances, cannot have a 
separate section just for this scenario. 
 
No change required 

18. Applicants who have no internet access 

 

As stated:  
 
Should applicants require assistance in 
completing the form or require the form to 
be made available in other formats this can 
be requested by telephone or by prior 
arrangement from the Council offices. 
 
No change required 

19. People who are in receipt of Adult Social Care (who wish either to move to 
more suitable accommodation alone or to move in with younger relatives)  

 

Would have to be assessed on own merit – 
very specific circumstances, cannot have a 
separate section just for this scenario. 
 
No change required 

20. I think the policy could be clearer about SKDC's relationship with private 
landlords in the whole process. 
 

Policy is to complement the homeless duty. 
Negotiations with private landlords in 
relation to the prevention of homeless 
would be done as part of the homelessness 
investigations.  
 
No change required 

98



Housing Allocations Consultation Table – Version 1 

5 
 

21. In terms of the issue of connection with the area, is there a way to take 
account of people who are geographically close to SK but live across the 
border - for example someone born in Stamford who moved a few years 
years ago to Casterton or Tinwell but whose children have always attended 
schools in Stamford. 
 

Would have to be assessed on own merit – 
very specific circumstances, cannot have a 
separate section just for this scenario. 
 
No change required 
 

22. 4.6.2 "a static caravan situated on a site open all year round or a boat which 
has a mooring" are only homes if used as such. Should it not read "a static 
caravan situated on a site open all year round or a boat which has a 
residential mooring which are used as a main residence"? 
 

As this would suggest if they are choosing 
not to use this property as a main 
residence then we would disregard this. 
When in fact it would be expected that they 
could utilise this as a residence rather than 
seek social housing.  
 
No change required 

23. 4.6.7 "Any lump sum received by a member of the Armed Forces as a 
compensation for an injury or disability sustained on active service will be 
disregarded as savings" - I really don't like this. As drafted, a member of the 
Armed Forces compensated for injuries sustained during training, or 
because of a terrorist incident at their barracks whilst not on active service 
would be excluded from this - as would a civilian victim of a terrorist 
incident.  I think it should be widened to cover all tax-free lump sums 
awarded as compensation for any damage to any applicant's health or 
wellbeing. 
 

Agreed, the wording is very specific. We 
will re word to – certain compensation 
payments may be disregarded as savings 
when assessing an applicant’s financial 
resources. 
 
Change to draft policy 

24. 4.7.1 How do you define a "permanent member of a household" 
 

Anyone who normally resides within the 
household and the accommodation is their 
only or main residence.  
 
No change required 

25. 4.8.1 should "applicant’s household" be "applicant’s current household"? 
 

This suggests this is subject to change. By 
default we are referring to their current 
situation at all times.  

99



Housing Allocations Consultation Table – Version 1 

6 
 

 
No change required 

26. 5.10.1 Fails to address the needs of those with no online access 
 

As stated:  
Should applicants require assistance in 
completing the form or require the form to 
be made available in other formats this can 
be requested by telephone or by prior 
arrangement from the Council offices. 
 
No change required 
 

27. 5.11.1 b) It appears that two different points are included on the same line 
here. 
 

Agreed – b) needs to be split 
 
Change to draft policy 

28. 5.11.1 c) Why "South Kesteven private landlord"? Why not just "private 
landlord" 
 

Agreed 
 
Change to draft policy 

29. 5.11.1 f) Should "Provides false or misleading information" be "Deliberately 
provides false or misleading information"? 
 

Agreed 
 
Change to draft policy 

30. 5.12.1 " Applicants and household members can only be on one South 
Kesteven housing application" - Isn't this overly restrictive? Let's say I'm 19 
& my brother's 20 and we live at home with our parents who are splitting up. 
We would both like to stay with the same one parent - but equally would be 
happy sharing a flat just the two of us.  Why couldn't we apply for both? 
 

We cannot consider more than 1 allocation 
of social housing for each applicant. They 
would have to make the choice – either 
their parents are eligible for 2 bedrooms or 
they’re not. We need to make best use of 
housing stock. 
 
No change required 

31. 7.9.1 i) Should such a serious decision not be signed off by the portfolio 
holder if not the Cabinet? 
 

Officers have the delegated authority to 
make these decisions.  
 
No change required 

100



Housing Allocations Consultation Table – Version 1 

7 
 

32. 7.10.2 What is intended here? It smacks of social engineering and appears 
discriminatory against those who are not economically active. 
 

Agreed – This will be removed 
 
Change to draft policy 

33. 8.4.1 24 hours seems very restrictive. We need to minimise void times. Applicants 
will be advised of this time scale when they 
place the bid so will be prepared for the 
deadline.  
 
No change required 

34. I would just like to give my views on the housing allocation procedure. My 
parents have been on the housing register for around 9 years now as they 
require a bungalow due to my mum being disabled. They are in rented 
accommodation and the landlord will not let them adapt the property to help 
her needs. The end of last year my dad had a heart attack and this year 
suffered from a stroke which has left him now disabled also. Their landlord 
will still not let them adapt the property. My parents require a bungalow 
urgently as my dad struggles with the stairs now as does my mum. We have 
updated the housing register with medical information for both my parents 
but still feel like the council are not bothered which infuriates us as a family. 

This is not a comment on this new policy, 
rather a comment on an existing housing 
register application.  
 
No change required 

35. Check the banding of existing tenant who are in properties in disrepair. 
Higher banding should not be awarded – the expectation is that the issues 
are fixed, even if a decant is required.  

Major Repairs 
The applicant is a tenant of a social or 
affordable rented property living in South 
Kesteven who needs to move because 
their accommodation needs major 
renovation or extensive repairs. This only 
applies when all decant options have been 
exhausted and it is deemed that a 
permanent move is the most cost effective 
and practical option. 
 
Change to draft policy 

101



Housing Allocations Consultation Table – Version 1 

8 
 

36. Banding for homeless cases – should not differentiate between suspected 
priority need or not – goes against homeless legislation. Band 2 – relief. 
Band 3 prevention  

Adjust to accepted relief cases: Band 2 
Accepted preventions cases: Band 3 
 
Change to draft policy  

37. Banding criteria is too descriptive – add in headings and suggestions 
underneath 

Adjust the layout of the banding criteria and 
shorten descriptions. Use ‘examples 
include’ phrase to allow for some flexibility 
when applying banding.  
 
Change to draft policy  

38. Bedroom table – should say couple without children  Change wording  
 
Change to draft policy 

39. Employees and people related to SKDC employees– approval of any 
allocation needs to be done by head of service 

Add this detail in  
 
Change to draft policy 

40. Remove and reference to ‘priority banding’ causes confusion between 
priority need and priority bands – different things. 

Adjust and remove the word 
 
Change to draft policy  

41. Delete the following – this is not for an allocations policy to determine, rather 
something that is assessed under homelessness  
 
4.6.1  All applicants must declare whether they own a home or have a legal 
interest in any land or property in the UK or abroad. 

Remove 
 
 
Change to draft policy  

42. 4.6.3 Homeowners will be exempt from the scheme unless they have an 
urgent housing need to move (Bands 1 and 2) and have insufficient equity, 
capital or assets to resolve their housing difficulties 
 
What is classed as sufficient? 

Sufficient means that debt organisations 
will undertake a robust financial 
assessment. An Occupational Therapists 
report will also be required to establish their 
needs. 
 
Change to draft policy 

102



Housing Allocations Consultation Table – Version 1 

9 
 

43. 4.6.6 Homeowners who sell or transfer their property in the UK or abroad 
within the last 5 years and have received or would have received equity of 
£16,000 or above will be excluded for 5years from the date of sale unless 
eligible for sheltered housing. 
 
Why 5 years? If someone applied as a homeowner, they would be refused. If 
they had equity of over £16k, they would be refused. So if they sell and use 
that money to privately rent and then approach when the money has gone, 
we are then refusing them again? Doesn’t make sense.  

This needs re wording/re looking at as it 
appears we are penalising people twice 
over. 
 
The income level and savings are 
benchmarked against best practice. 
 
No change required 

44. 4.7.1 Local connection table: 
 
Current tenant of a landlord resident in South Kesteven whose application is 
supported by the landlord 
 
Why is this in the policy? It opens it up too much 

Remove 
 
Change to draft policy  

45. 4.11.1 Households owed a homeless duty will fail to qualify after refusing 
one offer of suitable accommodation. 
 
What if they are in prevention – the homeless duty doesn’t get discharged so 
why should they not be allowed another offer? 

We need to look at all parts of the policy 
again in relation to homeless applications 
as some parts are not clear or go against 
the homeless legislation 
 
Action 
 
Change to draft policy 

46. 5.5.2 Verification includes checks on an applicant’s full circumstances 
including their eligibility, qualifying criteria, housing need, property eligibility 
and community contribution 
 
Why do we need to look at community contribution? Surely social housing is 
needs based.  

Remove 
 
Change to draft policy 

47. 5.7.1 is 10 days a realistic timescale? There is already a backlog of 
applications. 

Review of timescales undertaken.  
 
No change required 

103



Housing Allocations Consultation Table – Version 1 

10 
 

48. There are too many different categories under Band 1. Do they all fall under 
an urgent need? 

Re look at banding definitions again 
 
Change to draft policy  

49. 7.2.5 Why will we allow applicants to bid for properties that are larger than 
what they need? i.e., a couple can go for 1 or 2 bed properties. Why? 

Due to stock profile we aim to enable 
greater choice  
 
No change required 

50. 7.3.1 Pregnancy recognised from 27 weeks – this doesn’t compliment the 
homeless legislation. A pregnant woman is classed as a priority need under 
the legislation yet it wont be recognised on the register until third trimester 

Re look at, reflecting homeless legislation 
alongside decision 
 
Change to draft policy 

51. 9.2 Any applicants who believe they meet an alternative band must initially 
submit a banding enquiry in writing explaining the reasons they believe they 
meet an alternative band…..If an applicant remains unsatisfied, they will 
have a right to review. 
 
Why are we giving applicants two chances to have their banding re looked 
at? It should just go straight to a review otherwise you will need a senior 
officer to look at the first ‘appeal’ and then a manager to look at the actual 
review. Time consuming, unnecessary and a waste of resource  

Agree 
 
Change to draft policy  

 

104



105

Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 
 

Allocations Policy  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
 
Housing 

Lead officer:  
Housing Options 
Manager 
  

Date of Meeting  
 
02/02/22 

Assessors: 
Senior Housing Policy 
and Strategy Officer 
 

Neutral Assessor:  
Facilities Officer  

  

107

Appendix 4



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

Allocations Policy 
 
Adopting a new allocations policy to enable a change of approach from 
direct lettings to choice based lettings of Council and other social housing 
register provider properties in the South Kesteven District. 
 
Current approach - properties are allocated to households based on the 
housing register band they are in (the highest band being for those with the 
highest housing need); areas of the district they would like to live, and the 
type and size of property only. 
 
Proposed approach – properties are still allocated to households based on 
the housing register band they are in (the highest band being for those with 
the highest housing need), how the new proposed approach allows 
applicants to express an interest (bid) for a specific property that meets 
their housing need.  The bid would be made online.  Properties are 
advertised on a regular cycle (eg. weekly) with appropriate information (for 
example, rent and heating type).  The applicant with the highest housing 
need and registered the earliest in that housing band, is assessed on 
whether or not they are suitable for the property and if they are, the 
property is then allocated to them. 
 
A review of the banding ensuring that we meet housing need and this is 
reflected within the banding.  
 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive, or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Negative impact 
 
Some people of any age do 
not use online services 

This negative impact will be 
mitigated by allowing auto 
bidding (whereby the computer 
system bids based on the 

108



because either they do not 
have access to technical 
facilities (a computer, tablet or 
smartphone) and/or they do 
not have the capability of using 
them. 
 

person’s preferences) and 
proxy voters (whereby 
someone eg. a relative or 
carer, bids on the housing 
register applicant’s behalf). 
In addition, we will work with 
partner agencies who provide 
support, to ensure that 
applicants can access the 
system and be supported in 
doing so. 

Disability 
 

 

Negative impact 
 
Some people with a disability 
may find using the Choice 
Based Lettings system difficult 
to use. Also, if they do not 
have a computer, tablet or 
smartphone and have to use 
someone else’s or public 
available facilities, they may be 
unable to access them. 
 

This negative impact will be 
mitigated by allowing auto 
bidding (whereby the computer 
system bids based on the 
person’s preferences) and 
proxy voters (whereby 
someone eg. a relative or 
carer, bids on the housing 
register applicant’s behalf). 
 
In addition, we will work with 
partner agencies who provide 
support, to ensure that 
applicants can access the 
system and be supported in 
doing so. 

Race 
 

Negative impact on people 
who do not speak English as 
their first language. 

This negative impact will be 
mitigated by allowing auto 
bidding (whereby the computer 
system bids based on the 
person’s preferences) and 
proxy voters (whereby 
someone eg. a relative or 
carer, bids on the housing 
register applicant’s behalf). 
 
In addition, we will work with 
partner agencies who provide 
support, to ensure that 
applicants can access the 
system and be supported in 
doing so. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

No identified negative impact  

109



Religion or 
Belief   

No identified negative impact  

Sex 
 
 
   

No identified negative impact  

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

No identified negative impact  

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

No identified negative impact  

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

No identified negative impact  

Carers Negative impact 
 
If a carer is needed to spend 
time bidding on properties on 
someone’s behalf. 
 

This negative impact will be 
mitigated by allowing auto-
bidding if the time bidding for 
properties becomes too 
onerous and not possible. 
 
In addition, we will work with 
partner agencies who provide 
support, to ensure that 
applicants can access the 
system and be supported in 
doing so. 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Negative impact 
 
Some people may not have 
access to online services and 
have to use someone else’s or 
public available facilities.  If 
this is the case, they may be 
unable to access them.  Some 
people may also not have the 
capability of using online 
services. 
 

This negative impact will be 
mitigated by allowing auto 
bidding (whereby the computer 
system bids based on the 
person’s preferences) and 
proxy voters (whereby 
someone eg. a relative or 
carer, bids on the housing 
register applicant’s behalf). 
 
In addition, we will work with 
partner agencies who provide 
support, to ensure that 
applicants can access the 
system and be supported in 
doing so. 

110



General 
comments 

 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

A full consultation has taken place, consulting all current housing register 
applicants; new tenants who have become tenants in the last 12 months; 
all social housing registered providers operating in the South Kesteven 
district; partner agencies and all known advocates and support workers to 
housing register applicants.  Demographic data from this consultation has 
been used. 
 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

No gaps identified. 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue ✓ 

   

111



If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 

  

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

  

Potential negative impacts will be mitigated by allowing auto bidding 
(whereby the computer system bids based on the person’s preferences) 
and proxy voters (whereby someone eg. a relative or carer, bids on the 
housing register applicant’s behalf). 
 
Partner agencies providing support will be given training in order for 
them to assist applicants with applying and bidding for properties. In 
addition staff from the housing options team and customer services 
will be able to offer assistance over the phone or in person when our 
offices are open to the public.  

 
If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 

analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 
reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 

 

 
Signed (Lead Officer):    Housing Options Manger 

 
Date completed:  17/11/21  

 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Facilities Officer  
 

Date signed off:     03/12/21  

112



 

 

 

 

 

Cabinet   

 12 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet 
Member for Housing and Property  

   

         
  

Remediation Costs for Turnpike Close, Grantham  

This report seeks approval for the budget required to remediate the Council owned site off 
Turnpike Close, Grantham.   

 

Report Author 

Debbie Roberts (Organisational Development Manager) 

 
01476 406080 

 debbie.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment  

Budget and Policy 
Framework 

Grantham Earlesfield 

 

Reviewed by: Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 27 June 2022 

Approved by: Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 1 July 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property  

4 July 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

 
1. The Cabinet approves an additional budget allocation of £150,000 for the 

remediation of the Council asset at Turnpike Close, Grantham.  This allocation is to 
be funded from the Local Priorities Reserve.  
 

2. Approve the remediation of the site and delegates authority to the Chief Executive 
and  s151 Officer in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property  in order to confirm the appointment of a contractor to undertake the 
works within the budget envelope of £245,000.  

113

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1. The Background to the Report 

1.1 In April 2021 the Council purchased land at Turnpike Close, Grantham. The site is 

identified in appendix 1 of the report.  

1.2 The site was purchased for the proposed relocation of its operational depot which is 

currently situated at Alexandra Rd, Grantham. This priority was identified in the Corporate 

Plan 2020-2023 with a key action for its delivery under the corporate priority of ‘Building a 

fit for purpose depot’.  

1.3 The Council first considered the acquisition of the land at Turnpike Close on the 26th 

November 2020 and at that meeting the Council approved the budget to acquire the 

strategically important piece of land and provide funding for consultants to support the 

Council in order to develop optimum depot configurations that maximise the site whist 

meeting operational needs now and in the medium term.   

1.4 Cabinet approved the acquisition at a subsequent meeting on the 16th March 2021 the 

following delegation was approved: 

‘Upon the completion of the acquisition to delegate authority to the Chief Executive in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations to reprioritise and 

draw down the required funds from the remaining balance of the Council approved 

funding, and authorise expenditure in order to continue to progress the project and to meet 

the costs of site planning, maintenance and other preparatory works’. 

1.5 In July 2021 an Officer Delegated Decision report enacted decision 3 as set out above to 

proceed with the site planning after a procurement process to appoint Gleeds Advisory 

Limited as the Lead Consultant and progress the project into the design stage.  

1.6 Gleeds Advisory Limited have been acting as Lead Consultant and a full design team 

appointed to work on detailed drawings for the replacement depot and more information 

will be presented to Cabinet at a later time prior to submitting a planning application to the 

Local Planning Authority.  

1.7 It has been identified through the Lead Consultants that the land purchased at Turnpike 

Close requires a significant amount of demolition and remediation works to prepare the 

site before any construction can commence.  

1.8 The works that are required are for the removal of slab, foundations and hard standings 

within the boundary of the site plan in appendix 1 and the crushing of demolition arisings 

to be stockpiled and retained on site.  

1.9 The crushed materials will be kept and used in the construction phase (if appropriate) to 

reduce the costs for its removal from site.  

1.10 Two quotes for these remediation works have been received from contractors to date but 

the Council would like to approach a framework to appoint a Contractor so that site 

management and set up costs would be included by the main contractor, therefore 

reducing the costs the Council rather than including it in a main construction contract at a 

later point.  

1.11 There is £95,000 of the approved budget remaining from the allocation approved on 26 

November 2020 when the site was purchased after legal fees, surveys and the 

consultants’ fees have been deducted so it is proposed that the remaining balance is 

increased by a further £150,000 in order to provide a maximum budget envelope of 

£245,000 for the demolition and remediation works. Under the approved budget 

114



 

 
 

framework in accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations the Cabinet is able to 

allocate a budget £150,000. 

1.12 Demolition and Remediation Works  

1.13 Upon agreement for the budget the next milestone would be appointing a contractor for 

the delivery stage for the phase one works. These works can be completed in parallel with 

the detailed drawing that the design teams are working on for the planning application.  

1.14 Phase two would be that a subsequent report will be considered by Cabinet and Council in 

order to seek approval of the budget for the construction of the replacement depot.  

1.15 This phased approach is similar to the approval sought for St Martins Park Stamford and 

will enable site development to progress without undue delays. The construction market is 

currently seeing its highest rates of inflation, long lead in times for materials, price 

fluctuations meaning that levels of contingency included are extremely high. The 

remediation works aren’t affected by these factors so can be done in advance to give time 

for the Council to see if these factors stabilise.  

2. Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 A detailed project progress report will be presented to the Environment OSC in order to 

keep members informed of progress.    

3. Available Options Considered 

3.1 Option 1 - To not undertake the works and leave the site as it is 

Option 2 - To undertake the demolition and remediation works and return to the Council at 

a future point for the construction costs for the replacement depot  

Option 3 - To do the works as part of a main contract   

4. Preferred Option 

4.1 Option 2 - To approve the budget for all of the costs so that the Council can complete its 

preparation works. Option 1 is not viable as the works are a necessary component of the 

site being developed for a depot location.  Option 3 is not considered as it a more costly 

proposal as incorporating the works into the main contract will lead to an increase in the 

overall costs.  

5. Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 If the Council includes the demolition and remediation works within the main construction 

contract for building the replacement depot, this will mean that the enabling works will be 

subject to a considerably higher contractor overheads, than would be the case for a 

smaller specialist civil engineering contractor, who will require only limited site set-up 

costs. 

6. Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The proposed next steps are presented in the report.  

7. Financial Implications  

This a key strategic capital project and is specifically referenced in the Council approved 

Corporate Plan.  The works proposed are a necessary component of the scheme 

progression and undertaking the works separately to the main development programme 

115



 

 
 

will enable the Council to ensure it is achieving best value. It is noted that the construction 

market is extremely volatile and the timing of securing the main construction works will 

require careful consideration to ensure the Council is not incurring inflated prices.  This 

financial risk is further compounded as the Council will also need to undertake external 

borrowing at a time when interest rates are increasing with an upward trajectory 

forecasted.   It is advised that the remediation works are undertaken and the scheme 

design continues to enable accurate costings to be provided. There is residual budget of 

£95k from the original allocation of £3.4m and it is recommended that a further £150k is 

added in order to provide sufficient funding to meet the costs of the remediation works. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

8. Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The project has followed due-diligence with the purchase and has delegated authority to 

commence with the necessary site preparation works.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance  

9. Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising from this report. 

10. Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Previously identified risks in connection with demolition and remediation works have been 

mitigated as far as reasonably possible through further investigation work and progression 

of the procurement process.  

10.2 Residual risks in connection demolition and remediation works include; 

10.2.1 Potential further engineering consultancy support costs in connection the demolition works 

following commencement. 

10.2.2 Potential further geotechnical testing following or in connection with the remediation 

works. 

10.2.3 Location of obstructions in the ground not previously identified following commencement 

of works. 

10.2.4 Response to any further Local Authority constraints or considerations not previously 

identified. 

10.2.5 Accidental damage to statutory services serving the site (contractor risk). 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Not applicable. 

12. How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

 Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The crushed materials from the remediation will be stockpiled and re-used in the 

development at a later date if appropriate. 

13.  Background Papers  

13.1  26th November 2020 Full Council report  

13. 2 16th March 2021 Cabinet report  

116



 

 
 

13.3 12th July 2022 ODD For Appointment of Gleeds Advisory Limited 

 

 

 

117



This page is intentionally left blank



Turnpike Close, Grantham

119

A
ppendix 1

ChrisPike
Polygonal Line



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
21 June 2022 

Report of: Councillor Mark Whittington, 
Cabinet Member for Waste and 
Climate Change 

   

         
  

 

Draft Policy for the Provision of Litter Bins 

This report presents a draft policy which sets out the Council’s approach and the principles which 
will be followed in selecting and reviewing sites for the provision of litter bins across the district. 

 

 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Assistant Director of Operations and Public Protection  

 
 01476 406319 

  a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A Clean and Sustainable 
Environment 

Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Clova Townhill, Waste Team Manager 31 May 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive 31 May 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for 
Waste and Climate Change 

1 June 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Approves the adoption of the South Kesteven District Council Policy for the 
Provision of Litter Bins 

2. Delegates to the Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Waste and Climate Change, to make minor amendments to the Policy which 
may become necessary from time to time to ensure its continued accuracy, but do 
not affect its direction or intent. 

121

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Councils are not obliged to provide litter bins, however, once installed, the frequency of 

emptying must be sufficient to ensure that litter does not overflow and become a nuisance.  

The procurement, siting, fixing, and ongoing emptying and maintenance of litter bins is a 

cost to the Council, therefore, ensuring litter bins are appropriately located supports value 

for money and enables resources to be focused where they are most needed.  

1.2 An audit of litter bins across the district has been undertaken to establish an up-to-date 

record of their condition and assess the effectiveness of the existing provision.   A total of 

608 litter bins have been recorded. 

1.3 Historically, the provision and siting of litter bins across the district has been in response to 

requests from the public or elected members without any structured review to ensure there 

is a genuine and continuing need.   

1.4 To support a consistent approach to future litter bin provision, a draft Policy for the 

provision of litter bins has been developed (“the Policy”) and is attached at Appendix 1.  

1.5 The Policy seeks to clarify responsibilities where Parish or Town Councils have provided 

litter bins and details how requests for new litter bins will be dealt with.  It also suggests 

criteria which would generally be taken into consideration when determining site location 

and gives an indication of areas which would not normally be considered a priority. The 

prioritisation has been developed with regard to the “litter zones” as set out in the DEFRA 

Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse.    

1.6 While it is not proposed that any of the existing litter bins would automatically be removed 

as a result of the Policy, where requests for additional or replacement bins are received, or 

damaged bins are noted, the Policy will be applied.  Consideration would be given to 

moving existing under-utilised bins in the same area in the first instance. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the draft Policy at their 

meeting on 10 May 2022 and recommended to Cabinet that the draft Policy was suitable 

for adoption.  

2.2 There is no statutory requirement to consult on this Policy.  The Policy is not considered to 

have significant risks or implications.   Where the Policy would result in the removal of an 

existing litter bin it is proposed that the relevant the parish/town council will be notified.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 There is no statutory requirement to adopt a policy relating to the provision of litter bins.  

The Cabinet may consider that it is not necessary to adopt a policy and litter bins could 

continue to be provided as currently.   

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The adoption of a policy helps to support consistent and transparent decision making.  

Ensuring that litter bins are located in areas where it can be demonstrated that there is a 

genuine need. 

 

 

122



 

 
 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 There is a balance between the number and locations of litter bins provided and the 

ongoing cost of emptying and maintaining them.  Ensuring litter bins are appropriately 

located supports value for money and enables resources to be focused where they are 

most needed 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 If approved, the Policy will be published on the Council’s website and communicated to 

parish councils.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The budget for the provision of litter bins is approved annually by Council as part of the 

budget setting process.  There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report, 

however, a policy would support value for money principles in ensuring efficiency and 

effectiveness. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of 

Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Council is not required to provide litter bins or publish a policy on their deployment. 

However, the adoption of a policy ensures a transparent and consistent approach is 

applied.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 An initial equality impact assessment has been undertaken and at Appendix 2.  No 

significant adverse impacts were identified.   

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No significant risks have been identified 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 The presence of litter creates a negative impact on the local environment. The provision of 

litter bins in appropriate locations helps people to dispose of their litter responsibly.   

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The standards defined in the draft Policy support the efficiency of the Street Cleansing 

fleet, ensuring it can be optimised to reduce the number of vehicle journeys, further 

reducing the council’s carbon footprint. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No other significant implications have been identified.  

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 10 May 2022 

123

ENV815%20draft%20policy%20on%20the%20provision%20of%20litter%20bins.docx


 

 
 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Policy on the Provision of Litter Bins  

15.2 Appendix 2 – Initial Equality Impact Assessment  

 

124



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy on the Provision of Litter Bins 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version Reason  Date 

V1 (Draft) Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

10 May 2022  

V1 (Draft) Cabinet  12 July 2022 

125

Appendix 1



 

1 
 

 

Contents 

1.0 Background……………………………………………… 2 

2.0 Site Selection……………………………………………. 3 

3.0 Public Events……………………………………………. 3 

4.0 Recycling Bins/Specific Waste Streams……………… 4 

5.0 Dog Waste……………………………………………….. 4 

6.0 Emptying, Maintaining and Replacing Litter Bins……. 4 

7.0 Requests for New Litter Bins………………………….. 5 

8.0 Definitions……………………………………………….. 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

126



 

2 
 

 

1.0 Background 

1.1 The Council has no legal duty to provide litter and dog waste bins but must keep 

Council owned land and public highways clear of litter and refuse as far as is 

practicable. Following changes to the classification of various waste materials, dog 

waste can be put into general litter bins and disposed of in the same way. 

1.2 Whilst the Council is committed to providing sufficient litter bins to help discharge its 

responsibilities under the Environmental Act 1990, dealing with litter places a 

significant financial and resource burden on local authorities and the Council’s 

capacity to provide litter bins is finite.  There are currently 608 litter bins of various 

types across the district.  

1.3 This document aims to manage litter bin provision and outlines the principles which 

will be followed in selecting and reviewing where litter bins are located, ensuring that 

the correct bin types are used in the most appropriate locations, and are located in 

areas where it can be demonstrated that there is a genuine need.   

1.4 The type, size and location of litter bins are all linked to how litter bins are used by 

the public, and in particular, how frequently they require emptying and how much 

litter is collected. These are the key determinants in supporting service delivery in 

terms of servicing frequency and the ability to route services effectively and 

efficiently. 

1.5 There is a balance between the number and locations of litter bins provided and the 

ongoing cost of emptying and maintaining them.  Ensuring litter bins are 

appropriately located supports value for money and enables resources to be focused 

where they are most needed.  

1.6 Future litter bin sites and reviews will consider, but are not restricted to the following; 

o Operational efficiency 
o Usage patterns 

o Health and safety considerations associated with the servicing of the litter bins 

o Links to other policies, e.g., planning and conservation areas  

1.7 The Council declared a Climate Emergency in September 2019.   The standards 

defined in this policy support the efficiency of the Street Cleansing fleet, ensuring it 

can be optimised to reduce the number of vehicle journeys, further reducing the 

Council’s carbon footprint. 

 

127



 

3 
 

2.0 Site Selection  

2.1 It is not possible to define specific sites which will and will not receive litter bins, 

however, the following factors will generally be taken into consideration: 

o Suitability of the proposed location - Taking account of the need to reduce street 
clutter, particularly in more sensitive locations such as Conservation Areas 

o Scale of the litter problem. Will a litter bin make a real impact on litter, or can this 
be addressed in other ways e.g., by enforcement? 

o Proximity to potential problem points - Is the proposed site close to shops, 
schools, bus stops etc 

o Number and location of existing litter bins in the area – In high footfall areas e.g., 
retail areas and travel hubs, a greater number of litter bins may be necessary.   

o Accessibility to disabled people - ensuring the bin is not a hazard or barrier for 
pedestrians including prams and wheelchairs. A minimum footpath width of 1.5m 
should be maintained 

o Cost of installation - use of a ground anchor system or any specific permissions 
that will impact on cost or practicality 

o Costs for emptying the bin e.g., more remote areas can have disproportionate 
transport costs 

o Litter bin type 
o Land ownership – litter bins will be sited on publicly owned or adopted land only 
o Location type (e.g., high priority areas as outlined in the document) 
o Potential for vandalism and arson 

 
2.2 The following areas will normally be viewed as higher priority to receive litter bins: 
 

o Main arterial routes and other high footfall and through route areas 
o Main areas of commerce and retail 
o Key routes in relation to schools 
o Near fast food and takeaway retailers 
o Public transport hubs (e.g., Bus stops and similar areas) where large numbers of 

people stand for periods of time, particularly in central areas 
o Entrances to parks and significant public spaces. 

2.3 The following areas will not normally be viewed as high priority for litter bin 

placements, or may in some cases be ruled out for litter bin placement: 

o Exclusively residential areas, except where these become high priority due to one 
of the reasons above 

o Locations where the litter bin is being abused, including inappropriate disposal of 
household or commercial waste which has not been resolved by engagement or 
enforcement and sites which are subject to arson or vandalism. 

3.0 Public Events 

3.1 The provision of temporary litter bins may be considered at specific locations to 

reflect increased pedestrian flows and litter generation at certain times on land 

owned by the Council. For example, during events in public parks etc.   

3.2 Litter bins will not be provided to collect commercial waste and it must be made clear 

that event organisers must put in place alternative provision.   The provision of bins 

for commercial events will be subject to a charge.  

 

128



 

4 
 

4.0 Recycling Bins/Specific Waste Streams   

4.1 The Council takes a pragmatic view of the effectiveness and efficiency of collecting 

different types of litter separately for recycling.  Along with the small quantities 

involved, there are particular challenges associated with collecting litter as a 

segregated stream for recycling while maintaining the relevant high standards of 

quality required.   

4.2 Due to high levels of contamination which lead to recyclable materials being 

disposed of as residual waste, the Council will not generally consider the installation 

of dual compartment recycling bins (one side recyclables the other for non-

recyclables)  

4.3 The potential future provision of dual compartment bins will be kept under review, 

particularly in response to any future requirements to segregate waste.  

5.0 Dog Waste 

5.1 The Council’s policy is to maximise efficiency by collecting bagged dog waste 

alongside general waste in the same litter bin. No dedicated dog waste bins will be 

provided. Householders may dispose of bagged dog waste in their residual waste 

bin.  

6.0 Emptying, Maintaining and Replacing Litter Bins 

6.1 Only litter bins purchased and installed by the Council or where a specific formal 

agreement has been made with the Parish or Town council will emptied.   Where a 

Parish or Town Council has installed a litter bin without prior agreement or outside of 

the site selection parameters detailed in this document, the responsibility for 

maintenance and emptying will remain wholly with the original purchaser. 

6.2 Any litter bins purchased and sited by Town or Parish Councils must be maintained 

by them, and any insurance remains the liability of the original purchaser.  Town and 

Parish Councils that purchase litter bins must indemnify the Council against any 

maintenance, loss or accident resulting from the installation. Upkeep and 

maintenance of litter bins includes ensuring suitable access to the bin.   

6.3 Town and Parish Councils are advised to carry out regular checks of litter bins they 

are responsible for and maintain them in good condition. In the event of an 

immediate or serious risk to a member of the public or the operative, the Council 

reserve the right to cover a litter bin to prevent further use and refuse to empty the 

bin.  

6.4 Litter bins will be emptied on such a frequency that will prevent them overflowing. 

This will be based on their location and related to the intensity of use. The frequency 

will also vary according to the time of year.  Monitoring will ensure that these 

frequencies are sufficient. 

6.5 All litter bins installed by the Council (or by a Parish or Town Council under 

agreement) will be maintained to a standard that is fit for purpose e.g., plastic litter 

bins can suffer damage in some locations while metal litter bins corrode. 

129



 

5 
 

6.6 When an existing litter bin is damaged or stolen, it will be replaced only if it meets the 

criteria for the provision of new litter bins. 

6.7 Litter bins that are not used, used infrequently or subject to repeated vandalism may 

be removed. 

6.8 Relevant Town and Parish Councils will be notified where litter bins are removed. 

7.0 Requests for New litter Bins 

7.1 On receipt of a request for a new or replacement litter bin, a site survey will be 

carried out in accordance with the site selection criteria.   

7.2 Possible alternatives will be considered in the first instance such as; 

o Moving an existing under-used litter bin to/from a different location 

o Changing the size/type of existing litter bins in the area. 

7.3 Litter bins will only be installed on sites which are safe and where there is a genuine 

need for a bin.  Litter bins will not be installed on private land or in a location which 

may encourage the disposal of commercial waste. The Environmental Protection Act 

1990 makes provision for the collection and disposal of commercial waste, and the 

Council expects businesses to make their own provision for the disposal of waste.   

7.4 Where a request or requirement for a new litter bin is considered appropriate, a litter 

bin will be installed. This litter bin will, as far as practicable, be a standard design and 

style. 

8.0 Definitions 

8.1 Litter is waste which is disposed of “on the go” either in a litter bin or discarded loose 

in the environment or as a result of an accidental escape from a premises, a 

domestic bin, etc. 

8.2 For the purposes of this document,  litter is generally distinct from household and 

commercial waste, however, there may be some overlap where waste materials have 

spilled from household or commercial waste collection. 

8.3 Fly tipping is a separate issue and will be dealt with according to current policy. 

 

130



 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Policy for the Provision of Litter 
Bins  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
Operations and Public 

Protection  
 
 

Lead officer: 
Anne-Marie Coulthard 

Date of Meeting  
 
11/04/22 Assessors: 

Clova Townhill 

Neutral Assessor:    
Sam Fitt 
 

  

131

Appendix 2



 

 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

This policy aims to manage litter bin provision and outlines the principles 
which will be followed in selecting and reviewing where litter bins are 
located, ensuring that the correct bin types are used in the most 
appropriate locations, and are located in areas where it can be 
demonstrated that there is a genuine need.   

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990.  The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 
Age is not a determinant of this 
policy.    

Disability 
 

 

Positive  The site selection criteria in the 
policy takes account of the 
accessibility needs of disabled 
people to ensure bins do not 
create a hazard or a barrier.  

Race 
 

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 

132



 

 

 

Race is not a determinant of 
this policy.    

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area,  therefore 
Gender Reassignment is not a 
determinant of this policy.    

Religion or 
Belief   

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 
religion or Belief is not a 
determinant of this policy.    

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 
Sex is not a determinant of this 
policy.    

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral  The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 
Sexual Orientation is not a 
determinant of this policy.    

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 

133



 

 

 

geographical area, therefore 
Pregnancy and Maternity is not 
a determinant of this policy.    

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 
Marriage and Civil Partnership 
is not a determinant of this 
policy 

Carers Positive The site selection criteria in the 
policy takes account of the 
accessibility needs of disabled 
people to ensure bins do not 
create a hazard or a barrier.  
Carers assisting disabled 
persons in public spaces 
would also benefit.  

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

 The policy will be applied 
equitably across the 
geographical area. Sites which 
are higher priority for litter bins 
are detailed in the policy.  
These are generally based on 
areas of higher footfall where 
litter is more likely or where 
litter is an ongoing concern 
and litter bins would have a 
positive impact.  

General 
comments 

Littering occurs as a result of individual behaviour.  Dealing with 
litter places a significant financial and resource burden on local 
authorities and the Council’s capacity to provide litter bins is 
finite.   There is no legal requirement for the Council to provide 
litter bins.  The policy details the criteria for site selection.  Litter 
bins are provided along with litter picking and enforcement 
where levels of litter are of concern.  

 
 

134



 

 

 

3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

The department for Transport - Inclusive Mobility, A Guide to Best Practice 
on Access to Pedestrian and Transport Infrastructure has been taken into 
consideration to ensure street furniture is located where it does not present 
an obstacle and hazard, particularly to wheelchair users and vision 
impaired people. 
 
 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

The policy would be applied equitably across the geographical area.  The 
policy does not adversely impact on individuals with specific 
characteristics.  

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 

135



 

 

 

  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Anne-Marie Coulthard 
(Name and title)   Assistant Director of Operations and Public 
Protection  
  

Date completed:  11/04/22  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Sam Fitt 
(Name and title)   Project Lead 
 

Date signed off:     11/04/22  
 

136



 

 

 

Cabinet 
12 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Grantham High Street Heritage Action Zone Scheme 

To seek a Cabinet recommendation to Historic England to allocate a £300,000 grant from the 
Grantham High Street Heritage Action Zone programme, to restore Westgate Hall and bring it back 
into use. 

 

Report Author 

Jon Hinde, Head of Economic Development 

 
 01476 406080 

  jon.hinde@investsk.co.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Key Grantham St Wulfram's 

 

Reviewed by: Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 29 June 2022 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 1 July 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council  4 July 2022 

 

Recommendation to the decision makers 

That Cabinet:  

1. recommend to Historic England an allocation of £300,000 from the High Street Heritage 
Action Zone programme to restore Westgate Hall and bring it back into use. 

137

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

2 The Background to the Report 

2.1 The Corporate Plan (2020 to 2023) has a vision to be the best district in which to live, work 

and visit.  As the Council steadfastly delivers on its priorities, residents and businesses can 

expect to see continued growth that respects the countryside and heritage. The District’s 

heritage is a finite resource which once lost is impossible to replace. It is for this reason the 

Council takes seriously its responsibility to secure the preservation and enhancement of 

South Kesteven’s rich and diverse heritage.  

2.2 The High Street Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) is a national scheme managed by Historic 

England. There are 68 schemes approved within England, offering funding to local 

authorities to regenerate and revitalise historic town centres. Each local authority was asked 

to produce a Programme Design document that set out activities under the headings of: 1) 

capital works, 2) community engagement, and 3) cultural programming.  

2.3 The Council successfully bid for a HSHAZ scheme for Grantham in December 2019 and the 

objectives set out within the Programme Design are: 

a) Revitalise and enhance the historic core of Grantham’s town centre. 

b) Reinstate the original architectural form of buildings within the town centre. 

c) Engender a local sense of identity and pride through the exploration and celebration of 

Grantham’s rich heritage. 

d) Support the local economy by creating a vibrant town centre environment where people 

want to live and work.  

e) Engage to the local community in the development of their town centre, offering training 

and skills development to increase capacity for the future.  

2.4 The total cost of the programme is £1,262,200, with Historic England contributing £886,540 

and the Council matching with £375,660, over the four-year programme (May 2020 to March 

2024). Activities include capital improvements to historic buildings within Grantham town 

centre, public realm enhancements, community engagement activities and cultural events. 

2.5 The budget for the HSHAZ scheme was approved in Full Council on 2 March 2020. Under 

Article 16 (d)(1), of the Constitution.  

2.6 Since then, a Board has been established under the chairmanship of Councillor Kelham 

Cooke, Leader of the Council. The remaining members of the working Board include 

Councillor Adam Stokes, the Deputy Leader of the Council and Councillor Rosemary 

Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy.  

2.7 Following the initiation of the Future High Street Fund (FHSF) project, it was agreed the 

project boards for the FHSF and HSHAZ would be merged. As the project boards were both 

made up of the same members and officers, sharing similar and, in some instances, 

overlapping risks, merging the boards prevented the need for duplication of information 

while ensuring the projects could proceed in a manner which maximised the benefits 

achieved through collaboration and coordinated working.  

2.8 The delivery of the HSHAZ scheme falls into eight overarching elements:  

• Building Regeneration Grants 

• Conduit Lane Development Appraisal  

• Community Urban Design Framework  

138



 

 
 

• Westgate Hall*  

• Public Realm  

• Community Engagement and Interpretation  

• Management and Legacy  

• Cultural Programme  

*Westgate Hall Options appraisal has been included as an addition to the initial programme 

design following the assessment process.  

Westgate Hall 

2.9 This report has a specific focus on the potential to secure additional funding through the 

scheme, to support the regeneration of the Grade II-listed building known as Westgate Hall.  

2.10 In February 2021 a call out was made for Grantham residents to share their memories and 

photographs of Westgate Hall to help further explore its history, better understand its 

significance to the community and secure the future of one the town’s most iconic buildings. 

This was the first project to launch as part of the HSHAZ. A Facebook site was created to 

promote Westgate Hall and can be visited online at:  

https://facebook.com/westgatehallgrantham/ 

2.11 Conception Architects were appointed as the Specialist Conservation Architect to undertake an 

options appraisal to ascertain a commercially and socially viable future for Westgate Hall. The 

options appraisal was received in August 2021 (see Background Paper – Westgate Hall 

Options Appraisal). 

2.12 A meeting has since been held with all relevant parties to discuss the next steps. The owner 

and tenant have jointly appointed an architect for the project - Evans McDowell Architects, 

who will produce the necessary specifications and designs for the works, oversee the 

planning application and manage the project throughout. A site meeting has been held with 

the Council’s Principal Conservation Officer and Assistant Director of Planning to review 

general proposed works and discuss how to ensure the planning process runs smoothly 

given time constraints.   

2.13 Those familiar with the building will know that Westgate Hall in Westgate has already been 

renovated externally, with the stonework now looking good as new. The building was 

constructed in around 1852 and is understood to have originally been used as a corn 

exchange. Essentially a single storey building with high ceilings, although has a basement 

and first floor to the front aspect.   

3 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

3.1 The Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee received a progress 

update on 8 September 2021 relating to HSHAZ, which included reference to Westgate Hall.  

3.2 A paper was presented to the HSHAZ Project Board in November 2021 outlining the funding 

proposal for Westgate Hall (see Appendix A – Westgate Hall funding proposal).  

3.3 At its February 2022 meeting, the combined FHSF and HSHAZ Board gave in-principle 

approval to allocate circa £300,000 grant to restore Westgate Hall and bring it back into use, 

subject to Cabinet approval.   

 

139

https://facebook.com/westgatehallgrantham/


 

 
 

4 Available Options Considered 

4.1 The condition survey completed as part of the options appraisal indicated that to bring the 

building back to a useable shell condition would likely cost in the region of £470,000 – 

£490,000, and that following this work the building would likely be worth in the region of 

£325,000 

4.2 The valuations demonstrate bringing the property back to a usable shell condition would 

incur a conservation deficit of between £101000 – £165,000 should the works be completed 

by the current property owner, and £286,000 – £350,000 should purchase costs be included. 

It should be noted that these estimates were produced 12 in June 2021, and as such will 

have increased inline with inflation.  This makes it unlikely that the building will be brought 

back into use without some form of financial aid.  

4.3 Listed building restoration not only preserves buildings for future generations, it also 

preserves our past.  Grantham boasts a long and rich history and buildings such as 

Westgate Hall reflect that.  While acting as a visual representation of the town’s history, 

buildings such as Westgate Hall are a testament to the architectural expertise of ancestors.  

However, it is crucial that listed building restoration is completed in a sustainable and 

sympathetic way, using traditional materials and methods which will ensure its longevity and 

reduce the maintenance burden in years to come.  

4.4 While everyone wants to see heritage buildings looking at their best, beauty is more than 

skin deep when it comes to listed buildings.  The stonework may look clean and undamaged, 

however, underneath may tell a very different story. This is the case with Westgate Hall. If 

no steps are taken to restore the building it will continue to deteriorate. The building is 

currently suffering from water ingress which will exacerbate the rate of deterioration, and 

the costs of repair. It will take careful restoration and cleaning to preserve this historic and 

listed buildings for the future while also reducing unnecessary costs. It is for this reason, 

coupled with the project receiving the full support of Historic England, that the do-nothing 

option was discounted  

5 Preferred Option 

5.1 With the options work complete on Westgate Hall, the window for the potential of additional 

support from Historic England to support the repairs is narrowing. Therefore, the preferred 

option is for Cabinet to approve the allocation of £300,000 grant to restore Westgate Hall 

and bring it back into use.  

6 Reasons for the Recommendation 

6.1 The HSHAZ is playing a key role in the economic and social recovery of Grantham town 

centre following COVID-19. Undertakings by working with local people and partners to help 

breathe new life in buildings that are rich in heritage should be encouraged as this makes 

them more attractive to residents, businesses, tourists and investors.  

6.2 The restoration of Westgate Hall will enhance other regeneration works which are being 

delivered in and around the market place from both the High Street Heritage Action Zone 

and the Future High Streets Fund. The scale and fabric of the building are distinct from any 

other building in the area and as such its current state has a disproportionately negative 

impact on the area.  Likewise, when the regeneration of the building is complete it will have 

a much more significant positive impact on the area than other projects, with the potential 

to act as a catalyst for further regeneration.   

140



 

 
 

6.3 The project will support South Kesteven District Council’s economic development and 

regeneration ambitions and will be complementary to future regeneration efforts focused 

though the UK Shared Prosperity Fund and the government’s Levelling Up agenda.  

6.4 Both the property owner and the tenant will be making financial contribution to the project, 

with the owner contributing to the repair and reinstatement works supported by the grant, 

and the tenant funding the fit out of the property. It is estimated that their combined 

contribution to the project will be in the region of £300,000. This private sector investment 

into the scheme represents double the total target public sector investment for the Grantham 

Heritage Action Zone programme as a whole.  

6.5 The tenant is a well-respected operator who aims to create a destination venue in Grantham 

which will attract people to visit the district, supporting the visitor economy, and enhancing 

and diversifying the evening/ night time economy of the town centre. 

6.6 The tenant estimates that when in operation they will create 30 jobs. The restoration of 

Westgate Hall will unlock genuine and significant inward investment to the district, which 

otherwise would be lost.  

7 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

7.1 Following Cabinet’s approval of the allocation of funding, any grant offer to the property 

owner will be subject to a formal approval from Historic England, and all necessary 

permissions (e.g. listed building consent) being in place.  The property owner will also need 

to demonstrate that services have been procured in line with Historic England’s procurement 

requirements.  

7.2 As the grant cannot be offered until the activities associated with the restoration of Westgate 

Hall have been approved by Historic England as eligible expenditure, there will be no risk 

of proposed activity not meeting the scheme criteria.  Therefore, providing processes are 

adhered to, the Council will be able to claim Historic England’s contribution of 60% of the 

allocated grant back.  

8 Financial Implications  

8.1 The Council has committed to provide match funding of £375,660 over four-year period from 

May 2020 to March 2024 to receive funding of £886,540 from Historic England.  

8.2 Third party grants are offered to private owners to deliver capital works approved within the 

scheme. If the work is not carried out satisfactorily, the grant is not paid and therefore there 

is no financial risk to the Council in the delivery of the scheme.  

8.3 Grant payments from Historic England are claimed on a quarterly basis, in arrears, for 

expenditure evidenced within the previous quarter.  

8.4 Funding split for capital project grants is 60% Historic England: 40% South Kesteven District 

Council. Grants are awarded based on a maximum of 80% of the project costs up to the 

maximum value of the grant.  The remainder of the project costs are funded by the property 

owner/ tenant.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer 

 

 

 

141



 

 
 

9 Legal and Governance Implications  

9.1 The acceptance and management of grants should be in accordance with the Financial 

Regulations under the Council’s constitution. Even though the proposed decision is a 

recommendation to Historic England, it is considered good governance to take it through 

Cabinet as a Key Decision due to it being a single grant allocation of significant value which 

exceeds the Council’s financial threshold in its Financial Regulations. 

9.2 The publication of this Key Decision on the Forward Plan within the required 28 days has 

not been possible. The funding allocated to the Heritage Action Zone Scheme must be spent 

by March 2023 and a delay for a further 28 days would add complications in meeting this 

deadline, taking into account the nature of the project and procurement with specialist 

providers which needs to take place. 

9.3 The urgency provisions under paragraph 17 (General Exceptions) of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules have therefore been applied, with the necessary notice 

published on 30 June 2022 as set out below: 

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35005/Grantham%20High%20Stree

t%20Heritage%20Action%20Zone%20Scheme.pdf 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer  

10 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

10.1 The programme design for the HSHAZ ensures there is equality of opportunity and that no 

individual or groups are disadvantaged or discriminated against because of race, sex, 

disability, religion or belief, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, maternity and 

pregnancy, marriage or civil partnership, age, or social inequality. 

11 Risk and Mitigation 

11.1 The day-to-day administration of the HSHAZ is supported by the HAZ Project Manager, 

employed by the Council, and located within the Council’s economic development team - 

InvestSK. Governance and management arrangements have been developed in line with 

Historic England criteria. The Risk Assessment identifies the risks and impacts across the 

programme and proposed mitigation. The Risk Assessment is regularly reviewed by the 

HSHAZ Project Board, and as part of the programme monitoring arrangements.  

11.2 For each risk identified, mitigation and control measures have been identified to reduce the 

risk to an appropriate level and are being implemented. 

12 Community Safety Implications  

12.1 The HSHAZ programme is intended to lead to Grantham becoming a more engaging and 

welcoming town. An important element of the programme is the delivery of cultural events 

intended to attract visitors, including during the evening, leading to greater footfall. 

13 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

13.1 Through the programme there is a focus on repair and sustainability utilising traditional 

materials and skills. Where possible building elements and shopfronts will be repaired rather 

than replaced, ensuring the greatest possible retention of historic materials and the creation 

of the least possible waste.  

142

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35005/Grantham%20High%20Street%20Heritage%20Action%20Zone%20Scheme.pdf
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35005/Grantham%20High%20Street%20Heritage%20Action%20Zone%20Scheme.pdf


 

 
 

13.2 The use of traditional materials where replacements need to be made ensures lower carbon 

options are utilised. For example, preventing timber windows from being replaced with 

UPVC units which both damage the historic value of the property and are high carbon 

products with a much shorter useable lifespan. Similarly, the use of lime mortar generates 

approximately 20% less carbon dioxide (CO2) than similar volumes of cement and is also 

necessary for the long-term conservation of the historic fabric of buildings.  

13.3 Encouraging and upskilling property owners and tenants in maintenance skills aims to 

ensure interventions are long lasting and sustainable. Encouraging reuse and repurposing 

of existing buildings within the town reduces the impact of embodied carbon within the 

structures and removes the carbon cost of new build properties. 

14 Other Implications (where significant)  

14.1 It is unlikely there will be another opportunity to access this type and level of funding in the 

foreseeable future.  

15 Background Papers 

15.1 Westgate Hall Options Appraisal – the full version of the options appraisal is available 

online at: 

 

Westgate Hall Options Appraisal.pdf (southkesteven.gov.uk) 

 

15.2 Budget Proposals for 2020/21 and indicative budgets for 2021/22 and 2022/23 – A district 

that works for everyone, delivering opportunity – Report to Council, published on 2 March 

2020, available online at:  

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25022/Council%20Budget%20Report

.pdf 

 

15.3 Update report on Grantham High Street Heritage Action Zone Project – Report to Culture 

and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee, published on 8 September 2021, 

available online at:  

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30754/HAZ%20Report.pdf 

16 Appendices 

16.1 Appendix A - Westgate Hall funding proposal 

 

 

 

 

143

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35104/Westgate%20Hall%20Options%20Appraisal.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25022/Council%20Budget%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25022/Council%20Budget%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30754/HAZ%20Report.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A: Westgate Hall funding proposal 

Paper presented to the High Street Heritage Action Zone and Future High Street Fund 

Project Board in November 2021 

Background 

1. Westgate Hall was built in 1852 as a corn exchange (the second of two exchange 

halls in Grantham, the other being on the High Street). The building sits at the 

junction of Westgate and the Market Place, and its stone façade, so different from 

the surrounding buildings, stands as a landmark in the townscape.  

 

2. Westgate Hall has had several uses throughout its history. Through each 

reinvention it has always been a place for the people of Grantham to come 

together.  

 

3. Last used as a nightclub, the building has been vacant for around five years 

(although the property owner regained control of the building from its tenant 

approximately three years ago). The building is in a poor state of repair, and 

although generally structurally sound, there has been damage to the building from 

a small fire and flooding in the basement, as well as areas of water ingress. This 

is primarily related to the 12 large octagonal skylights in the roof which were 

boarded up to suit the use of the building as a night club.  

 

4. A condition survey and options appraisal were completed on the building in 2021, 

funded by Historic England and South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) through 

the Grantham High Street Heritage Action Zone (HS-HAZ) programme.  

 

5. The report identified several potential uses for the building, which would secure its 

future and support the regeneration aims for the town centre, and in particular the 

Market Place.  

 

6. At the time of commissioning the report the property owner was keen to sell 

Westgate Hall, and SKDC had expressed some interest in acquiring the property, 

to bring it back into suitable use.  However, following the impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic on council resources it is now far less likely that the council would be 

interested to acquire the property.  

 

7. A costed schedule of repair for the building was produced by Bhangals 

Construction Consultants, as part of the options appraisal (June 2021), which 

quantified the cost of restoring the building back to a usable shell condition as 

between £426,000 – £515,000 (including professional fees, preliminaries, and 

price and design risk).  

145



8. Westgate Hall was valued at £185,000 in its current condition and estimated that 

following the completion of the repair and reinstatement works identified, the value 

of the property would be expected to be in the region of £325,000.  

 

9. These valuations demonstrate that bringing the property back into use would incur 

a conservation deficit of between £101000 – £165,000 should the works be 

completed by the current property owner, and £286,000 – £350,000 should 

purchase costs be included. This makes it unlikely that the building will be brought 

back into use without some form of financial aid.  

Likely Costs 

10. Based on the cost estimates provided in the Westgate Hall Options Appraisal 

(Quantity Surveyors Cost Plan), there are two options of grant level which could be 

appropriate, depending on which elements of the work are deemed eligible.  

 

11. The estimates below are based on a grant intervention rate of 60% of costs for 

repair work and 80% for reinstatement work.  Preliminary fees and professional 

fees are included in the estimates as eligible costs at the rate of 60% 

Option 1: All works to first fix (preferred option)  

12. This would include all the works listed in the Quantity Surveyors Cost Plan, except 

works which are purely cosmetic/ decorative, such as finishing surfaces in white 

paint.  

 

13. Works to remove existing paint from historic surfaces (e.g. on interior stonework, 

pillars and fireplaces) is included as eligible works. 

 

14. This option also includes grant support for the provision of a small, single person, 

lift in the building which would make the first-floor function/ meeting room 

accessible.  

 

15. This would be dependent on planning consent, however if it were possible to add 

a small lift in the building – it would provide an option for an attractive, accessible 

private function space which is lacking within the town centre.  

 

16. The price plan gave a provisional sum for a lift of £13,650 - which at a 60% rate 

would be grant aided to a value of £8,190.  

 

17. Although clarification is needed from Historic England as to if this would be an 

eligible cost, accessibility improvements (including construction of ramps and 

creation of a level floor) have been considered eligible costs in projects completed 

in other HS-HAZ schemes.  

 

146



Total Eligible Costs: £354,939 

Estimated Grant (ex. VAT): £244,003   

Estimated Grant Inc. VAT:      £292,803 

 

Option 2 – Excluding works to the basement  

18. The cost appraisal includes works to the basement to create storage space and a 

staff break room/ office.  This largely includes the removal of equipment and 

fixtures, furniture related to the former night club, as well as decorative works.  

 

19. Arguably, the building could be brought into usable condition without the 

basements being subject to works (other than anything necessary to address any 

water ingress/ damage). Other spaces within the building could be used to create 

staff/ office space (such as the former retail units – although this would prevent 

these being used as income generating spaces). 

 

20. When the building was generating income, it may then be possible for the owner 

to self-fund repair work to the basement.  

Total Eligible Costs (excluding basement works):             £297,424 
 

Estimated Grant (ex VAT):                                                 £213,257 
 

Estimated Grant Inc. VAT:                                                £255,908 
 

 

Important Notes:  

21. These costs are an estimate based on the quantity surveyor report and not a 

contractor’s tender, the final grant amount will need to be adjusted based on actual 

tender costs. 

 

22. As condition survey completed for the options appraisal did not include a high-level 

survey of the roof of Westgate Hall. The cost plan has made provision for survey 

of the roof, yet no capital costs (other than works to the roof windows in the main 

hall, for which a provisional sum has been included).  

 

23. This presents risk that costs may increase if the repair work to the windows and 

roof has been underestimated.  

 

24. As the cost plan was completed in June 2021, that inflation will have impacted 

these costs. Current inflation estimates for the construction industry are 

approximately 8-10%.  

 

147



25. As the property owner is not VAT registered, VAT is an eligible cost under Historic 

England’s guidance. For this reason, values for estimated grants have been given 

both exclusive and inclusive of VAT.  

 

26. Historic England do not typically permit a contingency allowance to be included 

within a grant offer and as such there is no contingency included in the estimated 

grant amount.  

 

27. Instead of contingency, should additional funding be required due to unforeseen 

circumstances, Historic England will consider increasing the grant amount.  

Budget implications  

28. As this project was not originally included in the programme design the existing 

budgets for key buildings within the scheme is not sufficient to grant aid this project 

to the levels suggested above.  

 

29. As such it is proposed that the budget which is currently allocated for public realm 

work (£204,000) be redirected towards this project.  This would be supplemented 

with funds from the ‘key buildings/ shopfront’ budget.  

 

30. The public realm budget within the HS-HAZ has largely been superseded by the 

Future High Street Fund programme with respect of any work in the Marketplace, 

and it is unlikely that work in any other areas (e.g. the Vine Street Junction, or 

outside St Wulfram’s Church) would have as significant a regenerative impact for 

the town as bringing Westgate Hall back into a useable condition.  

 

31. Funding split: As with all the capital elements of the HS-HAZ programme, the 

funding split between SKDC and Historic England for the project would be 40% 

SKDC funds, 60% Historic England funds, with the remainder of the project costs 

met by the property owner.  

 

32. This project has the support of Historic England.  However, as their contribution to 

the grant would be more than £50,000 it will require referral for formal approval. 

Formal approval will also be required to divert funding from public realm works. 

148



 

 

Report Author 

Claire Morgan, Senior Accountant 

 
01476 406051 

 claire.morgan@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance 28 June 2022 

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  28 June 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

 29 June 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

Cabinet is asked to: 

• Review and recommend for approval to Governance and Audit Committee the 
provisional position for the financial year 2021/22. 

• Review and approve the budget carry forwards (appendices D and H). 

• Review and recommend to Governance and Audit Committee the following 
reserve movements in respect of the General Fund: 

 

 

 

Cabinet 
 

12 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

 The Deputy Leader of the Council 

 

Provisional Outturn Position Report 2021/22 

This report provides Cabinet with the detail of the Council’s provisional outturn position for the 
financial year 2021/22. The report covers the following areas: 
 

- General Fund Revenue Budget 

- Housing Revenue Account Budget 

- Capital Programmes – General Fund and HRA  

149

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


o The balance of the COVID recovery reserve of £1.286m to be transferred to 
the:  

▪ ICT reserve increase by £0.202m 

▪ Waste and recycling reserve increase by £0.084m 

▪ Creation of an Inflation reserve to £0.500m 

▪ Invest to save reserve increase by £0.500m 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1   This report provides Cabinet with the detail of the Council’s provisional outturn position 

for the financial year 2021/22.  This report will be presented to Governance and Audit 

Committee on 20 July 2022 in order to seek approval of the outturn position and proposed 

reserve movements. 

1.2 This report focuses on the more significant variances, a financial threshold of £20k has 

been followed in order to focus on those variances that are material.  An overview of the 

provisional outturn is presented in the main report and there a number of supporting 

appendices that provide greater detail in respect of: 

- General Fund (GF) – Revenue, Capital and reserves 

- Housing Revenue Account (HRA) – Revenue, Capital and reserves  

In order to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards, a number of 

technical accounting entries are required to be made which can create significant 

variances. These entries are removed at table 4 to provide a more meaningful 

comparison.  The report ensures that, through explanation and presentation, the final 

account figures can be reconciled back to the budget set by the Council.  Table 1 shows 

the overall summary outturn. 

Table 1 – 2021/22 Overall Provisional Summary 

Heading 2021/22 Budget (not 
including proposed 

budget C/F) 

£m 

2021/22  

Provisional 
Outturn 

 £m 

Commentary 

General Fund 
Revenue 
Account  

20.065 20.798 Details shown at section 2 
and appendices A & B  

General Fund 
Capital 

8.724 5.198 Details shown at section 3 
and appendix C 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

(5.435) (3.711) Details shown at section 5 
and appendix F  

HRA Capital 23.816 8.778 Details shown at section 6 
and appendix G  

 

 

 

150



Salary Vacancy Factor 

1.3 The Council has a budgeted salary vacancy factor calculated at 3.0% of salary budgets 
to offset against in year vacant posts. The General Fund achieved the salary factor 
budget of (£438k) and the HRA achieved (£113k) against a budget of (£136k) as a small 
number of vacant posts were used to fund the cost of interim staff. 
 
Carry Forwards 
 

1.4 Due to timing differences in grants and budgets being approved, it is proposed to carry 
a number of budgets forward into 2022/23 to fund specific and previously approved 
projects and Cabinet is asked to review and approve these. The details are shown at 
Appendix D (General Fund) and Appendix H (HRA). 
 

1.5 Commentary and review of reserves are detailed at sections 4 (General Fund) and 7 
(HRA). Reserves statements are shown at Appendix E (General Fund) and Appendix I 
(HRA). 

2 Revenue Budget 2021/22 – General Fund  

The budget set by Budget Council on 2 March 2020 was £17.351m.  Budgets have been 

amended as projects have commenced and these changes increased the 2021/22 

budget to £20.065m. For the purposes of the outturn variance analysis, the budget carry 

forwards have been removed from this which reduces the budget for comparative 

purposes to £18.433m.  Table 2 provides a summary of the budget amendments. 

Table 2 – General Fund Revenue Budget Amendments 

 

Date of Approval Revenue Budget amendment £’000 

  17,351 

May 2021 Leisure SK – Local Priorities Reserve 108 

June 2021 Regeneration Reserve 72 

July 2021 2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards 1,847 

September 2021 Invest to Save 91 

October 2021 ICT Reserve 80 

October 2021 Climate Change 20 

October 2021 Maintenance Reserve 110 

November 2021 Local Priorities Reserve 23 

March 2022 Waste and Recycling Initiative Reserve 160 

March 2022 Local Priorities Reserve 13 

March 2022 Maintenance Reserve 153 

March 2022 Insurance Reserve 37 

Total  20,065 

 

2.1 The forecast outturn position was regularly reported to the Finance, Economic 

Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee throughout the 

financial year 2021/22.  At the last update, the forecast adverse variance on the total cost 

of provision of service was £528k.  However, during the remaining period of the financial 

year additional income relating to business rates was received which was not anticipated 

at the time of the last forecasting report. This had a positive impact on the outturn position 

as shown in table 3. 

2.2 The General Fund outturn position is shown in Table 3 and Appendix A provides a 

detailed breakdown of the funding of the revenue expenditure. Appendix B provides 

details of the variances per service area along with supporting information explaining the 

main variances.   

151



       Table 3 – General Revenue Outturn Position 

 

Description 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget  

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

(less 
proposed 

Budget 
C/F) 

2021/22  
Provisional 

Outturn  

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget 

2021/22 
 Outturn 
Variance 

 

 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 

1 Commercial & Operations 8,530 7,659 8,888 1,229 16.0% 

2 Corporate 7,548 7,489 7,448 (41) (0.5%) 

3 Growth & Culture 5,676 5,507 6,161 654 11.9% 

4 Housing & Property 1,070 537 1,055 518 96.5% 

5 HRA Recharge (2,759) (2,759) (2,759) 0 - 

6 Net Cost of Service 20,065 18,433 20,793 2,360 12.8% 

7 
Removal of Accounting 
Adjustments 

0 0 (2,321) (2,321) - 

8 
Removal of Additional 
Depreciation 

0 0 (366) (366) - 

9 
Re-stated Net Cost of 
Service 

20,065 18,433 18,106 (327) (1.8%) 

10 
Interest Payable and 
Receivable 

(100) (100) (185) (85)  

11 
Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

296 296 136 (160)   

12 
Revenue Contribution to 
Capital 

186 186 0 (186)  

13 Drainage Rates 746 746 742 (4)  

14 Depreciation (4,586) (4,586) (4,586) 0   

15 
Net Budget 
Requirement 

16,607 14,975 14,213 (762)   

16 Funding (14,348) (14,348) (15,386) (1,038)   

17 
Transfers to/(from) 
earmarked reserves 

(2,259) (1,174) 626 1,800   

18 
Budget Carry Forwards 
from 20/21 underspends 

0 547 547 0  

19 
Net Budget 
(Surplus)/Deficit 

0 0 0 0   

 

- Line 7 – removal of accounting entries, specifically:  

- IAS19 (employee pension) - the cost of providing employee benefits should be 
recognised in the period in which the benefit is earned by the employee, rather 
than when it is paid or payable.  

- Revenue Expenditure Financed from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) and 
REFCUS is capital expenditure, which is incurred on non-Council owed assets, 
for example, disabled facilities grants and the shop front grant scheme. 

 

Table 4 provides a breakdown of the accounting adjustments detailed at lines 7 and 8 in 
table 3. 

 

 

152



 Table 4 – Removal of Accounting Adjustments 

Accounting 
Adjustments 

Commercial 
& 

Operations 
£’000 

Corporate 

£’000 

Growth & 
Culture 
£’000 

Housing & 
Property 
£’000 

Total 

£’000 

IAS 19 (1,716) 91 (527) (243) (2,395) 

REFCUS 328 0 10 0 338 

Revaluations 176 0 (251) (153) (228) 

Accumulated 
Absences 

(19) (9) (6) (2) (36) 

Additional 
Depreciation 

(375) (2) 7 4 (366) 

Total (1,606) 80 (767) (394) (2,687) 

 

- Line 9 –shows the total net overall expenditure for the Council. 

- Line 10 – additional interest income has been earned through investment of 
increased cash balances and interest rate changes. No external borrowing was 
required in 2021/22 so no interest charges have been incurred.  

- Line 14 – in accordance with accounting requirements, depreciation is charged at 
the costs of services where relevant (lines 1-4) but then reversed out at line 14 to 
ensure there is not an impact on Council Tax and the General Fund.   

Once the accounting adjustments (line 7 of table 3) and the additional depreciation (line 
8 of table 3) have been removed from the Directorate, the ‘controllable’ variance can be 
identified (line 9 of table 3).  

 

Table 5 – General Revenue Outturn Position (excluding accounting adjustments) 

Description 

2021/22  
Current 
Budget  

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

(less 
proposed 

Budget 
C/F) 

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn  

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget 

2021/22 
Outturn 
Variance 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 

Commercial & Operations 8,530 7,659 7,282 (377) (4.9%) 

Corporate 7,548 7,489 7,528 39 0.5% 

Growth & Culture 5,676 5,507 5,394 (113) (2.1%) 

Housing & Property 1,070 537 661 124 23.1% 

HRA Recharge (2,759) (2,759) (2,759) 0 - 

Net Cost of Service 20,065 18,433 18,106 (327) (1.8%) 

 

2.3 Appendix B provides further details of the outturn revenue position for each Directorate 

along with variance comments. 

 

 

 

 

153



3 General Fund Capital Programme 2021/22 

The budget set by Council on 1 March 2021 for the 2021/22 General Fund Capital 

programme was £4.085m.  Table 6 shows a summary of the movements during the year.   

Table 6 – General Fund Capital Budget 

Date of Approval Capital Budget amendment £’000 

  4,085 

November 2020 Strategic Land acquisition 3,063 

January 2021  Stamford Arts Centre – Fire Alarm 75 

March 2021 Decarbonisation Scheme 950 

May 2021 Additional Disabled Facilities Grant 2021/22 115 

July 2021 2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards 436 

Total  8,724 

 

3.2 Table 7 summarises the General Fund capital outturn position as at 31 March 2022. 

There is an underspend of £2.230m which includes an underspend of £328k Disabled 

Facilities Grant, deferral of works to the re-surfacing of Welham car park, £950k 

underspend on the Decarbonisation Grant as the scheme did not progress and £471k 

underspend on the design works for the new depot which will be completed during 

2022/23. 

 

Table 7 – General Fund Capital Outturn Position 
 

Heading 

2021/22 
Amended 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2021/22  
 Budget 
(less C/F 
approved 

by 
Council 
March 
2022)  
£’000 

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn 
 

£’000 

2021/22 
Outturn 
Variance 

 
£’000 

Commercial & Operations 6,757 6,694 4,725 (1,969) 

Corporate  50 50 23 (27) 

Growth & Culture 1,178 215 83 (132) 

Housing & Property 739 469 367 (102) 

Total Expenditure 8,724 7,428 5,198 (2,230) 

Financed By:     

Capital Grant and Contributions (2,750) (2,007) (730) 1,277 

Capital Reserve (122) (122) (142) (20) 

Revenue Reserve Funding (1,206) (653) (428) 225 

Useable Capital Receipts (1,583) (1,583) (1,306) 277 

Borrowing (3,063) (3,063) (2,592) 471 

Total Financing (8,724) (7,428) (5,198) 2,230 

 

3.3 Details of the individual capital schemes included in each directorate are detailed at 

Appendix C including variance comments.  Additional General Fund capital budget carry 

forward requests are detailed in Appendix D and approval of these carry forward requests 

will allow schemes to be completed in 2022/23. 

 

154



4 General Fund Reserves 2021/22 

4.1 An integral element of the closedown procedure is to undertake a review of the usage 

and levels of the Council’s reserves and balances.  The financial statements reflect the 

proposed use of these and specific details of the significant balances and reserves are 

set out below and detailed at Appendix E.  A summary of the key observations and 

proposals are: 

- It is proposed that that the balance on the COVID recovery reserve is used top up a 

number of different reserves below to manage anticipated pressures over the medium 

term. 

- ICT reserve – it is proposed that the balance on this reserve is increased by £0.202m 

in order to provide funding towards the ICT hardware renewal programme. 

- Waste and Recycling reserve – a top up of £0.084m to this reserve is proposed in 

order to manage the cost pressures in respect of materials (workshop) when vehicles 

require external repair. 

- Invest to save reserve – a top up of £0.500m to this reserve is proposed in order to 

continue to fund future invest to save proposals. 

- Proposal to create an Inflation Reserve to manage the inflationary pressures the 

Council is anticipating in relation to utility and fuel costs.  These costs will be monitored 

as part of budget monitoring process during 2022/23 and any significant variances will 

be reported to members.  The balance on this reserve will be £0.500m which has been 

created from the unutilised balance on the COVID recovery reserve. 

Discretionary Reserves £11.746m (lines 1-12) 

4.2 These reserves have been established to financially support the delivery of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan ambitions including both revenue and capital projects.  Lines 1 to 12 set 
out the provisional balance on each reserve as at 31 March 2022 based on the specific 
requirements of the reserve use during the financial year.  Commentary is provided below 
on the main movements during the course of the year: 
 

4.3 ICT investment – this reserve has been increased by a net £124k which is a combination 
of the proposed top-up of £202k and in-year reserve use to fund an additional module 
for the Idox system and the Meritec green waste module. 

 

4.4 Local Priorities Reserve – this is the Council’s most significant discretionary reserve and as 

at 31 March 2022 has a closing balance of £6.998m reducing to £4.426m after commitments 

have been taken into consideration.  During the year the Council received New Homes 

Bonus receipt of £1.045m which was credited to the reserve and the reserve was used to 

fund the Leisure SK Ltd management fee and also to fund the prior year 2020/21 budget 

carry forwards. 

4.5 Invest to Save Reserve – this reserve is used to fund initiatives which once implemented 

will achieve an ongoing saving for the Council.  During the year £298k of this reserve was 

used to fund the costs associated with the staffing restructures including the Arts reviews 

and £250k was transferred to the regeneration reserve which was approved by Council on 

1 March 2021 as part of the budget report.  It is proposed that the balance on this reserve 

is increased by £0.5m from the balance remaining on the COVID recovery reserve. 

4.6 Housing Delivery – this reserve is used to continue to respond to on-going demands for 

supporting residents adapt their properties to meet their specific requirements.  A transfer 

of £328k was made to the reserve at year end. 

155



4.7 Regeneration Reserve – this reserve is currently being used to fund the current holding and 

development costs of the St Martins Park site at Stamford.  There has been a net movement 

on the reserve of £207k which reflects the £500k transferred to increase the balance on the 

reserve and the costs incurred during 2021/22. 

Governance Reserves £10.397m (lines 13-22) 

4.8 These reserves are maintained to mitigate risk, satisfy statutory and grant awarding bodies’ 

requirements and support prudent financial management. 

4.9 The Insurance Reserve - provides cover to meet unforeseen costs relating to insurance 

claims over and above the provisions made in year as part of managing the ‘in house risk’ 

with an increased self-insured strategy.  The balance on this reserve is £211k.  

4.10 Pension Reserve - The former employees reserves funds the annual costs associated with 

these individuals.  The balance on these reserves totals £308k at 31 March 2022.   

4.11 Budget Stabilisation Reserve (line 17) - To ensure there is minimum financial disruption to 

the funding of the General Fund in respect of Business Rates income, the Council has 

established a reserve to smooth out fluctuations in year to year funding. This reserve has 

been increased by £1.123m during the year and at 31 March 2022 had a balance of 

£4.531m.  For the financial year 2021/22 there has been no requirement to use this reserve 

as overall costs have been kept within the amended budget framework. 

4.12 COVID Recovery reserve – this reserve was created to manage the ongoing fluctuations in 

budgets arising from ongoing operating restrictions impacting on specific services of the 

Council.  These pressures have now been built into base budgets, it is therefore proposed 

that this reserve is closed and the balance transferred to the ICT reserve, a newly formed 

Inflation reserve, Invest to Save reserve and Waste and Recycling reserve. 

4.13 Section 31 Grant reserve – the section 31 grants received to fund business rates reliefs are 

transferred to this reserve to manage the timing award of the grant with the funding 

requirement period.  The balance on this reserve at 31 March 2022 was £3.73m. 

4.14 Special Expense Area reserves (SEA) – this reserve holds the balance of the SEA income 

which had a balance of £367k at 31 March 2022.  This is broken down as: 

- Bourne SEA increase of £5k to £38k.  This balance will be transferred to Bourne Town 
Council following the removal of Bourne SEA at 31 March 2022. 

- Grantham SEA increase of £76k to £186k 

- Langtoft SEA reduction of £1k to £1k 

- Stamford SEA increase of £11k to £142k 

General Fund working balance £2.010m (line 25) 
 

4.15 The purpose of this working balance is to ensure there is sufficient financial resource 
available in order to meet unforeseen events during the course of the financial year.  The 
proposed minimum balance is set at a level that reflects the financial risk the Council is 
currently exposed to. This objective is also being met from the Budget Stabilisation 
Reserve and therefore the two balances combined provide a robust financial cushion for 
the Council to access should there be further financial volatility or unexpected financial 
costs. This is a provisional balance as further work is being undertaken to determine the 
final outturn position.      

 
 
 
 

156



General Fund Capital Reserves £2.625m (line 31) 
 

4.16 LAMS reserve - The Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) is no longer in operation 
for all authorities; however, the Council continues to receive investment interest that is 
derived from the investment that was placed to support the scheme.  The remaining 
balance of £18k will be retained until six years after the final mortgage which was taken 
out in October 2016.  At the end of the investment period the balance will be reviewed in 
relation to the outstanding guarantee commitment.   
 

4.17 General Fund - Capital Reserve -The General Fund capital reserve is used to assist with 
the funding of the capital programme.  It can be seen that the reserve is close to a zero 
balance which reflects the current Council objective of utilising its reserve to fund the 
capital programme in lieu of undertaking external borrowing.  However it is clear that the 
Council will imminently need to undertake borrowing as internal resources are depleted.   

4.18  Useable Capital Receipts Reserve -This reserve is one of the sources of funding the 
General Fund capital programme. During the year the Council has received £1.562m 
capital receipts which primarily relates to £1.520m repayment of the loan to Gravitas 
Housing Ltd.  It is anticipated that the balance of this reserve will be depleted over the 
next 3 financial year so in order to avoid external borrowing costs, it is important the 
Council continues to identify and proactively dispose of surplus assets in order to 
generate capital receipts. 

5 Revenue Budget 2021/22 – Housing Revenue Account 

5.1 The budget set by Council on 1 March 2021 was a surplus of £5.435m.  This surplus is 

used to provide funding for the external loan and to enable reserve levels to be 

maintained that subsequently fund the capital programme and service improvements.  

Table 8 details the amendments to the 2021/22 budget which reduce the budgeted 

surplus to £3.715m. For the purposes of the outturn variance analysis the budget carry 

forwards have been removed and the actual surplus for the year is £3.711m. The surplus 

is fully utilised to fund future investment in stock growth and property maintenance.  Table 

9 shows the HRA outturn position for 2021/22. 

Table 8 – Housing Revenue Account Budget Amendments 

 

Date of 
Approval 

Revenue Budget amendment £’000 

  (5,435) 

July 2021 2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards 1,720 

Total   (3,715) 

 

       Table 9 – HRA Revenue Outturn Position 

Description 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

less 
proposed 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards 
£’000 

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn 
 

£’000 

Variance 
Budget 

 
£’000 

Income (25,734) (25,734) (25,262) 472 

Expenditure 19,738 19,538 19,595 57 

Net Cost of HRA Services (5,996) (6,196) (5,667) 529 

157



Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,433 2,433 2,432 (1) 

Interest and Investment Income (152) (152) (147) 5 

Investment Property Inc & Exp 0 0 (27) (27) 

Return on Pension Assets  0 0 267 267 

Net (Gain)/loss on sale of HRA Assets  0 0 (729) (729) 

Capital receipts pooling  0 0  844 844 

IAS19* 0 0 (684) (684) 

(Surplus)/Deficit for the year (3,715) (3,915) (3,711) 204 
 

 

5.2 Appendix F provides details of the HRA revenue outturn position together with 

significant variances. 

6 HRA Capital Programme 2021/22 

6.1 The budget set by Council on 1 March 2021 for the 2021/22 HRA Capital Programme 

was £22.716m. Table 10 shows the summary of movements: 
 

Table 10 – General Fund Capital Budget 

Date of Approval Capital Budget amendment £’000 

  22,716 

May 2021 Heating & Ventilation – Green Homes Grant 926 

July 2021 2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards 174 

Total  23,816 

 

6.2 Table 11 summarises the HRA capital provisional outturn position as at 31 March 2022. 

Table 11 – HRA Capital Outturn Position 

Capital Scheme 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2021/22  
Budget 

(less C/F 
approved 

by 
Council 
March 
2022)  
£’000 

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn 
 

£’000 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 
 

£’000 

Energy Efficiency Initiatives 5,266 5,266 2,446  (2,820)  

ICT 720 50 0 (50) 

New Build Programme 11,165 11,165 2,514 (8,651) 

Refurbishment & Improvement 6,417 5,112 3,818 (1,294) 

Repairs Vehicles 248 120 0 (120) 

Total Expenditure 23,816 21,713 8,778 (12,935) 

     

Financed By:     

HRA Capital Receipts Reserve (3,350) (3,350) (1,354) 1,996 

Revenue Reserve (6,221) (6,221) 0 6,221 

Major Repairs Reserve (11,005) (8,902) (5,967) 2,935 

S106 (470) (470) (844) (374) 

Grant Funding (2,770) (2,770) (613) 2,157 

Total Financing (23,816) (21,713) (8,778) 12,935 
 

158



6.3 Appendix G provides a detailed table of the HRA capital programme outturn position 

together with significant variances. 

7 HRA Reserves 2021/22 

7.1 An integral element of the closedown procedure is to undertake a review of the usage 

and levels of the Council’s reserves and balances.  The financial statements reflect the 

proposed use of these and specific details of the significant balances and reserves are 

set out below and detailed at Appendix I. 

HRA Reserves £44.742m Line 9 

7.2 HRA working balance - This balance serves the same purpose as the General Fund 

working balance in that it is established to respond to unforeseen financial events that 

occur during the financial year.  The Council policy is to aim to keep the working balance 

at approximately 10% of the operating expenditure.   

7.3 HRA Capital Receipts Reserve - The Council has established a capital receipts reserve 

where the ‘Right to Buy’ sale receipts are allocated. During the year £3.065m receipts 

have been received with 39 right to buy sales (compared to 29 RTB sales in 2020/21).   

During the year £1.354m of the reserve has been used to contribute towards the 

financing of the capital programme and pooling payments of £844k have been made to 

Government.  This reserve will continue to be utilised to contribute to the provision of 

affordable housing and the provision of additional Council housing stock. 

7.4 Major Repairs Reserve - This reserve has been increased by £6.498m in accordance 

with the HRA business plan and an annual allocation is a requirement in order to provide 

sustainable funding for the HRA capital programme.  In order to provide financing for the 

2021/22 programme an allocation of £5.967m has been utilised.  This will continue to be 

the primary financing for the housing improvement elements of the Capital Programme. 

7.5 HRA Property Development Reserve is proposed to be renamed HRA Priorities Reserve 

in order to provide greater flexibility on how the funds can be used both in terms of 

supporting capital investment in new stock but also to provide financial support for service 

improvements and responding to changes in legislation that may impact on Landlord 

responsibilities. 

2022/23 Budget Framework 

7.6 Since the budget was approved by Council on 3 March 2022 there have been some 

changes to the budget framework as set out below: 

 

Date of Approval Budget 
Amendment 

£’000 Funding 

March 2022 Changing Places 160 External 
Grant 

May 2022 Office relocation  500 Invest to 
Save 
Reserve 

May 2022 Disabled Facilities 
Grant (additional) 

115 External 
Grant  

 

 

159



These changes have now been added to the General Fund and Revenue budgets 

accordingly and will be included in the budget monitoring reports throughout the year.  The 

reserves statement shown at Appendix E includes the £500k being utilised from the Invest 

to Save reserve. 

8 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and 

Scrutiny 

8.1 The provisional outturn report was presented to the Finance, Economic Development 

and Corporate Services OSC on 27 June 2022 .  The OSC has also been kept updated 

throughout 2021/22 with quarterly budget monitoring and forecasting reports.  These 

reports are referenced at the background papers section of this report. 

9 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

9.1 Cabinet Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the Authority, as 

effective budget management is critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in line 

with the budget and are targeted towards the Council's priorities. Monitoring enables the 

early identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective action. 

This report provides an overview of the provisional outturn financial position for the 

Council. 

10 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

10.1 The outturn report is presented to Cabinet for its consideration and in order for it to make 

specific recommendations to the Governance and Audit Committee. 

11 Financial Implications  

11.1 These are included in the report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer 

12 Legal and Governance Implications  

12.1  The terms of reference of the Governance and Audit Committee require the Committee to 

consider for approval the annual revenue and capital outturn report, including the 

movement of reserves. Cabinet is asked to approve the budget carry forwards as set out 

in the supporting appendices. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

13 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

13.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising as a result of this report. 

14 Risk and Mitigation 

14.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have been 

identified. 

15 Community Safety Implications  

15.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report. 

16 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

16.1 The report has a neutral carbon impact. 

160



 

17 Background Papers 

17.1 Determination of Budget 2021/22 and indicative budgets to 2023/24 – General Fund, 

Housing Revenue Account and associated Capital Programmes Report  

http://moderngovsvr/documents/s29198/Budget%20Proposals%20for%20202122%20and

%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202223%20and%20202324.pdf 

17.2 Finance Update Report – April 2021 – May 2021 

http://moderngovsvr/documents/s30469/Finance%20Update%20Report%20April%20-

%20May%202021.pdf 

17.3 Finance Update Report – April 2021 – July 2021 

http://moderngovsvr/documents/s30699/Finance%20Update%20Report.pdf 

17.4 Budget Monitoring Report – Period 1 April – 30 September 2021 

http://moderngovsvr/documents/s31814/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%20-

%20Period%201%20April%20-%2030%20September%202021.pdf 

17.5 Finance Monitoring Update – April to December 2021 

http://moderngovsvr/documents/s32511/Finance%20Monitoring%20Update%20-

%20April%20to%20December%202021.pdf 

 

18 Appendices 

18.1 Appendix A – 2021/22 General Fund Revenue Summary - Outturn  

18.2 Appendix B – 2021/22 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis  

18.3 Appendix C – 2021/22 General Fund Capital Programme – Outturn  

18.4 Appendix D – 2021/22 Budget Carry Forwards General Fund Revenue & Capital 

18.5 Appendix E – 2021/22 General Fund Reserves Statement 

18.6 Appendix F – 2021/22 HRA Revenue Summary - Outturn and Significant Variance 

Analysis 

18.7 Appendix G – 2021/22 HRA Capital Programme – Outturn  

18.8 Appendix H – 2021/22 Budget Carry Forwards HRA Revenue & Capital 

18.9 Appendix I – 2021/22 HRA Reserves Statement  

 

 

161

http://moderngovsvr/documents/s29198/Budget%20Proposals%20for%20202122%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202223%20and%20202324.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s29198/Budget%20Proposals%20for%20202122%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202223%20and%20202324.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s29198/Budget%20Proposals%20for%20202122%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202223%20and%20202324.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s29198/Budget%20Proposals%20for%20202122%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202223%20and%20202324.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s30469/Finance%20Update%20Report%20April%20-%20May%202021.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s30469/Finance%20Update%20Report%20April%20-%20May%202021.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s30699/Finance%20Update%20Report.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s31814/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%20-%20Period%201%20April%20-%2030%20September%202021.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s31814/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%20-%20Period%201%20April%20-%2030%20September%202021.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s32511/Finance%20Monitoring%20Update%20-%20April%20to%20December%202021.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s32511/Finance%20Monitoring%20Update%20-%20April%20to%20December%202021.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

2021/22 General Fund Revenue Summary  
 

Description 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn 

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget  

2021/22 
Outturn 
Variance 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 

Commercial & Operations 8,530 7,659 8,888 1,229 16.0% 

Corporate 7,548 7,489 7,448 (41) (0.5%) 

Growth & Culture 5,676 5,507 6,161 654 11.9% 

Housing & Property 1,070 537 1,055 518 96.5% 

HRA Recharge (2,759) (2,759) (2,759) 0 - 

Net Cost of Service 20,065 18,433 20,793 2,360 12.8% 

Removal of Accounting 
Adjustments 

0 0 (2,321) (2,321) - 

Removal of Additional 
Depreciation 

0 0 (366) (366) - 

Re-Stated Net Cost of 
Service 

20,065 18,433 18,106 (327) (1.8%) 

Interest Payable and 
Receivable 

(100) (100) (185) (85)  

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

296 296 136 (160)   

Revenue Contribution to 
Capital 

186 186 0 (186)  

Drainage Rates 746 746 742 (4)  

Depreciation (4,586) (4,586) (4,586) 0   

Net Budget Requirement 16,607 14,975 14,213 (762)   

Funding and Resources:         

Council Tax (8,114) (8,114) (8,114) 0   

Government Grants (1,432) (1,432) (1,931) (499)  

Retained Business Rates 
(S31 Grant, Pooling Gain, 
Renewable energy) 

(3,808) (3,808) (4,207) (399)   

New Homes Bonus (1,045) (1,045) (1,045) 0   

Collection Fund Deficit 51 51 51 0   

Co-payment losses 
contribution 

0 0 (140) (140)  

Total Funding (14,348) (14,348) (15,386) (1,038)   

Transfers to/(from) 
earmarked reserves 

(2,259) (1,174) 626 1,800   

Budget Carry Forwards 
from 21/22 underspends 

0 547 547 0  

Net Budget 
(Surplus)/Deficit 

0 0 0 0   

 

163



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 

2021/22 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis 

 

Commercial & Operations 

Service 
Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards)  

Current 
Income 
Budget 

 Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards)  

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn (less 
Accounting 

Adjustments) 

 Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget  

 

2021/22 
Outturn 

Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Building 
Control 

937,201 (833,885) 103,316 55,568 (47,748) (46.2%) 

Commercial 
& 
Operations  

286,765 0 286,765 284,121 (2,644) (0.9%) 

Community 
Resilience 

103,959 0 103,959 103,752 (207) (0.2%) 

Corporate 
Operations 

4,098,748 (2,118,743) 1,980,005 2,039,511 59,506 3.0% 

Public 
Protection 

1,513,326 (641,350) 871,976 652,905 (219,071) (25.1%) 

Street 
Scene 

6,407,010 (2,094,395) 4,312,615 4,146,195 (166,420) (3.9%) 

Total 13,347,009 (5,688,373) 7,658,636 7,282,052 (376,584) (4.9%) 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances (>£20,000 only) £’000 

Corporate Operations 

Car parking – Current income levels compared to 2019/20 (pre COVID) are 60% for 
Grantham and 90% for Stamford car parks, with occupancy rates still being 
impacted, resulting in a total loss of income of £257k in year.  

Markets -The use of casual staff at both Grantham and Stamford market has been 
reviewed and resources have been realigned to create efficiency savings of (£34k), 
this is partly offset by a reduction in income of £24k for Stamford Market which is due 
to ongoing trading restrictions. 

Public Conveniences – Business Rates Relief has been awarded resulting in an 
underspend of (£19k).  The staffing of public conveniences has been reduced and 
resources have been realigned to create efficiency savings of (£14k). 

Community Fund – The prior year carry forward budget of £125k was not fully spent 
due to a number of applications exceeding the time period  

Utilities – Reduction in costs due to reduced usage at the Council Offices as staff 
continue to work on a hybrid model of work and home (£25k) 

60 

Public Protection 

A reduction in taxi licensing income of £10k has occurred.  Licence applications for 
hackney licences have reduced by 20% for drivers and 10% for vehicles as there has 

(219) 

165



been less demand for this service during restrictions. 

Various in year vacancies have resulted in an underspend of (£41k). 

An in-year grant award of (£20k) for mandatory licensing changes has contributed 
towards existing establishment costs in year. 

A further grant award of (£100k) for outbreak management will be utilised to fund 
additional costs in 2022/23.  

 

Street Scene 

Green Waste Collection – Additional income of (£61k) has been received for new 
customers for 2021/22. 30,481 households renewing their subscription for 2021/22 
(29,641 in 2020/21) and 1,304 new households joining the service. 95.5% of these 
households made their payment online with 70.5% paying by direct debit. 

Refuse & Recycling/Street Cleansing – Mild weather conditions have reduced the 
requirement for catch up rounds resulting in an underspend of (£30k). 

Bulky Waste – Additional income of (£48k) has been received with the service 
continuing to be used at a high level even after the reopening of household waste 
recycling sites.  

Workshop – A combination of increase in price and quantity of consumables, 
external and specialist repair work in particular on end-of-life vehicles, in particular 
the food waste vehicles for £74k, has resulted in additional spend of £160k. This has 
been funded in year by the Waste reserve. 

(166) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

166



 

 

Corporate 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards)  

Current 
Income 
Budget 

 Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards)  

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn (less 
Accounting 

Adjustments) 

 Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget  

 

2021/22 
Outturn 

Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Centralised & 
Business 
Support 

488,800 (3,200) 485,600 431,975 (53,625) (11.0%) 

Communications 256,100 (4,300) 251,800 283,264 31,464 12.5% 

Corporate 1,609,462 (67,500) 1,541,962 1,825,291 283,329 18.4% 

Finance 1,310,500 (93,550) 1,216,950 1,570,582 353,632 29.1% 

Human 
Resources 

290,600 (5,800) 284,800 207,933 (76,867) (27.0%) 

ICT Services 2,005,558 (93,350) 1,912,208 1,545,126 (367,082) (19.2%) 

Legal & 
Democratic 

1,929,950 (549,200) 1,380,750 1,336,572 (44,178) (3.2%) 

OD & Change 534,224 (33,000) 501,224 551,479 50,255 10.0% 

Revenues & 
Benefits 

20,330,674 (20,417,200) (86,526) (225,227) (138,701) (160.3%) 

TOTAL 28,755,868 (21,267,100) 7,488,768 7,526,995 38,227 0.5% 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Centralised & Business Support 

Continuing reductions in postage, printing and advertising requirements during the 
year has resulted in a forecast under spend of (£48k). New ways of working have 
been incorporated into the budget for 2022/23. 

(54) 
 
 
 
 

Corporate   

Procurement savings not able to be achieved for the financial year is £188k.  A new 

dedicated staffing resource has been employed to ensure there is focus on this 

important area.  

Service review efficiencies of £300k were not achieved but this has been offset 

unanticipated grant of £194k received during the year.  

283 

Finance 

In-year associated restructure costs of £298k, as a result of the implementation of the 

corporate restructure, are to be funded by the Invest to Save reserve. 

Additional audit requirements in respect of asset revaluations have increased 

valuation fees by £20k. 

354 

167



HR 

In year vacancies has resulted in a forecast underspend of (£63k).  

(77) 

ICT 

As hybrid working arrangements and restrictions on working from home continued 

throughout 2021/22, additional hardware requirements in the offices have been 

postponed so reducing the ICT reserve funding by £110k. A reduction in use of 

landline phones has also resulted in an underspend of (£22k).  

In year vacancies have resulted in a forecast underspend of (£67k).  

In year grant award of (£150k) for cyber security was received which will be utilised in 

2022/23. 

(367) 

Legal & Democratic 

Land Charges – The total of local searches has now reached pre pandemic levels 

although the split between chargeable full searches and non- chargeable personal 

searches has increased by 5% to 62% resulting in a reduction in income of £40k. This 

has partially been offset by a reduction in expected agency costs (£20k) which ceased 

once service levels of 10 working days had been achieved. 

In year Elections COVID grant award of (£27k) has been utilised to fund costs in 

2021/22. 

(44) 

Organisational Development & Change 

Process automation projects are currently being reviewed resulting in budgeted 

savings of £170k not being achieved in 2021/22 which is partially offset with the 

reserve funded reduction in contract fee payable.  

52 

Revenues & Benefits 

In year vacancies of Revenues and Benefits officers has resulted in an underspend 

of (£76k). Permanent recruitment has been undertaken. 

As recovery processes have now commenced following restrictions, court costs of 

(£29k) above budgeted levels have been received. 

In year single person discount review has resulted in penalty income of (£25k). 

(139) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

168



Growth & Culture 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards)  

Current 
Income 
Budget 

 Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards)  

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn (less 
Accounting 

Adjustments) 

 Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget  

 

2021/22 
Outturn 

Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Arts & 
Culture 

2,905,220 (1,266,050) 1,639,170 1,448,339 (190,831) (11.6%) 

Development 
& Policy 

1,464,748 (1,408,100) 56,648 90,511 33,863 59.8% 

Growth 
Management 

804,780 (546,572) 258,208 269,422 11,214 4.3% 

Invest SK 370,000 0 370,000 370,000 0 0.0% 

Leisure 3,393,800 (210,350) 3,183,450 3,215,114 31,664 1.0% 

Total 8,938,548 (3,431,072) 5,507,476 5,393,386 (114,090) (2.1%) 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Arts Centres 

An additional successful Cultural Recovery grant application award of (£100k) has 
been utilised to partially support the phased reopening of the venues as they offered 
a reduced programme during 2021/22.  

In year vacancies across a number of posts (£60k) and job retention scheme claims 
of (£49k) to the end of September when the scheme ceased. 

Due to the then ongoing social restrictions, there were no festivals held during 2021/22 
(£146k). 

(191) 

Development & Policy 
There has been a reduced number of major planning application throughout the year 

which typically have significant planning application fees, resulting in a reduction in 

income of £133k. The number of non-major applications have remained consistent with 

previous years. 

In year vacancies have resulted in an underspend of (£40k). Permanent recruitment is 

underway. 

Income recharges for services provided to other local authorities of (£20k). 

34 

Growth Management 

In year vacancies have resulted in an underspend of (£116k). 

Vacant cinema first floor office space - Reduction in running costs of units whilst it 
remained vacant (£51k). 

Heritage Action Zone (Grantham) – scheme has seen delays in procurement, material 
availability and prices affecting the confidence of the property owners resulting in a 
reduction of funding claimed in year of £201k. Grant award body Historic England has 

11 

169



committed funding in 2022/23 to continue programme. 

 

 

 

 

Housing & Property 

Service 
Area 

Current 
Expenditure 
Budget (less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards)  

Current 
Income 
Budget 

 Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards)  

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn 
(less 

Accounting 
Adjustmen

ts) 

 Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget  

 

2021/22 
Outturn 

Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Assets & 
Estates 

1,294,631 (1,150,150) 144,481 444,632 300,151 207.7% 

Housing 1,230,750 (838,251) 392,499 216,449 (176,050) (44.9%) 

TOTAL 2,525,381 (1,988,401) 536,980 661,081 124,101 23.1% 

 
 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Assets & Estates 

Reduction in operational costs of (£87k) for St Martin’s Park during the masterplanning 
of this project. This is offset by a reduced reserve movement from the Regeneration 
reserve. 

Additional masterplanning costs of £253k for St Martins Park will be funded from the 
Regeneration Reserve.  

Reduction in income received from property rentals of £60k when compared to budget 
resulting from a combination of void units and the associated management fee being 
incurred from the external company managing the portfolio. 

 

Housing 

Additional Flexible Homelessness Support Grant of (£70k) received in year will be 
transferred to a reserve to be utilised in future years. 

A reduction in bad debt provision of (£78k). 

300 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(176) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

170



Appendix C 

General Fund Capital Programme Summary 2021/22  
 

Capital Scheme 

2021/22 
Amended 
Current   
Budget  

2021/22  
Amended 

Budget less 
C/F 

approved 
by Council 
March 2022 

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn 

2021/22 
Outturn  
Variance  

Variance comments 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  

Commercial & Operations  

CCTV Camera 
replacement 

40 17 9 (8)  

Disabled Facilities Grant 975 975 647 (328) 

Applications for the use of the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 

are received via referrals from Lincolnshire County Council 

Occupational Therapy Team.  Funding is received from an 

annual Government grant and any unspent budget at the year 

end is transferred to a specific reserve in order to fund future 

demands. 112 grants have been approved and 98 adaptations 

were completed in 2021/22.   Average value of each approved 

grant was £4,896.  Due to lead times for contractors,  grants 

approved in 2021/22 where works were not actually completed 

on site by 31/3/22 transfer into 2022/23 commitments 

Pool Car Vehicles 26 26 0 (26) Scheme no longer required in 21/22 

Street Scene Vehicle 
Procurement 

228 228 0 (228) 
No further vehicles have been procured until the review of 
vehicle specification including electrification has been 
completed so a budget carry forward is proposed 

Trade Waste Bins 24 24 46 22 
Cost of additional bins following an increase in service users 
above the budgeted level. This cost is offset by fees & charges 
income for the service 

171



Vehicle Replacement 
Programme (Freighters) 

696 696 1,221 525 
3 freighters ordered for April 22 were delivered on site in 
March. Funding for 2022/23 programme will be reduced to 
reflect this 

Wheelie Bin Replacements 122 122 108 (14) 
Delivery of the final order which was scheduled for 2021/22 
has been delayed until early 2022/23 so a budget carry forward 
is proposed 

Vehicle Electric Charging 
Points 

0 0 3 3 The scheme has now been completed 

Commercial Vehicle 60 60 60 0  

Car Parking Provision 50 50 18 (32) Reduced number (3) of parking machines purchased 

Welham Car Park - 
Resurfacing 

340 340 0 (340) 
Feasibility works have been completed and budget included in 

2022/23 

Welham Car Park - Lift 50 50 0 (50) 
Feasibility works have been completed and budget included in 
2022/23 

Market Stall Covers 28 28 16 (12) Scheme partially funded by Welcome Back funding 

Wyndham Park Play Area 60 60 5 (55) 
£54,000 FCC funding approved. Procurement undertaken and 
works due to be completed in 2022/23 so a budget carry 
forward is proposed 

Decarbonisation Scheme 950 950 0 (950) 
Project unable to be completed within timescales of grant 
provider. Unspent award to be returned to Salix 

Cycle Shelter & Changing 45 5 0 (5)  

Depot 3,063 3,063 2,592 (471) 
Design work will continue into 2022/23 so a budget carry 
forward is proposed 

Total 6,757 6,694 4,725 (1,969)  

Corporate 

Finance System Upgrade 50 50 23 (27) 
System upgrade is in progress with go live date planned for 
September 2022 so a budget carry forward is proposed 

Total 50 50 23 (27)  

172



Growth & Culture 

Deepings LC – All Weather 
Pitch 

700 0 0 0  

Heritage Action Zone - 
Grantham 

288 150 83 (67) 

Scheme delays due to procurement and materials availability 
issues, programme will continue in 2022/23.  A budget carry 
forward of £138k was approved by Council on 1 March 2022 
and a further carry forward for the remaining budget of £67k is 
proposed 

Grantham Meres LC - 
Boiler 

65 65 0 (65) 
As procurement is underway, the scheme is expected to be 
completed in 2022/23. A budget carry forward is proposed 

Shop Front Scheme 125 0 0 0  

Total 1,178 215 83 (132)  

Housing & Property      

Stamford Arts Centre - 
Roof 

81 81 85 4  

Invest & Regeneration 42 42 50 8  

GAC - Renovations 170 120 84 (36) The scheme of works has been reduced following feasibility 

GAC – Digital Boards 15 15 0 (15) Scheme funded by Welcome Back Fund 

Stamford Arts Centre – 
Refurbishment 

66 66 30 (36) 
Scheme of works to continue in 2022/23 so a net budget carry 
forward of £19k is proposed 

Stamford Arts Centre – 
Fire Alarm 

95 95 112 17 
Scheme spend is higher than estimated so the overspend will 
be funded from the refurbishment budget 

Stamford Arts Centre – 
Toilets Refurbishment 

200 25 6 (19) 
Scheme of works to continue in 2022/23 so in addition to the 
£175k carry forward approved by Council on 1 March 2022 an 
additional budget carry forward of £19k is proposed  

Cattle Market Stamford 70 25 0 (25) 
Initial due diligence work underway - project expected to 
commence in 2022/23 so a budget carry forward is proposed 

Total 739 469 367 (102)  

Capital Programme Total 8,724 7,428 5,198 (2,230)  

173



 

174



Appendix D 

Budget Carry Forwards – General Fund Revenue 2021/22 
 

Project 

Proposed 
Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Funding Commentary 

Funding of Climate 
Change initiative 

51 Local Priorities 
reserve £20k 

Climate Change 
reserve £31k 

Funding in order to continue 
to deliver initiatives as 
identified  

Funding of Street Lighting 
replacement programme 

49 Invest to Save 
reserve 

Request to carry over 
remaining budget 

Funding of Waste 
Management system 
procurement 

17 Invest to Save 
reserve 

Request to carry over 
remaining budget 

Funding of Maintenance 
of assets requirements 

153 Maintenance 
reserve 

Approval already in place via 
a Non-key decision  

Funding of Website 
procurement 

42 ICT reserve Funding requested in order to 
proceed with the development 
of a replacement website  

Funding of Saint Martin’s 
Park master planning 

24 Regeneration 
reserve 

Request to carry over 
remaining budget in order to 
continue the progression of 
the project  

Funding of Depot 
(revenue) 

279 Regeneration 
reserve 

Request to carry over 
remaining approved budget 
for the continuation of the 
project 

Funding of the District 
local plan 

111 Specific reserve 
£32k 

2021/22 unspent 
grant £79k 

Request to carry over 
remaining budget 

Funding of meeting 
rooms and office 
refurbishment 
programme   

326 Budget 
underspend 
21/22 

This is the remaining balance 
of the approved £350k   

Funding of Changing 
Places 

25 21/22 unspent 
grant 

Request to carry over 
remaining budget to 
contribute towards changing 
places implementation 

Funding of Community 
Fund applications 

17 21/22 unspent 
grant 

£17k approved schemes 
payable in 2022/23 

Funding of Blue Green 
Corridor project 

100 21/22 unspent 
grant 

Request to carry over 
remaining approved budget 
for the continuation of the 
project 

175



Sub Total 1,194   

Grants: 

- Blue Green 
Corridor 
project 

- Homelessness 
- Rough 

Sleeper 
- Outbreak 

Management 
- Protect & 

Vaccinate 
- Cultural 

Consortium 
 

 
 

73 
 
 

71 
86 

 
168 

 
18 

 
 

22 
 

  

Grants & contributions 
received that are required to 
fund specific expenditure 
items in 2022/23. 

Total 1,632   

 
 
 
Financing Summary Table - Revenue 

 

Funding  £’000 

Grant funding 438 

ICT reserve 42 

Local Priorities Reserve 20 

Invest to save 66 

Maintenance Reserve 153 

Climate Change Reserve 31 

Regeneration Reserve 303 

Specific Reserves 32 

Budget underspend 21/22 326 

2021/22 unspent grant 221 

Total 1,632 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

176



Budget Carry Forwards – General Fund Capital 2021/22 
 

Project 

Budget Carry 
Forward 

£’000 

Funding 

Street Scene Vehicle Procurement 228 Usable Capital Receipts 

Wheelie Bin Replacements 14 Capital Reserve 

Wyndham Park Play Area 55 Revenue Grant (54) SEA 
reserve (1) 

Depot 471 Borrowing 

Finance System Upgrade 27 Local Priorities Reserve 

Heritage Action Zone- Grantham 67 Local Priorities Reserve 

Mere’s LC - Boiler 65 Usable Capital Receipts 

Stamford Arts Centre - Refurbishment 19 Useable Capital Receipts 

Stamford Arts Centre – Toilets 
Refurbishment 

19 Useable Capital Receipts 

Cattle Market Stamford 25 Regeneration Reserve 

Total 990  

 

Financing Summary Table – Capital  
 

Funding  £’000 

Capital Reserve 14 

Borrowing 471 

Grant 54 

Useable Capital Receipts 331 

Local Priorities Reserve 94 

Regeneration Reserve 25 

SEA Reserve 1 

Total 990 

 

177



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E 

Reserves – General Fund 2021/22 

  

Description 

Actual 
Balance as 

at 31 
March 
2021 
£’000 

Provisional 
movement 

£’000 

Provisional 
Balance 

as at 
31 March 

2022 
£’000 

Reserve 
Use 

Committed 
2022/23 

 
£’000 

TOTAL 
 
 
 
 

£’000 

  Discretionary Reserves         

1 Climate Change 40 (9) 31 (31) 0 

2 Commercial 500 (250) 250 (250) 0 

3 Training and Development 15 0 15 0 15 

4 Street Scene 222 (105) 117 27 144 

5 ICT investment 376 124 500 (138) 362 

6 Economic Development & Growth 32 0 32 (32) 0 

7 Local Priorities Reserve 6,641 357 6,998 (2,572) 4,426 

8 Invest to Save 1,016 (207) 809 (309) 500 

9 Housing Delivery 1,468 328 1,796 0 1,796 

10 Property Maintenance 357 (244) 113 341 454 

11 Regeneration 1,293 (208) 1,085 (773) 312 

12 Food Waste 50 (50) 0 0 0 

    12,010 (264) 11,746 (3,737) 8,009 

  Governance Reserves       

13 Insurance Reserve 272 (61) 211 0 211 

14 
Pensions Reserve - Former 
Employees 341 (33) 308 (33) 

 
275 

15 Budget Stabilisation 3,408 1,123 4,531 (1,581) 2,950 

16 Covid Recovery 1,286 (1,286) 0 0 0 

17 Section 31 Grant Reserve 8,328 (4,598) 3,730 (3,730) 0 

18 Building Control Reserve 58 18 76 (26) 50 

19 Football 3G Pitch 100 25 125 25 150 

20 Special Expense Area Reserve 276 91 367 61 428 

21 Revenue Grants 94 455 549 0 549 

22 Inflation Reserve 0 500 500 0 500 

   14,163 (3,766) 10,397 (5,284) 5,113 

23 
Total General Revenue 
Reserves 26,173 (4,030) 22,143 

 
(9,021) 

 
13,122 

         

24 Government Grants Received 735 397 1,132 (312) 820 

         

25  Working Balance* 2,010 0 2,010 (63) 1,947 

26  Total Revenue Reserves 28,918 (3,633) 25,285 (9,396) 15,889 

         

 Capital Reserve       

27 LAMS Reserve 18 0 18 0 18 

28 General Fund Capital Reserve 297 (142) 155 (100) 55 

29 
Useable Capital Receipts 
Reserve 2,196 256 2,452 

 
(1,355) 

 
1,097 

30 Total Capital Reserves 2,511 114 2,625 (1,455) 1,170 

         

31 Total General Fund Reserves 31,429 (3,519) 27,910 (10,851) 17,059 

*this is an estimated position and will be finalised when the statement of accounts are 

completedwe  

179



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F 

 
 

Housing Revenue Account Summary 2021/22 

 

Description 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 
£’000 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

(less 
proposed 
Budget 

C/F) 
£’000 

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn 
£’000 

2021/22 
Variance  
£’000 

Income         

Dwelling Rents (24,627) (24,627) (24,244) 383 

Non-Dwelling Rents (341) (341) (289) 52 

Charges for Services and Facilities (700) (700) (690) 10 

Other Income (66) (66) (39) 27 

Total Income (25,734) (25,734) (25,262) 472 

          

Expenditure       

Repairs and Maintenance  8,936  8,736 9,242 506 

Supervision and Management - General 2,059 2,059 2,376 317 

Supervision and Management - Special 1,525 1,525 1,452 (73) 

Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed 
Assets 

3,717 3,717 3,664 (53) 

Debt Management Expenses  35   35  35 0 

Provision for bad debts 383 383 67 (316) 

Other Expenditure (Pension Deficit)** 324 324 0 (324) 

Support recharge from General Fund 2,759 2,759 2,759 0 

Total Expenditure 19,738 19,538 19,595 57 
       

Net Cost of HRA Services (5,996) (6,196) (5,667) 529 

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,433 2,433 2,432 (1) 

Interest and Investment Income (152) (152) (147) 5 

Investment Property Inc & Exp* 0 0 (27) (27) 

Return on Pension Assets * 0 0 267 267 

Net (Gain)/loss on sale of HRA Assets * 0 0 (729) (729) 

Capital receipts pooling * 0 0 844 844 

IAS19* 0 0 (684) (684) 

HRA (Surplus)/Deficit (3,715) (3,915) (3,711) 204 

*Accounting adjustment reversed out on the HRA balance 
** Costs in relation to pension deficit are charged at service level 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

181



Explanation of significant variances £’000 

Dwelling rents: 

Reduction in income of £140k as a reduced number of new build properties are 
expected to be completed this year. 

Dwelling rent income of £73k has not been raised in 2021/22 against the budgeted 
level. 

Increase in write offs due to non-collection of rent of £120k.  The write off level is in 
line with the current bad debt provision level that is set in the HRA financial 
business plan. 

Void rates are higher than budgeted due to restrictions during lockdown.  1.7% as 
at the end of March (budgeted at 1.5%) resulting in a shortfall of £50k in rents. 

 

383 

 

Non- Dwelling rents: 

Income for garages has been reduced by £24k as a result of higher than budgeted 
voids. 

 

Rental income from HRA shops of £20k are removed within the movement on the 
HRA balance. 

 

24 

 

 

20 

Other Income: 

 

Reduced income received in year following a reduction in court costs. 

 

 

34 

 

Repairs & Maintenance: 

 
A reduction in capital scheme delivery, in part due to staff vacancies, has resulted 
in a reduction in capitalised salaries rechargeable of £218k. 
 
In year variances within the service area has resulted in an underspend of (£125k).  

 
Pension costs of £670k for accounting entry IAS19 (employee pension) are 
included. These costs are removed within the movement on the HRA balance. 
 

In year grant award income of (£56k) has been received from the Homes and 
Communities agency. 

  

An overspend on major voids £80k, Electrical Testing £20k, Fire alarms and testing 
£106k which is offset by an underspend on specified works of (£360k) due to flat 
roofing works being capitalised and actively managing other budget lines. 
 
Compensation payments of £68k have been paid to tenants during the year. 
 
Increased cost of materials, additional expenditure on equipment for the Earlesfield 
Decant properties and other specialist materials has resulted in an overspend of 
£127k. 
 
Stock Condition Surveys have been completed on 70% of the current stock with 
the remainder being completed in 2022/23. (£170k) 
 

 

506 

 

 

 

Supervision & Management – General: 

 
Pension costs of £248k for accounting entry IAS19 (employee pension) are 

 

317 

182



included. These costs are removed within the movement on the HRA balance. 
 
Agency costs of £155k have been incurred during the year whilst permanent 
recruitment has been undertaken for a number of roles. These costs have been 
funded by in year vacancies across the directorate. 
 

Utility and Council Tax costs on void properties has resulted in additional costs of 
£104k.. 
 

Reduced court costs in year of (£35k). 
 

Right to buy legal charges have reduced by (£35k) as the service is now provided 
in-house and accounted for within the HRA support recharge.  
 

Supervision & Management – Special: 

 

Pension costs of £55k for accounting entry IAS19 (employee pension) are included. 
These costs are removed within the movement on the HRA balance. 

 

Increased grounds maintenance costs of £40k through additional requests for 
reactive works. 

 

Increased utility costs of £30k has been offset by reduced premises costs of 
(£140k). 

 

Due to the closure of the communal rooms within the sheltered accommodation 
properties during lockdown, heating costs have been reduced by (£42k). 

 

(73) 

Bad Debts: 

Whilst recovery action has resumed, the level of provision for bad debts has not 
increased at the budgeted level.  

 

 

(316) 

 
 
 
 

183



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix G 

 
HRA Capital Programme Summary 2021/22  
 

Capital Scheme 
2021/22 
Current   
Budget 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 
less C/F 

approved 
by 

Council 
March 
2022 

2021/22 
Provisional 

Outturn  

2021/22 
Variance  

 
 

Variance comments 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
 

Central Heating and Ventilation 5,266 5,266 2,446 (2,820) 

The planned installations have been delayed by 

issues with contract delivery. An external grant 

funding scheme has been extended into 2022/23 to 

ensure that full delivery can be completed. A budget 

carry forward of £1.142m is proposed for various 

schemes within the Earlesfield project 

CCTV – HRA 30 0 0 0  

Housing System 690 50 0 (50) 

The procurement is now complete and 

implementation commenced in April 2022 with a go 

live date of April 2023 so a budget carry forward is 

proposed. 

185



Repairs Vehicles 248 120 0 (120) 

The required vehicles have been ordered for 

delivery in 2022/23, no further spend is required 

whilst vehicle replacement programme is reviewed. 

Tunstall System Upgrade 250 250 201 (49) 

One remaining Personal Alarm upgrade scheme is 

to be completed in 2022/23 so a budget carry 

forward of £49k is proposed 

Communal Rooms 130 0 0 0  

Replacement Door Programme 1,638 1,638 359 (1,279) 

There have been procurement delays for the 

general provision contract. A budget carry forward 

of £1.176m is proposed for various schemes within 

the Earlesfield project 

Housing Growth 10,725 10,725 2,064 (8,661) 

Delays with scheme completion on drainage and 

additional ground works are now due early 2022/23 

so a budget carry forward of £300k is proposed 

Kitchens & Bathrooms 1,745 1,375 1,251 (124) 
A budget carry forward of £124k is proposed for the 

Earlesfield project 

Roofing 1,200 1,200 1,291 91 
Urgent works following inclement weather storm 

damage has increased costs in 2021/22. 

186



Electrical Rewires 539 539 668 129 

Remedial works identified through the electrical 

condition surveys. There will be further remedial 

work and rewires required in 2022/23 

Sewerage Maintenance 0 0 9 9  

Passenger Lifts 375 50 10 (40) 

Two schemes have commenced in 2021/22 with the 

remaining programme to be delivered in 2022/23 so 

a budget carry forward for £40k is proposed 

Fencing 340 20 22 2  

Property Acquisition 440 440 450 10  

Door Entry System 200 40 7 (33)  

Total 23,816 21,713 8,778 (12,935)  

 

187



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix H 

 
2021/22 Budget Carry Forwards – HRA Revenue 

 

Project 

Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Funding Commentary 

Funding of Stock 
condition surveys 

200 HRA 
Improvement 
Reserve 

Remaining budget 
required from £780k 
approved by Cabinet 12 
January 2021  

Total 200   

 
2021/22 Budget Carry Forwards – HRA Capital 

 

Project Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Funding Commentary 

Heating and 
Ventilation 

345 
Major Repairs 
Reserve 

To fund Earlesfield 
project works to be 
undertaken in 2022/23 

Housing System 
Enhancements 

50 HR Improvement 
Reserve 

Remaining budget from 
the £690k approved 

Tunstall System 
Upgrade 

49 Major Repairs 
Reserve 

To fund one remaining 
scheme in 2022/23 

Replacement Door 
Programme 

87 Major Repairs 
Reserve 

To fund Earlesfield 
project works to be 
undertaken in 2022/23 

Housing Growth 300 Capital Receipts 
Reserve 

To fund one scheme 
completion in 2022/23 

Kitchens and 
Bathrooms 

1,505 Major Repairs 
Reserve 

To fund Earlesfield 
project works to be 
undertaken in 2022/23 

Electrical Rewires 505 Major Repairs 
Reserve 

To fund Earlesfield 
project works to be 
undertaken in 2022/23 

Passenger Lifts, 
Supported Housing 

40 Major Repairs 
Reserve 

To fund remaining 
programme in 2022/23 

Total 2,881*   

*£2.442m of this carry forward is to fund the Earlesfield project as presented to 
cabinet on 31 May 2022 

 
 

189



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX I 
Reserves – HRA 2021/22 
 

  

Description 

Actual 
Balance 
as at 31 
March 
2021 
£’000 

Provisional 
movement 

£’000 

Provisional 
Balance 

as at 
31 March 

2022 
£’000 

Reserve 
Use 
Committed 
2021-22 
 
£’000 

TOTAL 
 
 
 
 

£’000 

 Revenue Reserve          

1 
HRA Improvement 
Reserve 2,006 0 2,006 (1,190) 816 

2 HRA Priorities Reserve* 13,522 0 13,522 0 13,522 

3 
Residents Involvement 
Reserve 30 0 30 0 30 

4 Working Balance** 3,771 (2,040) 1,731 297 2,028 

5 
Total HRA Revenue 
Reserves 19,329 (2,040) 17,289 (893) 16,396 

 HRA Capital Reserve      

6 
HRA Capital Receipts 
Reserve 8,056 869 8,925 155 9,080 

7 Major Repairs Reserve 17,900 627 18,527 (4,938) 13,589 

8 
Total HRA Capital 
Reserves 25,956 1,496 27,452 (4,783) 22,669 

       

9 Total HRA Reserves 45,285 (543) 44,741 (5,676) 39,065 

 

*previously Property Development Reserve 

**this is an estimated position and will be finalised when the statement of accounts 

are produced 

 

191



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
12 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Linda Wootten 

  Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Governance and Licensing 

           

 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy – 
Vehicle Age Requirement  

Cabinet is asked to consider the recommendation from the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in respect of current South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy.  
 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Assistant Director of Operations and Public Protection  

 
 01476 406319 

  a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Healthy and Strong 
Communities 

Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ayeisha Kirkham, Public Protection Manager 23 June 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive 29 June 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Governance and Licensing  

1 July 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests that Cabinet urgently 
reviews the vehicle age at first registration aspect of the Council’s taxi and private 
hire vehicle licensing policy, paying special regard to the vehicle age five-year rule. 

193

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 At their meeting of 10 May 2022, the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

considered the response to the Department for Transport (DfT) consultation on the revised 

Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities 

in England. This included revised guidance on the setting of vehicle age limits (para 2.88 

of the draft guidance).    

1.2 The DfT best practice guidance was last published in 2010.  While the guidance is non 

statutory, it is intended to assist licensing authorities in formulating their policy. The 

consultation closed on 20 June 2022 and the DfT advise that responses are currently 

being analysed.  There is currently no date set for the response to be published.   

1.3 Alongside considering the consultation document, the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee recommended that “Cabinet urgently reviews the vehicle age at first 

registration aspect of the Council’s taxi and private hire vehicle licensing policy, paying 

special regard to the vehicle age five-year rule”. 

1.4 The current South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy (“the Policy”) was approved by Cabinet on 12 January 2021.  The Policy took effect 

on 1 April 2021, with the exception of the reduction in vehicle age at first licensing from 7 

to 5 years, which took effect on 1 October 2021. The delay in the implementation of this 

element of the policy was intended to give the taxi trade an opportunity to plan for the 

change. Once a vehicle is licenced it can continue to be renewed until it reaches the age 

of 10 years (12 years in the case of wheelchair accessible and low/zero emission 

vehicles).  Part 2, paragraph 2.4 of the Policy refers to the maximum age of vehicles.  

1.5 The policy review process included a joint Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

and Licensing workshop on 23 January 2020, consideration by the Environment Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee on 25 February 2020 and 21 June 2020 and a 4-week public 

consultation.   

1.6 In the absence of a national policy, under the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976, Licensing Authorities may attach to the grant of a licence of a 

hackney carriage or private hire vehicle such conditions as the they may consider 

reasonably necessary.  There is no statutory requirement to carry out public consultation 

prior to adopting a policy.   

The age limits of vehicles at first licence for Lincolnshire and other neighbouring licensing 

authorities are shown in table 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

194



 

 
 

Table 1: Comparison of Current Vehicle Age Polices  

Licensing Authority Hackney Carriage Vehicles  

Maximum Age at First 
Licence (Years) 

Private Hire 
Vehicles  

Maximum Age at 
First Licence 
(Years) 

Peterborough City Council 3 (must be wheelchair 
accessible) 

6 (with maximum 
mileage condition) 

Newark and Sherwood 4 (7 for wheelchair accessible) 4 (7 for wheelchair 
accessible) 

North East Lincolnshire  5 5 

South Kesteven District 
Council 

5  5 

South Holland 5  None set   

Melton Borough Council 6 6 

North Kesteven 7 7 

North Lincolnshire 8 8 

City of Lincoln  * Minimum of Euro 5 emissions 
complaint (must be London cab 
style or Multi-Purpose Vehicle) 

None set 

Boston Borough Council None set None set 

East Lindsey District Council None set  None set 

Rutland County Council None set None set 

West Lindsey  None set None set  

  

1.7 Statistics from the DfT (year ending March 2021) show that the total number of licensed 

vehicles across all regions in England decreased by 15.9% between 2020 and 2021.  This 

has been largely attributed to the Covid19 pandemic. There are currently 304 vehicles and 

358 drivers licensed by South Kesteven District Council.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has made a recommendation to 

Cabinet for consideration.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 That Cabinet consider the recommendation of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Cabinet is requested to consider the recommendation.  

 

 

195



 

 
 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The adoption of the South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy is an executive function of the Council.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The next steps will be confirmed following consideration of the recommendation by 

Cabinet.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of 

Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 Under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, a district council may 

attach to the grant of a licence of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle such 

conditions as the district council may consider reasonably necessary.   

8.2 The approval of the Policy is an Executive function of the Council.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer  

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 The vehicle age criterion does not have specific negative impacts on groups from any of 

the protected characteristics. 

9.2 An Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken as part of the review of the policy in 

2020/21. This is at Appendix 1.  

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The policy promotes licensing objectives which include the protection of the public, 

protection of the environment and the safety of the drivers.  Newer vehicles have higher 

NCAP safety ratings and are required to meet higher emissions standards.   Removing or 

reducing vehicle age criterion may have an impact on the promotion of these objectives.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 There are no direct community safety implications arising as a result of this report, 

however, it is important that those using a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle do so 

safely. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The age of a vehicle has an impact on the level of exhaust emissions.  Newer vehicles are 

required to meet higher emissions standards and therefore have a reduced environmental 

impact.   

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No other significant implications have been identified.  

196



 

 
 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 DfT Consultation - Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Best Practice Guidance 

14.2 Report and Minutes of Cabinet, 12 January 2021 

14.3 Minutes of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 10 May 2022 

14.4 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy.pdf (southkesteven.gov.uk) 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Equality Impact Assessment  

 

 

 

 

197

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-best-practice-guidance
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3984&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4102&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35112/Hackney%20Carriage%20and%20Private%20Hire%20Licensing%20Policy.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Review of Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
Environmental  
 
 

Lead officer: 
Anne-Marie Coulthard 

Date of Meeting  
 
05/06/20 Assessors: 

Anne-Marie Coulthard 

Neutral Assessor: 
Carol Drury 

  

199

Appendix 1



 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy 

This is a review of the existing policy which was adopted in March 2015.  
The policy set out the requirements and standards that must be met by 
licence holders and applicants and will guide the work of the Authority in 
the way in which it carries out its function.  

 

This impact assessment has been reviewed following public consultation.  

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  Existing  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Positive  The policy ensures the 
protection of children and 
vulnerable adults and contains  
measures throughout to 
ensure all licensees are fit and 
proper persons to hold a 
licence. The review also 
introduces mandatory 
Safeguarding Awareness 
refresher training alongside the 
mandatory initial training.  

Disability 
 

 

Positive  The policy ensures that drivers 
and operators are aware of the 
requirements of the Equality 
Act 2010 and their 
responsibilities and confirms 
that the authority maintains a 
register of wheelchair 
accessible vehicles.   

200



 

 

All drivers are required to carry 
assistance dogs and to provide 
reasonable assistance with 
luggage.   
 
Drivers who are unable to 
assist for their own medical 
reasons are able to obtain an 
exemption.  
 
The policy provides for 
maximum age of wheelchair 
accessible vehicles to be 
increased to 12 years from 10 
years and for a reduction in fee 
for such vehicles, helping to 
support the availability of 
accessible vehicles.  

Race 
 

Negative  The policy proposes that 
applicants for private hire 
vehicle or hackney carriage 
driver licences will be required 
to undertake an assessment of 
their communication skills, for 
which an additional fee will be 
payable. Applicants who can 
demonstrate that they have 
previously completed an 
English-language qualification 
at a suitable level will be 
exempt from the additional 
assessment (see general 
comments below) 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy 

Religion or 
Belief   

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy 

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy 

201



 

 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral  Not a determinant of this policy 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy  

Carers Positive  Where a vehicle is wheelchair 
accessible, drivers are 
required to provide assistance 
to allow a disabled person to 
travel in their wheelchair if they 
wish.  This promotes 
independence and potentially 
enables people to travel 
without a carer in some 
circumstances.  

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 

 None identified 

General 
comments 

The Authority expects all licensed taxi and private hire drivers to 
have sufficient command of the English language so that they 
can communicate freely and clearly with passengers and 
officials, including in stressful and emergency situations. Drivers 
are also expected to be able to identify situations where there 
may be passenger safeguarding concerns and to possess 
sufficient communication skills to report those concerns. The 
ability to converse effectively in English also helps avoid job 
related misunderstandings such as wrong directions, fare 
disputes, collecting the wrong customer and misunderstanding a 
customer’s assistance needs.  
 
Regardless of any protected characteristics, drivers are required 
to treat all customers with dignity and respect  
  

202



 

 

 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

Public consultation has been undertaken with responses received from a 
range of consultees.  The consultation did not identify any addition impacts 
which had not already been considered.  

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

 

 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 

203



 

 

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Anne-Marie Coulthard 
(Name and title)   Head of Environment 
  

Date completed:  05/06/20  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Carol Drury 
(Name and title)   Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer 

 
Date signed off:     05/06/20  

 

204



 

 

 

Cabinet  

12 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Mark Whittington 

  Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Waste 
and Climate Change 

           

Grounds Maintenance Options Appraisal 

To provide Cabinet with information on the work undertaken to develop a new specification, outline 
possible options and seek agreement for Officers to commence a procurement exercise to assess 
the future delivery for the Council’s grounds maintenance services.  
 

Report Author 

Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 

 
 01476 406080 

  nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment 

Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer 29 June 2022 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive  1 July 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Portfolio Holder 
for Waste and Climate Change 

1 July 2022 

 

Recommendation to the decision makers 

Cabinet is asked to: 

1. Approve the commencement of a procurement process in order to seek proposals 
from providers of the grounds maintenance service, to assess the future delivery 
options.  

2. Approve the commencement of a full appraisal of alternative delivery models of the 
ground maintenance service in order that a final option can be presented to Cabinet 
that delivers the right quality for the best value to the Council and its housing 
tenants.  

 

205

Agenda Item 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Included within the Council’s Corporate Plan 2020-23 is a key priority to be a ‘High 

Performing Council’ with a focus on managing finances and assets effectively.  To ensure 

this can be achieved, it is good practice to review the various operations and assets of the 

Council to ascertain whether current methods of delivery are the optimal models, and to 

ensure they align with the Council’s vision and priorities. 

1.2 Since 1 March 2019, the Council’s grounds maintenance service has been provided by 

EnvironmentSK Limited, a wholly owned Council company.  Prior to this the Council had a 

contract with Glendale Limited, which commenced in 2014 and ended in 2019. 

1.3 The Council is responsible for the grounds maintenance of Council-owned land, including 

General Fund and HRA land.  Being a predominantly rural district, 3% of the land being 

maintained is in urban areas, with 97% being in rural locations.   

1.4 In addition, 21 closed churchyards are maintained.  The current arrangements include the 

three parks in Grantham, Grantham Cemetery and maintenance of sports fields, including 

white lining. The total amount of land maintained equates to 1.5 million square metres 

across the district. The total cost to the Council is £1.016M for the current financial year. 

This is split between £428,000 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and £588,000 General 

Fund. 

Housing Revenue Account 

1.5 The Housing Revenue Account costs are incurred by the Council in it’s role as a social 

landlord.  Grounds Maintenance services currently undertaken in respect of this function 

include maintenance of: 

• Sheltered Housing Schemes communal areas (grass cutting); 

• Housing Estate open amenity areas (grass cutting); 

• Hedge cutting in relation to communal and amenity areas; 

• Weed spraying and removal; 

• Moss removal; and 

• Void property garden clearance. 

   

1.6 Included within the current arrangement is the maintenance of gardens for Council tenants 

who are on an Assisted Garden Scheme, which enables tenants to access a service to 

maintain their gardens in accordance with the terms of their tenancy agreement. Around 

450 gardens are maintained through this scheme (see background papers section).  

1.7 Members may wish to note that the Assisted Garden Scheme is currently not recharged to 

users of the service.  Work is underway, including consultation with Rural and Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to examine this charging model and consult with tenants 

in relation to recovering the costs of this service, in line with common practice by local 

authority landlords.    

General Fund  

1.8 The cost headings incurred by the General Fund are in respect of the following areas: 

• Grass areas – mowing and maintenance 

• Beds and borders – maintenance 

• Hedge maintenance 

206



 

 
 

• Young tree maintenance 

• Grantham cemetery and burials 

• Closed churchyards 

• Sports field maintenance 

• South Kesteven Sports Stadium and Grantham Meres Leisure Centre outdoor facilities 

• Parks and Public realm 
 

1.9 In assessing any future potential options for the delivery of grounds maintenance it will be 

important for the Council to consider its current priorities. EnvironmentSK Limited was 

established at a time when there was a greater emphasis on attracting external work and 

commercialising the service. However, the Corporate Plan 2020-23 places a greater 

emphasis on managing finances and services being delivered more efficiently and 

effectively. 

1.10 To ensure the Council is achieving best value whilst maintaining a high quality service it is 

necessary to explore a range of delivery models. These are set out in this report. Initial 

discussions have taken place with EnvironmentSK Limited, together with an assessment 

of the external market that is available to the Council.  

Specification Review 

1.11 In readiness for the review of the grounds maintenance service, a review of the maps and 

site plans have been undertaken which demonstrated some out of date information and a 

lack of specific details on the maintained areas. As part of the specification development, 

a team of officers have been responsible for measuring and re-mapping the areas of land 

to ensure accuracy.  

1.12 As a component of the preparatory work, a fundamental review of the grounds 

maintenance obligations has been undertaken to develop a new grounds maintenance 

specification.  This specification is supported by detailed digital mapping information that 

ensures that the contract reflects the current requirements that meets the needs of the 

Council (see Appendix A for an overview of current and proposed standards)  

1.13 Workshops have been held in order to provide advice on a range of variables within the 

specification, including grass cutting frequencies, to ensure the new specification 

accurately reflects the level and quality of work required to keep the District to a high 

standard. 

1.14 Details from the review of the sites, including accurate measurements, have since been 

plotted into StatMap, a new geographical information system (GIS).  This has provided one 

master database of the district and the areas which are maintained.  Information is 

provided in several layers including details on legal ownership, HRA homes and open 

spaces, communal areas, hedges, aerial photographs and a detailed breakdown of the 

work required for each area.   

1.15 In all 2,627 sites, that the Council currently maintains, have been visited, measured and 

photographed, the breakdown of these is as follows: 

• 1,422 General Fund sites 

• 1,205 Housing Revenue Account sites 
 

207



 

 
 

1.16 The use of the StatMap system has allowed the Council, and any future provider, to easily 

identify locations. The system will need to be kept up to date and will be a key management 

tool to monitor performance. 

1.17 Detailed mapping information is a key component of the new specification. These include 

a detailed breakdown of the work required at each location.   

1.18 Any specification will seek to define general matters, for example health and safety, waste 

disposal, and more detailed issues in relation to the works to be delivered. 

1.19  The general specification requirements are as follows: 

• General requirements • Application of Pesticides 

• Safety requirements • Waste Disposal 

• Security • Green Waste 

• Working Times • Hazardous Waste 

• Damage to property Maintenance 
Areas 

• Defective Plant Materials and 
Defects Liability Period 

• Materials • Plant Pests 

• Dying Plants • Vermin Control 
 

1.20 The detailed specification requirements define the key works to be delivered and are listed 

below: 

Grass Areas – mowing and maintenance • Amenity mowing – open spaces 

• High Spec area mowing 

• Playing fields 

• Highway verges 

• Closed Churchyards 

• Wild Meadow areas 

• Housing sheltered schemes 

• Housing amenity open spaces 

• Turf edge cutting 

Beds and borders – maintenance • Shrub beds 

• Flower Beds 

• Planters 

Hedge Maintenance • Hedge cutting and maintenance 

Young Tree Maintenance  

Assisted Garden Maintenance Service • Regular assisted garden service 

• Garden tidy service 

• Major garden clearance 

Hard areas • Weed control 

• Moss treatment 

• Leaf removal 

• Winter salting 

Water storage basins, gratings, and water 
courses 

 

Grantham Cemetery and Burials  

Closed Churchyards  

Sport field maintenance • Football and Rugby pitches 

• Line marking 

208



 

 
 

The South Kesteven Sports Stadium and 
Meres Leisure Centre 

• The South Kesteven Sports Stadium 

• Meres Leisure Centre 

Parks and Public Realm • Wyndham Park 

• Queen Elizabeth Park 

• Dysart Park 

• St Peter’s Hill and Abbey Gardens 

 

Future Options  

1.21 EnvironmentSK Limited has been asked to utilise the newly developed specification to 

provide an accurate current cost for the delivery of the service. This can then be used as 

a comparison in order to assess the financial and wider benefits of alternative options. 

1.22 The following table includes detail on the options and potential benefits which have been 

identified through the workshops including considerations and potential benefits: 

 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 In 2021/22, the Council conducted its “Big Listen” survey, a comprehensive survey of all 

tenants and residents. With a response rate of nearly 30%, the results are useful to inform 

future service delivery. The response shows around seven out of ten residents (69%) who 

share communal areas are satisfied that they are kept safe and well-maintained, however, 

Option Consideration 

Retain the services of 
EnvironmentSK 
Limited 

EnvironmentSK Limited is currently assessing the costs of 
providing the service using the new specification and will be 
invited to submit a bid alongside market providers. The 
information used from this work will be compared to the other 
options identified.   

Access the Grounds 
Maintenance supplier 
market  

Currently the Council has no knowledge of what the market 
could provide, both in terms of level of service and the 
associated costs. An external provider may be able to bring 
financial savings and service efficiencies that would be 
beneficial for the Council due to their economies of scale. 
 
With support from procurement colleagues, Officers have 
been exploring options to test the market.  The ESPO (Eastern 
Shires Purchasing Organisation) Grounds Maintenance 
Services Framework (Lot 245 1) provides an opportunity for 
the Council to facilitate a mini competition to assess the cost 
and wider benefits of securing a commercial contractor. 
 
There are a total of thirteen contractors on the framework, 
although not all may engage in the competitive process. 

Insource the service The costing exercise being undertaken by EnvironmentSK 
Limited on the new specification could be used as a baseline 
and then overlayed with the additional costs that would be 
incurred by the Council if the service was delivered in-house.  
Typically, this would include pension liability. However, any 
additional costs may be able to be offset by the integration of 
the Grounds Maintenance Service into the Council’s overall 
service structures. 

209



 

 
 

21% are dissatisfied with their maintenance and 9% are neither satisfied nor dissatisfied.   

Of those who are dissatisfied, around 15% was due to grounds maintenance (including 

grass cutting, hedge maintenance etc).     

2.2 In terms of future consultation, Secure tenants have a statutory right to be consulted on 

changes to housing management arrangements that may impact on them, so any change 

to specification or change of contractor requires appropriate consultation. Raising 

awareness of the changes and publishing on the Council’s website would be appropriate.   

In relation to leaseholders, statutory consultation will be required prior to the award of any 

contract that may incur a service charge of more than £100 per annum and of course the 

Council will undertake this in a timely manner.   

2.3 At the Joint Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Rural and Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting of 27 June 2022 there was agreement to support 

the investigation of the possible options in respect of the future delivery of the grounds 

maintenance service, with a recommendation to Cabinet that procurement commences to 

assess the future delivery options of the grounds maintenance service.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The options detailed in paragraph 1.13 form the basis of the options appraisal work the 

Council has been undertaken. The results of the options appraisal provides the framework 

for this final recommendation to Cabinet on the future delivery of the grounds maintenance 

service. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Following a debate at the Joint Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Rural 

and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 27 June 2022, the preferred option 

is for Officers to engage with the market to establish what can be provided at this stage. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendations 

5.1 Engaging with the market to establish what can be provided, presents an opportunity to 

demonstrate the Council is obtaining best value for money by carrying out an open and 

transparent process.   

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Should the recommendation within this report be agreed, it is proposed that the following 

timeline of actions are implemented: 

Task Date 

Competitive Procurement During August 2022 

Receive tender submissions Mid-September 2022 

Evaluation of tenders By End September 2022 

Member Workshop Early October 2022 

Final decision by Cabinet  October 2022 

New specification of service March 2023 

 

210



 

 
 

6.2 A significant amount of work has gone into the development of the new specification and 

map database on the StatMap system.  It is imperative this information is kept up to date 

and any changes are recorded to ensure the system remains current.  For this reason, it is 

proposed a percentage of the database will be checked and monitored on an annual basis. 

6.3 The Council currently commissions the services of North Kesteven District Council to 

undertake surveys on the trees on Council land.  Surveys are carried out annually, a third 

of the district at a time, so each tree is surveyed every three years. Any resulting 

maintenance works or works which may be required in an emergency, are carried out by 

private contractors who are engaged directly by South Kesteven District Council. 

6.4 Work will continue to assess the benefits of this arrangement or whether there is merit in 

bringing the grounds maintenance and tree work into one service. A tree services 

specification is currently in development to form the basis of this work and to appraise the 

options available. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The cost to the Council for its grounds maintenance services is significant and currently over 

£1m for the current financial year. When EnvironmentSK Limited was established, there 

was an ambition for the company to secure additional private work.  However, the business 

plan is now more focussed on delivering the Council’s core contract and external works only 

accounts for 9% of the overall turnover.  If this change of focus remains, then it is appropriate 

for the Council to review the operating model and consider whether the continuation of the 

status quo is affordable or appropriate.  

7.2 Engagement with the external market will enable the Council to consider whether external 

service provision should be introduced or alternatively bringing the service in-house would 

bring additional savings through an integration into the Council’s staffing structure. This 

financial modelling is now underway and will be presented alongside the outcome of the 

other options set out in the report. This will then enable a final decision to be made on the 

service delivery model. 

7.3 The route to market via the ESPO framework is a compliant procurement exercise and will 

identify what the market can provide in terms of efficiencies and costs. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications 

8.1 It is appropriate for the Council to consider how best to deliver its grounds maintenance 

service. The options appraisal approach will provide an informed basis to make further 

recommendations. 

8.2 The ESPO framework is an eligible procurement route to enable a competitive process and 

to assess the benefits of a commercial contract. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 TUPE (Transfer of Undertakings – Protection of Employment) regulations will protect and 

maintain the employment rights and terms & conditions of staff transferred as a result of any 

new contract award or management arrangement. 

211



 

 
 

9.2 No other significant issues have been identified at this stage, but equality and safeguarding 

implications will be fully considered as part of the further options appraisal work before any 

final recommendations are made. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Some initial risks have been identified in the table below.  As part of the options appraisal 

further risks may be identified and will be fully considered together with any mitigating 

actions required. 

Risk Consideration 

EnvironmentSK 
Ltd staffing and 
management 

Appropriate levels of staffing will need to be maintained whilst the 
options appraisal work is ongoing.   

Financial  The options set out in the report will identify the financial implications 
of each of the options which will need to be considered in readiness 
for 2023/24 financial year 

External provider Should a new contract arrangement be secured with an external 
provider this would be a new relationship for the Council. The results 
of the mini-competition will need to provide assurance on service 
quality levels, working practices and the responsiveness of the 
commercial operators who respond 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No significant issues have been identified. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

 Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 There are opportunities to consider how the Council’s declared climate emergency and 

carbon reduction targets could be incorporated into future provision of the grounds 

maintenance service. Included in the specification as a minimum will be:  

• Route scheduling - to reduce fleet, fuel use, carbon emissions and fleet costs by planning 

more efficient routes, reducing delays and unnecessary idling, monitoring routes, 

addressing non-compliance and strategic changes.  

• Green Waste Disposal – to divert garden waste from landfill and increasing the amount 

recycled i.e. composted. 

• Aligning services – to take action, collectively and individually to tackle climate change. 

• Work efficiencies – ensuring resources are used more efficiently by waste reduction, re-

use and recycling.  

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None arising from this report. 

 

 

 

 

212



 

 
 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Grounds Maintenance Options Appraisal – Report to Joint Overview and Scrutiny, published 

27 June 2022, available online at:  

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34888/Grounds%20Maint%20Joint%

20OSC%20Report.pdf 

 

14.2 HRA Grounds Maintenance and Assisted Garden Scheme - Report to Rural and 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee, published 28 April 2022, available online 

at: 

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34081/Tenant%20Grounds%20Mai

ntenance%20280422.pdf 

 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A – Overview of current and proposed standards 

 

 

 

 

213

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34888/Grounds%20Maint%20Joint%20OSC%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34888/Grounds%20Maint%20Joint%20OSC%20Report.pdf
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34081/Tenant%20Grounds%20Maintenance%20280422.pdf
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34081/Tenant%20Grounds%20Maintenance%20280422.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A: Overview of current and proposed standards 
 
 

Specification 
category 

Current standard Proposed standard 

Amenities grass open 
spaces -General Fund 

The current standard is 
to deliver approximately 
10 cuts per year, (cut 
and drop), which 
equates to once every 3 
weeks. 

10 cuts per year (cut and drop).  
Principle to be adopted (where 
possible) of aligning all cutting 
frequencies for all types of 
public open space, to this 
standard, to drive maximum 
efficiencies overall. 

Amenities grass open 
spaces - Housing  

The current standard is 
to deliver approximately 
14 cuts per year, (cut 
and drop), which 
equates to once every 2 
to 2.5 weeks. 

Align with the frequency of cuts 
chosen for the general fund 
amenity grassed areas i.e. 10, 
to maximise the levels of 
efficiency this brings. 

Highway verges - 
Grantham Special 
Expense Area 

The current standard is 
to deliver approximately 
10 cuts per year, (cut 
and drop), which 
equates to once every 3 
weeks. Lincolnshire 
County Council fund 3 
cuts. 

Align with the frequency of cuts 
chosen for the general fund 
amenity grassed areas, i.e. 10, 
to maximise the levels of 
efficiency this brings. 
 

Closed churchyards - 
General Fund 

The current standard is 
to deliver approximately 
10 cuts per year, (cut 
and drop), which 
equates to once every 3 
weeks. 

Align with the frequency of cuts 
chosen for the general fund 
amenity grassed areas, i.e. 10, 
to maximise the levels of 
efficiency this brings. 

Wild meadow - 
General Fund 

The current standard for 
the small number of 
areas within the parks or 
large open spaces, is to 
cut once per year. There 
are variations. 

Maintain the arrangements 
currently in place. 

Hedges - General 
Fund 

Current standard is to 
cut once per year. 

Cut twice per year. Aligns with 
proposal to cut all Housing 
hedges twice per year. See 
below. 

Hedges - Housing Current standard is to 
cut once per year.  

Cut twice per year. Will reduce 
volume of customer complaints. 
 

215



Specification 
category 

Current standard Proposed standard 

Sheltered housing 
schemes grass - 
Housing  

Current standard is to 
aim to deliver 14 cuts 
per year, the first 7 are 
cut and collect and the 
last 7 are cut and drop.  

Choice between continuing with 
the cut and collect in first half of 
season or to move to 16 cuts i.e. 
every two weeks cut and drop or 
to align with the general 
standard i.e. 10 cut and drops. 

Council house assisted 
gardens 

Current standard is to 
aim to visit every 2 to 3 
weeks to cut and collect. 
Hedges cut once per 
year. 

Maintain current frequency on 
grass and cut hedges twice. 
Height reduction programme 
required to maintain efficiencies. 

Wyndham, Dysart and 
Queen Elizabeth Parks 

Current standards are 
high. Including full time 
attendants all year 7 
days per week at two 
sites. 

Minor reductions in service 
specifications to still meet a 
good standard. 
Also invite alternative proposals 
to requirement re Attendants, to 
deliver cost savings and 
maintaining Green Flag status. 

 
Future options will need to allow for different frequencies and standards to be priced, 
to mitigate any future affordability risks. 

216



 

 

 

 

Cabinet 
12 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under delegated 
powers 
This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet on 21 June 2022. 

 

 

Report Author 

Lucy Bonshor, Democratic Officer 

Tel: 01476 406120 

Email: l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance and 
Deputy Monitoring Officer  

23 June 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive and 
Monitoring Officer 

23 June 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 4 July 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

217

Agenda Item 12

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

 
1.1 Since the Cabinet last met on 19 April 2022, the following Key and Non-Key decisions 

have been taken under delegated authority:  

1.1.1 Lease Renewal - Former Museum, 28 Broad Street, Stamford 

Non-Key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property on 13 June 

2022. 

Date decision effective: 22 June 2022 

The Decision Notice is attached at Appendix 1. The accompanying report can be viewed 

online at: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34715/NKD%20report.pdf  

The appendix which refers to the Heads of Terms contains exempt information under 

Paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and can be seen at 

Appendix 1A 

1.1.2 Grant of Lease – Harrowby Lane, Grantham 

Non-Key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property on 15 June 

2022. 

Date decision effective: 24 June 2022. 

The Decision Notice is attached at Appendix 2 and the accompanying report can be 

viewed online at: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1200  

The appendix which refers to the Heads of Terms contains exempt information under 

Paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and can be seen at 

Appendix 2A. 

1.1.3 The Aveland History Group - Funding 

Non-Key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy on 22 

June 2022. 

Date decision effective: 1 July 2022 

The Decision Notice is attached at Appendix 3 and the accompanying report can be 

viewed online at: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1201  

1.1.4 Land Transfer to Stamford Town Council 

Non-Key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property on 27 June 

2022. 

Date decision effective: 6 July 2021 

The Decision Notice is attached at Appendix 4 and the accompanying report can be 

viewed online at: 

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1202  

 

 

218

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34715/NKD%20report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1200
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1201
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1202


 

 
 

1.1.5 Recreation Ground Road, Stamford 

Non-Key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy on 29 

June 2022. 

Date decision effective: 8 July 2022 

The Decision Notice is attached at Appendix 5 and the accompanying report can be 

viewed online at: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34932/Rec%20Ground%20Stamford.

pdf  

1.2 Any decision made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next meeting 

of the Cabinet.  

 

219

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34932/Rec%20Ground%20Stamford.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34932/Rec%20Ground%20Stamford.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION 

 
 
Decision:    
 

That approval is granted for a new lease for a ten-year period for the former 
Stamford Museum at 28 Broad Street, Stamford.   

 
(1) Details of Decision 

 
 To seek approval for the grant of a new lease for a ten-year period for the 

former Stamford Museum at 28 Broad Street, Stamford.   
 

(2) Considerations/Evidence 
 

 The current lease comes under the auspicious of the Landlord & Tenant Act 

1954, meaning that the tenant has an automatic right to renew, other than in 

certain circumstances such as the owner needing the building for its own 

occupation, which do not apply here.   

 
(3) Reasons for Decision: 

 
 The tenant has been in occupation of the unit since 2017. Their current lease 

expires on 13th August 2022. 
 
Following discussion between our managing agents Banks Long and the 
tenant, the tenant has expressed that they wish to renew their lease for a 
further ten years but with a break at the end of the fifth year of the Term. 
 
During the period of their previous lease there has been no management 
issues arise and the tenant has not been in arrears.  
 
The property will continue to be used as a dance studio.  
   
The tenant will be responsible for internal repairs with the landlord 
responsible for external and structural repairs, as per the existing lease. The 
insurance is to be affected by the Landlord and recoverable from the tenant. 
  
Should authority not be granted, the tenant could ultimately seek to refer the 
new lease terms to Court, in line with the provisions of the Landlord & Tenant 
Act 1954.   
 

221

Appendix 1



 

Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
None 
 
Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
None 
 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
 
Date of Decision: 13 June 2022 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 14 June 2022 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 
 
22 June 2022 

222



Document is Restricted

223

Appendix 1A
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION 

 
 
Decision:    
 
That approval is granted for a new lease for a fifteen-year lease of the currently 
unused Harrowby Lane Playing Field. 
 
(1) Details of Decision 

 
 To seek approval to the grant of a new lease for fifteen-years of the currently 

unused Harrowby Lane Playing Field. 
 

(2) Considerations/Evidence 
 

 To grant a new 15-year lease to Harrowby United Football Club in line with 

the Heads of Terms.    

 
(3) Reasons for Decision: 

 
 The playing field has remained vacant for many years with no formal use of 

the land. 
 
Allowing Harrowby United to use the land as two full sized football pitches will 
bring the site back into formal sporting use.  The intention would be for 
Harrowby United to use the fields for their own teams but it would also be let 
to other local teams. 
   
There is a shortage of playing fields in Grantham, which bringing these 
pitches back into use will help to address.  
  
The pitches will not be fenced, meaning that the whole of the playing field will 
still be available for informal public use. 
 
The path between the pitches and Harrowby United’s stadium will not form a 
part of the demise.    
 

 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
None 

227

Appendix 2



 

Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
None 
 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
 
Date of Decision: 15 June 2022 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 16 June 2022 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 
 
24 June 2022 

228



Document is Restricted

229

Appendix 2A
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION 

 
 
Decision:    
 
That approval is granted for a one-off allocation of up to £10,000 to The 
Aveland History Group to support An Aveland Odyssey – Folkingham Georgian 
Festival 17 to 18 September 2022 to be funded from the festival budget, subject 
to the signing of the South Kesteven District Council Grant Agreement. 
 
(1) Details of Decision 

 
 To seek approval to allocate up to £10,000 from the Council’s festival budget 

to support The Aveland History Group – An Aveland Odyssey – Folkingham 
Georgian Festival 17 – 18 September 2022. 
 

(2) Considerations/Evidence 
 

 A key action contained within the Corporate Plan (2020-2023) is to celebrate 
and enhance the rich history of the district. To support the delivery of this 
action, the Council works with local groups to help them create sustainable 
events which are made accessible to residents.  
 
One such local group is the Aveland History Group 
www.theavelandhistorygroup.com 
 
Founded in February 2020, the Aveland History Group gives a broad 
geographic base to a community group with a passion for local history. The 
Aveland History Group covers 32 villages on either side of the A15 and the 
town of the ancient Aveland Wapentake, from Bourne in the south to 
Osbournby in the north of the district.  
 
The Aveland History Group seek to bring history to life in engaging and often 
hands on fun activities, aiming to fire the imagination of young people, as well 
as breaking down barriers of rural isolation that may affect older neighbours. 
Importance is placed on increasing the profile of Lincolnshire history within 
the historical community and linking out to spark interest from other history 
groups.  
 
Through talks on local aspects of history, the Aveland History Group have 
spin off workshops and demonstrations of skills known to our ancestors and 
still in use today. There are more than 187 members on the Aveland History 
Group’s Facebook page, along with a 100 strong mailing list of email 
addresses.  

231

Appendix 3

http://www.theavelandhistorygroup.com/


 

 
The Aveland History Group are currently working on a five-year plan titled “An 
Aveland Odyssey – Cruise through History Heritage Festivals”. This includes 
five locations as follows:  
 

• 2022 Folkingham 

• 2023 Threekingham 

• 2024 Folkingham Airfield 

• 2025 Dyke 

• 2026 Bourne 

The Aveland History Group aim to create a sustainable business place for an 
annual heritage festival that can tour the Wapentake for many years to come.  
 
The Aveland History Group’s first imperative is to get the Festivals embedded 
in the area as a yearly event and to grow attendance year-on-year which is 
why they are projecting the five year plan as a free entry event. It is felt that 
by holding the festival in different locations, will allow a wider section of 
people in the area to get involved, thereby increasing recognition and driving 
up visitor numbers. 
   
Additionally, by moving the location, reduces burden on the same people in 
the same village. By shifting the period each year, this would prevent the 
chance of competing with either the Stamford Georgian Festival or Holbeach 
Medieval Festival (which have previously taken place over the same period). 
Crucially, by linking with Heritage Open Days and Lincolnshire Heritage, 
should drive visitors and covers public liability for the Group.  
 
The wealth of history across the district presents an unlimited reserve to draw 
on: The Drainage of the Fens, the Abbey at Sempringham, Knights Templar 
at Aslackby, Iron Age at Dowsby –the list goes on.  
 
The one-day festival in 2021 attracted 600+ people at an out-turn cost of just 
less than £3,000. Feedback was overwhelmingly positive, and The Aveland 
History Group benefitted from very generous sponsors giving time, equipment 
and money. 
 
The costings for 2022 are based on a wider offering over a longer period and 
are fully costed. It is considered that a budget of £10,000 per festival should 
allow the plans to be put into effect. 
 
An Aveland Odyssey – Folkingham Georgian Festival 2022, which is the 
subject of this non-key decision, is set to take place on 17 and 18 September 
2022. A request of a one-off contribution of £10,000 towards this Festival has 
been made to South Kesteven District Council. The illustrative line-up 
includes: entertainers, living history, market stalls, food and drink outlets, 

232



 

heritage crafters and subject matter lectures.  
 

(3) Reasons for Decision: 
 

 Supporting a grass roots heritage festival aligns with the Corporate Plan 
ambitions.  The Council’s approach to festivals and programming is set for 
review and consideration by Members later. Consequently, at the time of 
writing this non-key decision, there are no Council-run festivals planned for 
2022.  It is for this reason that not considering this one-off request has been 
discounted.  
 
Other Council funding pots have been explored and discounted, such as the 
SK Community Awards Grants Scheme. In the event the contribution is not in 
place, there will be a significant funding shortfall which could result in the 
2022 Georgian Folkingham Festival not proceeding.  Therefore, the 
contribution is crucial to the 2022 Georgian Folkingham Festival being 
delivered to the local community. 
 

 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
NONE 
 
Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
NONE 
 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew 
Cabinet Member for Culture & Visitor Economy 
 
Date of Decision: 21 June 2022 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 23 June 2022 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 
 
1 July 2022 

233



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION 

 
 
Decision:    
 
That the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property approves the amended 
boundaries of the land transfer of Empingham Road and Uffington Road sites at 
Stamford, as set out in Appendices A and B. 
 
(1) Details of Decision 

 
 To provide an update on the boundaries of the land transfer to Stamford 

Town Council. 
 

(2) Considerations/Evidence 
 

 Cabinet approved the land transfer of Empingham Road and Uffington Road 
Stamford at the meeting on 9 November 2021 and the report presented at the 
meeting was supported by site plans for each of the sites which showed 
indicative boundary lines. 
 
Updated plans modify the proposed boundary lines for each of the locations: 

• Empingham Road – clarity of the boundary line to the south east of the 
site and inclusion of car parking sites at the north and west of the site. 

• Uffington Road – exclusion of road and Council buildings to the north 
west of the stie. 

 
(3) Reasons for Decision: 

 
 A further review had been undertaken since the initial decision to transfer 

land by Cabinet on 9 November 2021 of the boundary lines associated with 
the transfer.  
 

 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
None 
 
 
 
 
 

235

Appendix 4



 

Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
None 
 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
 
Date of Decision: 27 June 2022 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 28 June 2022 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 
 
06 July 2022 

236



 
 

CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION 

 
 
Decision:    
 
That approval is granted for the allocation of £7,000 from the Stamford Special 
Expense Area in order to provide funding for the provision of play equipment at 
the Recreation Ground Stamford. 
 
(1) Details of Decision 

 
 To seek approval for a financial contribution towards the provision of play 

equipment at Recreation Ground Road, Stamford. 
 

(2) Considerations/Evidence 
 

 The Council’s Corporate Plan has a stated ambition of ‘Healthy and Strong 

Communities’ which is underpinned by: 

• Investing in the health of our district by improving leisure provision. 

• Working effectively with partners in the voluntary, private and public 

sectors for the benefit of communities. 

• Building on, and celebrating, the rich heritage and culture of the district 

 
(3) Reasons for Decision: 

 
 There has been an approach from the Frank Newbon Community Projects 

CIC seeking support for the Council to financially contribute towards a project 

that will provide play equipment at the Recreation Ground Stamford for both 

adults and juniors.  The specific proposal is for funding to be released from 

the Stamford special expense reserve to fully contribute towards providing 

the following play equipment: 

1 Children’s Air Skier 

1 Children’s Tai Chi Spinners 

1 Children’s Rider 

1 Children’s Arm & Pedal Bike  

237

Appendix 5



 

1 Children’s Seated Leg Press  

The play equipment will complement the adult equipment which will be 
installed at the same time and is being funded by a combination of local fund 
raising, a community fund contribution of £5,000 and a contribution from a 
local Trust. 
 
Should the recommendation be approved the SEA reserve will be reduced to 
a balance of £135,000.  
 

 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
None 
 
Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
None 
 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew 
Cabinet Member for Culture & Visitor Economy 
 
Date of Decision: 29 June 2022 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 30 June 2022 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 
 
8 July 2022 

238



 

 

 

Cabinet 
21 June 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 4 July 2022 to 3 
July 2023 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan.  
 

Report Author 

Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)  

Tel: 01476 406156 

Email: Graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Governance All Wards 
 

Reviewed by: Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance and 
Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

4 July 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and 
Monitoring Officer) 

4 July 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader of the Council) 4 July 2022 
 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

239

Agenda Item 13

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

1. Cabinet’s Forward Plan 
 

1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

 (England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements for publicity in connection 

 with Key Decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 

 publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to Council 

 or review the contents and take necessary action. These items are also listed on the Forward 

 Plan. 

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items for 

 consideration during the preceding year have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward Plan. 

 The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the Council meetings 

 due to be held within the plan period. 

2.0 Equality and Safeguarding implications 

2.1 No implications.  

3.0 Appendices 

3.1 Appendix 1 – Cabinet’s Forward Plan 

 

 

 

240



 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
4 July 2022 to 3 July 2023 

 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 
 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 

241

A
ppendix 1



 
Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 

Summary Date Action Contact 

Housing Allocations Policy - Key Decision 

A policy which sets out clear parameters as 
to how the housing options team manage 
the allocation of properties within our own 
stock and how support and advice is 
provided to applicants wishing to join the 
housing register. 
 

12 Jul 2022 
 

To adopt a Housing 
Allocations Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Housing 
E-mail: jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Turnpike Close Site Remediation works - Key Decision 

To seek approval to enter into a civils 
contract to remediate the Turnpike Close 
site owned by the Council prior to 
considering a further report regarding the 
construction of a replacement depot later in 
2022. 
 

12 Jul 2022 
 

To approve civils contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Organisation Development Manager 
E-mail: Debbie.Roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Policy for the Provision of Litter Bins - Key Decision 

To consider the proposed draft policy for 
the provision of litter bins across the district. 
 

12 Jul 2022 
 

To agree a draft policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Waste Services and 
Climate Change (Councillor Mark Whittington) 
 
Assistant Director for Operations and Public 
Protection 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

242



Summary Date Action Contact 

Housing Compensation and Recharge Policies - Key Decision 

The purpose of the report is to seek 
approval for the adoption of a 
compensation policy to be used across 
Housing Technical Services and Housing 
Services. 
 

13 Sep 
2022 
 

To approve the Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Aids and Adaptations Policy - Key Decision 

To enable the Housing Directorate to adopt 
and implement a robust framework around 
aids and adaptions to support best use of 
the council’s housing stock. 
 

13 Sep 
2022 
 

To adopt the policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Remediation works for St Martins Park, Stamford - Key Decision 

To seek budget approval for the 
remediation works at St Martins Park, 
Stamford. 
 

13 Sep 
2022 
 
Council  
22 Sep 
2022 
 

To seek budget approval for 
the works. 
 

Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development and Growth (Councillor 
Kelham Cooke) 
 
Organisation Development Manager 
E-mail: Debbie.Roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy - Key Decision 

To adopt a robust policy around domestic 
abuse in relation to our social landlord 
responsibilities, ensuring that risk 
management is in place. 
 

13 Sep 
2022 
 

To seek approval to adopt 
the policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

243



Summary Date Action Contact 

Mobility Scooter Policy - Key Decision 

To consider a policy for the use and storage 
of Mobility Scooters in the Council’s 
housing stock. 
 

13 Sep 
2022 
 

To approve a policy for the 
use and storage of Mobility 
Scooters in the Council's 
housing stock. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Corporate Asset Management Strategy - Key Decision 

To consider a draft strategy defining the 
Council’s approach of the management of 
corporate property assets. 
 

13 Sep 
2022 
 

To approve the strategy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North - SPD 

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation. 
 

13 Sep 
2022 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation. 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Director of Growth & Culture 
E-mail: 
nicola.mccoy_brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

HRA Business Plan and Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

18 Oct 
2022 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

244


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 UK Shared Prosperity Fund
	Appendix A_UKSPF Selection Sheet_30 June 2022
	Appendix B_UKSPF Growth Hub Business Support Framework Model 2

	5 Housing Allocations Policy
	Appendix 1 – Draft SKDC Housing Allocations Policy June 2022.
	Appendix 2 – Consultation responses.
	Appendix 3 - Allocations Policy Timeline of Implementation
	Appendix 4 – Equality Impact Assessment

	6 Turnpike Close Site Remediation works
	APPENDIX 1 - SITE PLAN

	7 Policy for the Provision of Litter Bins
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	8 Grantham High Street Heritage Action Zone Scheme
	Appendix Westgate Hall funding proposal

	9 Outturn Position Report 2021/22
	Outturn report - Appendix A - 2021-22 General Fund Revenue Summary
	Outturn report - Appendix B - 2021-22 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis
	Outturn report - Appendix C - 2021-22 General Fund Capital Programme Summary
	Outturn report - Appendix D - 2021-22 Budget Carry Forwards General Fund
	Outturn report - Appendix E - 2021-22 Reserves - General Fund
	Outturn report - Appendix F - 2021-22 Housing Revenue Account Summary
	Outturn report - Appendix G - 2021-22 HRA Capital Programme Summary
	Outturn report - Appendix H - 2021-22 Budget Carry Forwards - HRA
	Outturn report - Appendix I - 2021-22 Reserves - HRA

	10 The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (vehicle age at first licence)
	Appendix 1

	11 Grounds Maintenance Options Appraisal
	Appendix A_Overview of current and proposed standards

	12 Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers
	RR 13.06.22 Decision Notice
	Draft Heads of Terms - Stamford Museum Exempt
	RR 15.06.22 Decision Notice Harrowby Playingfields
	Heads of Terms Harrowby Lane Playing Field Exempt
	RTB 21.06.22 Aveland Group Funding
	RR 27.06.22 SEA land
	RTB 29.06.2022 Play Equip Rec Rd

	13 Cabinet's Forward Plan
	Forward Plan July 2022


